

China Evergrande Group 中國恒大集團

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) Stock Code: 3333

# ANNUAL REPORT 2021





# CONTENTS

- **D2** Board of Directors and Committees
- **03** Corporate Information
- **06** Report of Chairman
  - 06 Business review
  - 07 Business outlook
- **OB** Management Discussion and Analysis
- 12 Directors and Administrative Structure
- 15 Corporate Governance Report
- 29 Report of the Board of Directors
- 41 Independent Auditor's Report
- 44 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
- 46 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
- 48 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
- 50 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
- 52 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
- 183 Five Years Financial Summary



......

# BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND COMMITTEES

# CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Professor Hui Ka Yan

## **EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS**

Professor Hui Ka Yan

Mr. Siu Shawn

Mr. Shi Junping

Mr. Liu Zhen

Mr. Qian Cheng

## **NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR**

Mr. Liang Senlin

# INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David

Mr. He Qi

Ms. Xie Hongxi

## **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David (Chairman)

Mr. He Qi

Ms. Xie Hongxi

## **REMUNERATION COMMITTEE**

Mr. He Qi *(Chairman)* Professor Hui Ka Yan Ms. Xie Hongxi

## **NOMINATION COMMITTEE**

Professor Hui Ka Yan (Chairman)

Mr. He Qi

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David

## **AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES**

Professor Hui Ka Yan Mr. Fong Kar Chun, Jimmy

# **CORPORATE INFORMATION**

## **HEAD OFFICE**

No. 78 Huangpu Avenue West Tianhe District, Guangzhou Guangdong Province The PRC

Postal code: 510620

## PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

15/F, YF Life Centre 38 Gloucester Road, Wanchai Hong Kong

## **WEBSITE**

www.evergrande.com

## **COMPANY SECRETARY**

Mr. Fong Kar Chun, Jimmy Hong Kong solicitor

## **AUDITOR**

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited

## **STOCK CODE**

HKEX: 3333

## **INVESTOR RELATIONS**

For enquiries, please contract: Investor Relations Department Email: evergrandelR@evergrande.com Telephone: (852) 2287 9229





# REPORT OF CHAIRMAN

## **BUSINESS REVIEW**

China's real estate market ushered in dramatic changes in 2021, following the continuous improvement and upgrading of regulatory policies, the situation of property market overheat slowed down, which also set up higher standards for the development of real estate enterprises.

The Company firmly pushed forward its established strategy of reduced leverage in the first half of the Year, reducing its interest-bearing liabilities by approximately RMB300 billion from the end of March 2020 to the end of June 2021. During the process, the Company experienced increasing capital pressure and suffered from a short sale at the end of May, causing market panics, in which a large number of financial institutions ceased to lend and cut off loans.

Starting from July, the Company became short of cash flow and fell into a difficult situation. However, the Company actively assumed its primary responsibility for corporate self-help and try every means to resume operation and get out of the dilemma: firstly, it strived to promote the resumption of work and production and ensure the delivery of properties with full efforts, to seek the understanding and support of partners from various regions as well as from upstream and downstream; secondly, it disposed more assets in order to optimize capital utilization; thirdly, it streamlined its

organisation, optimized the personnel and salary structure to further reduce costs; fourthly, it actively communicated with domestic and overseas creditors, and engaged financial advisers to evaluate the Company's situation and to discover the optimal overall debt solutions for all the stakeholders.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's total liabilities amounted to RMB2,580.15 billion. The size of liabilities after excluding contractual liabilities of RMB974.35 billion therein was RMB1,605.80 billion, representing a decrease of RMB159.18 billion from the size of liabilities after excluding contractual liabilities of RMB1,764.98 billion at the end of 2020.

#### **Land Reserves**

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had land reserves of 260 million square meters.

In addition, the Group was also involved in 93 urban redevelopment projects, including 66 in the Greater Bay Area (39 in Shenzhen), and 27 in other cities.

A huge high quality land reserves represents a solid foundation for the Group to ensure the delivery of buildings, gradually pay off its debts and resume normal business operation.



## REPORT OF CHAIRMAN





### **Contracted Sales**

In 2021, the Group achieved contracted sales of RMB372.9 billion, and gross floor area of contracted sales of 52.02 million square meters. Accumulated cash collection for the Year amounted to RMB387.6 billion.

During the Year, the Group launched 70 new projects in cities including Beijing, Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Tianjin, Chongqing, Chengdu, Wuhan, Kunming, Guizhou, Changsha, Shenyang, Fuzhou, Urumqi, Huizhou, Wenzhou and Linyi. As of 31 December 2021, the total number of the projects for sale accumulated to 1,241, including those being completed to under construction.

#### **Evergrande Auto:**

The specific development strategy is planned and operated by Evergrande Auto (00708.HK), a separately listed company.

### **Evergrande Property Services:**

The specific development strategy is planned and operated by Evergrande Property Services (06666.HK), a separately listed company.

## **BUSINESS OUTLOOK**

Looking ahead, the Company will continue to actively assume its primary responsibility for corporate self-help, make best effort to resume work and production and ensure the delivery of properties, resume sales and operation as soon as possible, and strive to step out of the operation difficulties. The Company will, simultaneously, actively communicate and cooperate closely with domestic and foreign creditors with the utmost sincerity and the most positive attitude, and actively cooperate with the advisors of the creditors to carry out due diligence on the Company, so as to resolve the overall debt problem of the Company fairly and in coordination in accordance with the law and regulations, and thereby resolving the risks gradually.

By Order of the Board China Evergrande Group Hui Ka Yan Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 July 2023

## I. DEBT PROFILE

Total liabilities in financial statement for 2021 amounted to RMB2,580.15 billion, of which liabilities, net of contract liabilities of RMB974.35 billion, amounted to RMB1,605.8 billion, representing a decrease of RMB159.18 billion year-on-year as compared to liabilities, net of contract liabilities, of RMB1,764.98 billion in 2020.

## (1) Borrowings

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's borrowings amounted to RMB607.38 billion, representing a decrease of RMB109.15 billion as compared to borrowings of RMB716.53 billion in 2020.

A portion of the borrowings were secured by a pledge of properties and equipment, land use rights, investment properties, properties under development, completed properties held for sale and cash at bank of the Group, as well as the equity interests of certain subsidiaries of the Group. As at 31 December 2021, the average interest rate of borrowings was 8.38% per annum (31 December 2020: 9.49%).

### (2) Trade and Other Payables

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's trade and other payables amounted to RMB893.34 billion, representing an increase of RMB64.17 billion as compared to the same period in 2020. These include construction material payables of RMB585.01 billion and other payables of RMB308.33 billion.

## (3) Other Liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's other liabilities amounted to RMB105.09 billion.

# II. OPERATING LOSS FOR THE YEAR

#### Revenue

The Group's revenue for the Year amounted to RMB250.01 billion. In particular, properties of 770 projects were delivered and the revenue from property development business amounted to RMB226.15 billion.

#### **Gross Loss**

The Group's gross loss for the Year was RMB18.45 billion. The gross loss for the Year was mainly due to the carry-over of a large number of promotional inventories, resulting in a decrease in gross profit. The gross margin for the Year was -7.4%.

## **Selling and Marketing Costs**

During the Year, the Group's selling and marketing costs were RMB31.95 billion. In response to the deteriorating market conditions, the Group stepped up promotional efforts in order to promote contracted sales. Therefore, despite the decrease in contracted sales amount, the related expenses did not change significantly as compared to last year.

### **Administrative Expenses**

During the Year, the Group's administrative expenses decreased from RMB21.06 billion in 2020 to RMB16.53 billion, representing a decrease of 21.5%. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in business volume during the year.

## **Finance Costs**

The Group's finance costs for the Year amounted to RMB41.62 billion.

## Other Operating Expenses

The Group's other losses, net for the Year amounted to RMB7.49 billion.

#### Other Incomes

Other income for the Year amounted to RMB2.29 billion, which was mainly attributable to the interest income, forfeited customer deposits and management and consulting service income.

## **Operating Losses**

In conclusion, operating losses for the Year was RMB113.75 billion.

# III. NON-OPERATING LOSSES FOR THE YEAR

# Impairment of completed properties held for sale and properties under development

Provision for impairment of inventories during the Year amounted to RMB373.68 billion, which was mainly due to the generally unfavorable market conditions. The Group will update its value of inventories on a regular basis and believes that the corresponding value may rebound if market conditions improve.

## Fair Value Gain on Investment Properties, net

Fair value loss on the Group's investment properties during the Year amounted to RMB31.27 billion. The Group's investment properties mainly comprised commercial podiums and offices in living communities with a total gross floor area of approximately 4.653 million square meters and approximately 194,000 car parking spaces.

## Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

During the Year, impairment of financial assets amounted to RMB50.38 billion, which was mainly due to the Group's provision for other receivables and prepayments to associates, joint ventures and third parties.

#### Other Losses

Other losses for the Year amounted to RMB129.83 billion, which was due to losses related to return of lands, losses on investments in associates and joint ventures and other losses.

## IV. FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group's business is principally conducted in Renminbi. A significant portion of residential and investment properties are located in Mainland China. There are 25.3% of borrowings denominated in US dollar and HK dollar.

The Group estimates the Renminbi exchange rate to continue its two-way volatility as the Renminbi exchange mechanism becomes more market-oriented. During the Year, the RMB appreciated against the US dollar and HK dollar. During the Year, the Group recorded an exchange gain of RMB1.19 billion. However, there is still uncertainty on the actual exchange losses or gains relating to the above borrowings in foreign currencies, when they were repaid on due dates.

The Group will closely monitor its exchange risk exposure and will adjust its debt portfolio when necessary according to market conditions. The Group has not entered into any forward exchange contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk.

# V. LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash of RMB28.78 billion. In addition, cash amounting to RMB31.32 billion has been placed under the centralised supervision of designated accounts and included in other receivables.

## VI. OTHERS

# Pledge guarantee of Evergrande Property Services

As disclosed in the announcements of the Company and Evergrande Property Services, a subsidiary of the Company, dated 21 March 2022 and 15 February 2023, during the period from 28 December 2020 to 2 August 2021, six subsidiaries of the Company provided pledge on bank deposits of RMB13,400,000,000 through eight banks for the financing of various third party companies (as the guaranteed parties). The relevant funds of RMB13,400,000,000 were subsequently transferred back to the Group through some of the pledged parties and various intermediary companies (net of fees).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the bank enforced the guarantee obligations due to defaults by the third party borrowers, and accordingly deducted the RMB13.4 billion deposit pledges. While the funds were routed through various intermediaries before being transferred back, the Group has determined that the source of these funds was ultimately from Evergrande Property Services.

Accordingly, the incoming funds have been recognised as an intragroup transaction in the consolidated financial statements and eliminated on consolidation, instead of being reflected as third party transactions. This accounting treatment appropriately reflects the substance of the transactions, as the funds originated from a subsidiary within the Group.

## SIGNIFICANT LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2021, the number of pending litigation cases of the Company with a subject amount of RMB30 million or more totalled 400 cases, with an amount involved of approximately RMB115.554 billion in aggregate.

## **CONTINGENT LIABILITY**

Up to the date of this report, various parties have filed litigation against the Group for the settlement of unpaid borrowings, outstanding construction and daily operations payables, delayed delivery of several projects and other matters. The Directors have assessed the impact of the above litigation matters on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and accrued provision on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group is also actively communicating with relevant creditors and seeking various ways to resolve these litigations. The Directors consider that such litigation, individually or jointly, will not have significant adverse effects on the operating performance, cash flow and financial condition of the Group at the current stage. As at 31 December 2021, the Group had material contingent liabilities of approximately RMB9.24 billion (year ended 31 December 2020: none).

## SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

### Disposal of Shares in New Gain

On 28 March 2021, the Company, Alpha Beauty Limited ("Alpha Beauty", a subsidiary wholly-owned by the Company) and New Gains Group Limited ("New Gain", another subsidiary of the Company) entered into an agreement (the "Investment Agreement") with the investors, pursuant to which New Gain agreed to allot and issue 651,380,929 new shares to the investors, and Alpha Beauty agreed to sell 651,380,929 existing New Gain shares to the investors at the total consideration of HK\$16.35 billion (the "New Gain Disposal").

## Placing of Shares in Evergrande Auto

On 13 May 2021, the Group placed 260 million shares of Evergrande Auto at HK\$40.92 per share to the investors for proceeds of approximately HK\$10.6 billion.

## Disposal of Shares in Shengjing Bank

On 28 September 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with 瀋陽盛京金控投資集團有限公司 (Shenyang Shengjing Finance Investment Group Co., Ltd.\*) for the disposal of 1,753,157,895 non-publicly traded domestic shares in Shengjing Bank Co., Ltd. at a consideration of RMB5.70 per share, totalling RMB9,993,000,001.50.

## Disposal of Shares in HengTen Networks

## Sold to Pumpkin Films Limited

On 20 June 2021, Solution Key Holdings Limited ("Solution Key", a subsidiary of the Company) sold 738,771,000 shares in HengTen Networks Group Limited (stock code: 136) ("HengTen Networks") to Pumpkin Films Limited at a market price of HK\$6 per share for a consideration of HK\$4,432,626,000. In July and August 2021, the transferee paid HK\$2,314,200,000 to Solution Key in three installments according to the agreement, while the remaining balance of HK\$1,768,426,000 due on 31 December 2021 has yet to be paid by the transferee.

On 7 October 2022, the Company issued a solicitor's letter to the other party requesting the final payment for the transfer of shares of HengTen Networks be paid as soon as possible, and is preparing for the commencement of legal proceedings.

# II. Sold to Ocean Fund SPC and Water Lily Investment Limited

On 30 July 2021, Solution Key disposed of its shares in HengTen Networks to Ocean Fund SPC and Water Lily Investment Limited, a company of Tencent Group, respectively, as follows:

On 30 July 2021, Solution Key disposed of 369,385,902 shares in HengTen Networks to Ocean Fund SPC at a consideration of HK\$1,182,034,886.4. The counterparty has made an initial payment of HK\$591,017,443.20 equivalent, and the remaining balance of HK\$591,017,443.20 was due for payment by 30 July 2022 as stipulated in the agreement but has not been paid by the counterparty.

The Company has issued a solicitor's letter to Ocean Fund SPC on 7 October 2022 to call for payment, and is preparing for the commencement of legal proceedings.

2. On 30 July 2021, Solution Key disposed of 646,425,329 shares in HengTen Networks to Water Lily Investment Limited, a subsidiary of Tencent Group, at HK\$3.20 per share for a consideration of HK\$2,068,561,052.80. As requested by Tencent at the time of its investment in HengTen Networks, the Company agreed that Water Lily Investment Limited would pay the transfer consideration directly to HengTen Networks as a 5-year interest-free loan by Solution Key to HengTen Networks for supporting the daily operation and development of HengTen Networks.

# III. Sold to United Resources Investment Holdings Limited

On 17 November 2021, Solution Key disposed of 1,662,217,968 shares in HengTen Networks to United Resources Investment Holdings Limited at a consideration of HK\$2,127,638,999.04. Upon completion of the above disposal, Evergrande Group has completely withdrawn from HengTen Networks.

By January 2022, United Resources Investment Holdings Limited has paid the full consideration for the transaction in several installments.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not have other significant investment, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

## **HUMAN RESOURCES**

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had a total of 121,368 employees (including 6,286 employees of Evergrande Auto (708.HK) and 73,381 employees of Evergrande Property Services (6666.HK)), of whom approximately 90% were graduates with bachelor's degree or above in property development or construction.

The Group firmly believes that talent is the most important corporate resource and always adheres to a people-oriented human resources development strategy. For the year ended 31 December 2021, total staff costs (including directors' emoluments) of the Group were approximately RMB14.07 billion (for the year ended 31 December 2020: approximately RMB29.02 billion).

# DIRECTORS AND ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE

## **EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR**

Hui Ka Yan (許家印), aged 64, Chairman of the Board of the Group, Chairman of the real estate group. Professor Hui is responsible for organizing the overall development strategies of the Group. He has over 36 years of experience in real estate investment, property development and corporate management. Professor Hui is the vice president of China Enterprise Confederation and China Enterprise Directors Associations and was a member of the 11th National Committee of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference, a member of the standing committee of the 12th and 13th National Committee, vice-chairmen of B20 China Business Council, vice president of APEC China Business Council and also the vice-chairman of the China Real Estate Association. He won "Top 100 Private Entrepreneurs in the 40th Anniversary of China's Reform and Opening-up", "China National Award for Fighting against Poverty", "China National Model Worker", "Excellent Builder for the Socialist Cause with Chinese Characteristics", and other national honors. He graduated from Wuhan University of Science and Technology in 1982. Professor Hui has been a professor in management in Wuhan University of Science and Technology since 2003 and was appointed as doctoral tutor of that university in 2010.

Siu Shawn (肖恩), aged 52, is our executive director and the president of the Group. Mr. Siu is also an executive director and the chairman of the board of China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited (stock code: 00708). Mr. Siu joined us in November 2013 and has served as an executive vice president and executive president of the Company, chairman of Evergrande Tourism Group Company Limited (恒大旅遊集團有限公司) and chairman of Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group. Mr. Siu has over 30 years of extensive experience in corporate management and business operations. Mr. Siu graduated from Beijing Normal University with a Bachelor's degree in Literature and later obtained a Master's degree in Economic Law from Southwest University of Political Science and Law.

Shi Junping (史後平), aged 39, our executive Director and executive vice president of the Group as well as the chairman of Fangchebao Group (房車寶集團) and is responsible for management of capital financing and of Fangchebao Group. Mr. Shi has over 17 years of experience in management for property development and brand image strategic operations for multiple industries, including real estate and finance. Mr. Shi joined the Group in 2006, and has a bachelor of arts degree and a bachelor of laws degree, and a master's degree in engineering management.

**Liu Zhen (劉振)**, aged 36, is our Executive Director and the vice president of the Group and is responsible for the Group's legal affairs management and supervisory management. Mr. Liu has nearly 12 years of management experience in property development and operation, investment, capital operation and legal affairs. Mr. Liu joined us in July 2011 and has served as the chairman of Evergrande Real Estate Group Xinjiang Company and the vice president of China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited. Mr. Liu graduated from Sun Yat-sen University in July 2011 with a bachelor's degree.

Qian Cheng (錢程), aged 36, is our Executive Director, chief financial officer and vice president of the Group, responsible for financial management. Mr. Qian joined us in July 2008, and has 15 years of experience in financial management. He has served in various financial management position. Mr. Qian graduated from Jilin University with a bachelor's degree in accounting in July 2008.

## DIRECTORS AND ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE

## **NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR**

Liang Senlin (梁森林), aged 58, has over 30 years of experience in banking and assets management. Mr. Liang joined China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd. in 2018 and has been the chairman of China Cinda (HK) Holdings Company Limited ("Cinda HK") since May 2019. Cinda HK is a wholly owned subsidiary of China Cinda Asset Management Co., Ltd., and is principally engaged in domestic and foreign non-performing assets investment, equity investment, mezzanine investments, debt investments and securities investments, medium and long-term bonds issuance, high quality assets and structured fixed income products and cross-border financial services. Mr. Liang worked with China Orient Asset Management Co. Ltd. between 2000 and 2018 and held various senior management positions in investment management and risk management. Between 1990 and 2000, Mr. Liang held various management positions with Bank of China Shaanxi Branch. Mr. Liang is currently the deputy chairman of Chinese Financial Association of Hong Kong.

Mr. Liang graduated from Zhejiang University with a bachelor's degree and obtained a master's degree in technology economics from the Xi'an Jiaotong University.

Mr. Liang did not hold any other directorships in any other listed companies in the past three years.

## INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chau Shing Yim, David (周承炎), aged 59, has over 30 years of experience in corporate finance and was formerly a partner of one of the big four accounting firms, Mr. Chau was a key member who found their corporate finance division and held the position as their Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. Mr. Chau is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales ("ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate Finance Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and was an ex-committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau is a Senior Fellow and an ex-director of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and the ex-chairman of China Committee and Corporate Committee. Mr. Chau is the member of Pamela Youde Nethersole Eastern Hospital ("PYNEH") Fund Raising Committee and also ex-member of Hospital Governing Committee and PYNEH Charitable Trust.

Mr. Chau is currently an independent non-executive director and audit committee chairman of BC Technology Group Limited (stock code: 863), China Evergrande Group (stock code: 3333), China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited (stock code: 708), China Ruyi Holdings Limited (stock code: 136), Productive Technologies Company Limited (stock code: 650), Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (stock code: 2314) and Man Wah Holdings Limited (stock code: 1999). All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

He Qi (何琦), aged 65, is our independent non-executive director. Mr. He was elected an independent non-executive director on 14 October 2009. Mr. He is the secretary of Circulation and Leasing Committee of China Real Estate Association. He worked in the State Infrastructure Commission of the State City Construction General Bureau from 1981 to 1994. He was an executive of the Development Center of the China Real Estate Association from 1995 to 1999, and an executive deputy mayor of Ji'an City of Jiangxi Province from 1999 to 2001. Mr. He is an independent non-executive director of China Merchants Land Limited and Orient Victory Travel Group Company Limited. Both companies are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong.

## DIRECTORS AND ADMINISTRATIVE STRUCTURE

Xie Hongxi (謝紅希), aged 64, is our independent non-executive director. Ms. Xie is currently the deputy director, senior engineer and master degree instructor at the Engineering Training and National Experiment, Education and Demonstration Center of South China University of Technology. From 1982 to 2002, she worked at the Guangzhou Non-ferrous Metal Research Institute, chaired or participated in a number of major research projects, and was previously awarded the National Science and Technology Progress Award and the Science and Technology Achievement Award. Since 2002, she has been teaching at the South China University of Technology, engaging in operations management, teaching experimental studies at the undergraduate level and conducting research in the direction of metal surface technology. She has won provincial level awards, the university teaching achievement award and the outstanding teaching award.

#### SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

Liang Weikang (梁偉康), aged 54, is our executive vice president and is responsible for the Group's resumption of construction and tasks to ensure the delivery of properties and the management of project development and construction, bidding and budgeting. He has served as the chairman of Evergrande Real Estate Group Shenyang Company and executive vice president of Evergrande Real Estate Group. Mr. Liang has over 31 years of experience in engineering project construction and management and holds a bachelor's degree in civil engineering structure and a master's degree in project management.

**Tan Zhaohui (**談朝暉), aged 55, is our executive vice president and has served as the chairman of Evergrande Real Estate Group Jinan Company, the chairman of Evergrande Health Group and the vice president of Evergrande Group. Ms. Tan has nearly 34 years of experience in capital operations, project development and operations management. She holds a bachelor's degree in engineering and civil engineering.

**Liu Xuefei (**劉雪飛**)**, aged 47, is our vice president and is responsible for marketing management and after-sales service management of the Group's real estate projects. Ms. Liu has nearly 26 years of experience in marketing planning and management. She holds a master's degree in business administration from Sun Yat-sen University.

**Li Siquan (李四泉)**, aged 39, is our vice president and chairman of Evergrande Real Estate Group Inner Mongolia Company and is responsible for the Group's investment and co-operation management, commercial management and the management of Evergrande Real Estate Group Inner Mongolia Company. Mr. Li has nearly 17 years of experience in project investment, development and construction and operation management and holds a bachelor's degree in engineering management and a master's degree in project management.

Huang Xiangui (黃賢貴), aged 52, is our vice president and general manager of Hong Kong Company, responsible for management of Hong Kong affairs. Mr. Huang has nearly 27 years of experience in capital operation and investment management and graduated from Harbin Engineering University and the University of Stirling and obtained a bachelor degree in chemical engineering and a master degree of science in banking and finance respectively.

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high corporate governance standards consistently to the enhancement on corporate performance and accountability. The board (the "Board") of directors (the "Director(s)") of the Company is committed to abide by principles of good corporate governance to meet legal and commercial standards and requirements, focusing on areas such as internal control, risk management, fair disclosure and accountability to the shareholders of the Company, except for the following deviation from the Corporate Governance Code.

According to code provision F.2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code, the chairman of the Board should attend the annual general meeting of the Company. Professor Hui Ka Yan, the chairman of the Board, did not attend the annual general meeting held on 11 June 2021 due to his other business commitment. Mr. Huang Xiangui, the then executive Director, acted as the chairman of the annual general meeting.

Save for the above deviation, the Directors are of the view that the Company has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate Governance Code ("Corporate Governance Code") set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, and has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code during the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company and considers them effective and adequate.

## **BOARD OF DIRECTORS**

## Composition of the Board

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of issue of this annual report, the Board of the Company comprises the following executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.

## **Executive Directors**

Professor Hui Ka Yan

Mr. Siu Shawn (appointed on 23 January 2022)

Mr. Shi Junping

Mr. Liu Zhen (appointed on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Qian Cheng (appointed on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Xia Haijun (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Pan Darong (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Lai Lixin (resigned on 23 January 2022)

Mr. Huang Xiangui (resigned on 23 January 2022)

## **Non-Executive Directors**

Mr. Liang Senlin (appointed on 23 January 2022)

## **Independent Non-Executive Directors**

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David

Mr. He Qi

Ms. Xie Hongxi

Biographical details of the current members of the Board are set out on page 12 to page 14 of this annual report. Save for being members of the Board, each of the Directors is independent and not related to one another.

As at the date of this annual report, each of the executive Directors and the non-executive Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for a period of three years until terminated by not less than three months' notice in writing served by either party on the other. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year. The appointments are subject to the provisions of retirement by rotation of Directors under the articles of association of the Company (the "Articles"). In accordance with the Articles, at every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

## CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

## Independence

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. Directors may seek independent professional advice, at the Company's expense, where appropriate, upon reasonable request. The Board and individual Directors should have their own access to the senior management of the Company to access information and make enquiries about the Company. The Board shall review the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on annual basis. The Board has completed the evaluation for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Board considered that the implementation of the mechanism was effective.

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Company had at least three independent non-executive Directors. Amongst the independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom had appropriate financial management expertise.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board was satisfied with the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

#### **Roles and Duties**

The Board is in charge of formulating strategic business development, reviewing and monitoring the business performance of the Group, approving major funds allocation and investment proposals as well as preparing and approving the financial statements of the Group. The Board also gives clear instructions on the authority delegated to the management in relation to the administration and management of the Group.

Under code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer ("CEO") of a listed company should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual. The Company was in compliance with code provision C.2.1 during the period under review. As at the date of this annual report, Professor Hui Ka Yan is the chairman and Mr. Siu Shawn is the CEO of the Company.

The Board is responsible for the internal control of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Company has procedures in place for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use or publications and the compliance with applicable laws and regulations. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Directors reviewed the overall effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the Group. An internal audit department has been established to perform regular financial and operational reviews and conduct audit and risk management assessment on the Company and its subsidiaries. The work carried out by the internal audit department will ensure the internal controls and risk management systems are in place and function properly as planned.

The external auditors will report to the Company on the weakness in the Group's internal control and accounting procedures which have come to their attention during the course of their audit work.

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance duties: (a) to formulate and review the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board; (b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management; (c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (d) to formulate, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; and (e) to review the Company's compliance with the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules and disclosures in the Company.

The Board may delegate the corporate governance duties to a committee of the Board. The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may participate in the meetings either in person, by proxy, or by means of electronic communications.

14 board meetings were convened by the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021. At least 14 days' notice before the date of the meeting is given for a regular Board meeting to allow all Directors to make arrangements to attend. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notices were also given.

Number of meetings attended/

The attendance of individual Directors at the Board meetings and general meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

	Number of meetings attended/					
	Number of meetings held					
	Annual	Extraordinary				
	General	General				
Director	Meeting	Meeting	Board Meeting			
Professor Hui Ka Yan	0/1	0/1	4/14			
Dr. Xia Haijun	0/1	0/1	6/14			
Mr. Shi Junping	0/1	0/1	12/14			
Mr. Pan Darong	0/1	0/1	14/14			
Mr. Huang Xiangui	1/1	1/1	14/14			
Mr. Lai Lixin	0/1	0/1	14/14			
Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David	1/1	1/1	14/14			
Mr. He Qi	0/1	0/1	14/14			
Ms. Xie Hongxi	0/1	0/1	14/14			

#### Committees of the Board

The Company has set up the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee in respect of the Board.

## **Directors' Training**

During the year under review, all of the Directors of the Company have attended continuous professional development training sessions in compliance with Code Provision C.1.4 of the Corporate Governance Code.

The company secretary of the Company has also complied with the 15 hours training requirements under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

## **AUDIT COMMITTEE**

The audit committee comprised three members, namely Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David, chairman of the committee, Mr. He Qi and Ms. Xie Hongxi, who were all independent non executive Directors. The audit committee adopted the written terms of reference which were basically the same as those set forth in the code provision D.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code. The audit committee is principally responsible for the following duties, *inter alia*:

- to provide recommendations on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditors to the Board, approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors and handle any issues related to the resignation or dismissal of the auditors;
- to review and monitor whether the external auditors are independent and objective and whether the audit procedures are effective in accordance with applicable standards;

## CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

- to formulate and implement policies for the engagement of external auditors for the provision of non-audit services;
- to monitor the integrity of the financial statements, the annual reports and accounts and the interim reports of the Company, and review the material financial reporting judgements therein;
- to review the financial control, internal control and risk management systems of the Company;
- to discuss the internal control and risk management systems with the management and to ensure that the management has discharged its duties of setting up an effective internal control and risk management system;
- to review the financial and accounting policies and practices of the Group; and
- to review the external auditors' letter to the management, any material queries that the auditors made to the management in respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control as well as the management's response.

2 meetings of the audit committee were held during the year, to review the Group's 2020 annual results and 2021 interim results and all the committee members attended those 2 meetings. On 26 January 2023, PricewaterhouseCoopers ("PwC") has resigned as the Company's auditor at the recommendation of the Board and the audit committee. The audit committee has recommended the Board in relation to the appointment of Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited ("Prism") as the Company's external auditor for the financial year ending 31 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the emolument of the external auditor of the Company for the annual audit and review of interim financial statements amounted to RMB37 million. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the emolument of the external auditor of the company for non-audit services amounted to RMB4 million.

## **REMUNERATION COMMITTEE**

The remuneration committee's terms of reference were basically the same as those set forth in code provision E.1.2 of the Corporate Governance Code. The majority of the members of the remuneration committee were independent non-executive Directors. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the members of the remuneration committee included Professor Hui Ka Yan, Mr. He Qi (chairman of the remuneration committee) and Ms. Xie Hongxi.

The remuneration committee is principally responsible for the following duties:

- to make recommendations and suggestions to the Board in respect of the remuneration policy and structure of the Directors and senior management of the Company and the establishment of formal and transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy;
- to determine the specific remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior management;
- to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time to time;
- to review and approve payments to the executive Directors regarding compensation for their loss or termination of office or appointment, to ensure relevant terms of the contracts, and that the compensation is fair and not excessive for the Company;
- to review and approve the compensation arrangements involved in the termination or dismissal of Directors due to misconduct, to ensure that those arrangements are determined according to the relevant terms of the contracts, and that the compensation is reasonable and appropriate; and
- to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

No meeting was convened by the remuneration committee for the year ended 31 December 2021.

# RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

## **Duties of the Board and the Management**

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal controls system and has the responsibility to review the effectiveness of the system. The Board is responsible for assessing and determining the nature and extent of the risks that the Group is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives, and monitoring the establishment and maintenances of appropriate and effective risk management and internal controls system. The management is responsible for designing and maintaining an effective risk management and internal control system as well as providing confirmations to the Board on the effectiveness of the system.

Sound risk management and internal controls systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that there will be no material misstatements or losses.

## Risk Management

## Enhancement in risk management system and structure

Based on the latest group organizational structure and measures in the previous year, China Evergrande Group continued to improve the risk management system structure at the group level to guide the risk assessment activities of various segments and ongoing risk monitoring activities through the following measures:

• Reiterated the risk management organizational structure — An organizational structure with the Audit Committee of China Evergrande Group as the decision-maker, the leading officers groups and management of various business segments of the Company as the execution unit, has been established to divide risk management responsibilities and set out clear responsibilities for risk management and the risk information reporting line.

The Company adopts a risk management system which manages the risk associated with its strategic, financial, operations, compliance and significant environmental, social and governance ("ESG") issues. The system comprises the following phases:

- Phase 1 Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives
- Phase 2 Analyze the likelihood and impact of risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly
- Phase 3 Consider the risk responses and ensure effective communication to the Board
- Phase 4 On-going monitor the residual risks

## CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Major roles and responsibilities under the risk management system are set out below:

Role	Major Responsibility
The Board (the decision-making party)	<ul> <li>Evaluates and determines the nature and acceptable extent of risks so as to ensure that the strategic objectives can be achieved;</li> <li>Ensures the establishment and maintenance of effective risk management and internal control system;</li> <li>Supervises the management in designing, implementing and supervising the risk management and internal control system;</li> </ul>
The Audit Committee (the decision-making party)	<ul> <li>Reviews the structure of risk management and monitors its effectiveness on a continuous basis, and reviews the fundamental risk management system;</li> <li>Supervises the management in designing, implementing and supervising the risk management and internal control system;</li> <li>Monitors the frequency of the occurrence of material control default or discovery of material control weakness, and the extent to which they have resulted in unforeseen and emergent outcomes or contingencies that have had, may have or may in the future have, a material impact on the Company's financial performance or condition;</li> </ul>
Senior management of the Group (the leader)	<ul> <li>Facilitates the establishment of risk management system, and reviews the policy and mechanism in relation to the risk management on regular basis;</li> <li>Designs, implements and supervises the risk management of the Group, reports matters in relation to risk management to the Audit Committee on a regular basis, and reports and discloses significant risk information to the Audit Committee;</li> <li>Confirms to the Audit Committee on whether the risk management system is effective or not;</li> </ul>
Management of the Group's headquarters and the management of the segments under the Group (the execution party)	<ul> <li>Updates the risk exposure list of operations on a regular basis, and conducts relevant works such as risk identification and evaluation;</li> <li>Formulates and implements risk response plan for operations;</li> <li>Responsible for the execution and implementation of specific risk management measures;</li> <li>Monitors and controls various risk exposures in operations, and timely reports risk information to the coordinator and management of risk management matters;</li> </ul>

Coordinator of risk management matters

- Organizes the commencement of risk identification and evaluation works;
- Organizes the preparation of regular risk evaluation reports and submits the results to the management of risk management matters;
- Organizes and coordinates risk management training and guidance;

Conducts other works in relation to risk management;

Internal audit function

 Acts as risk management supervisory institution, responsible for supervising and evaluating the risk management works conducted by the Group and its business segments.

- the Year, based on the changes in the internal and external environment, the Group updated the risk assessment criteria applicable to each business segment according to the nature, business characteristics and strategic objectives of the Group and various activities of the business segments and the risk appetite of the management. The risks that are most likely to affect the achievement of the objectives have also been assessed using commonly recognized assessment methods and assessment criteria.
- Refined and standardized the work flow for risk management work - Based on the business operations, the Group continuously monitors and manages risk exposures through the risk management procedures (for details, please refer to Figure 1: Risk Management Procedures set out below), with major steps including identification, evaluation, response, operating goals of the Group and different business segments, the Group identifies risk factors affecting the achievement of such operating goals. The Group also evaluates possible and potential impacts of each specific risk, adopts specific measures in response to identified risk exposures, and continuously supervises and evaluates changes in risk exposure and timely adjusting response measures. During the Year, the Group reviewed, adjusted and improved the risk management procedures to improve the efficiency and standardization of its operations.
- Frequency of risk management review is refined and reiterated — The frequency of evaluation and report on risk management of the Group has been refined and reiterated (at least once for every year). The aforesaid key elements standardized the format and frequency of report through the Risk Management Manual of China Evergrande Group.



(Figure 1: Risk Management Procedures)

# 2. Risk Evaluation Conducted by Various Segments of China Evergrande Group in 2021

In addition to the above risk management framework at the group level, the management of the Group also engaged external advisors to assist in the continuous maintenance and improvement of the risk management system of two major segments, namely real estate segment and insurance segment, in 2021, details of which include the following:

## Follow up on the implementation of risk management improvement measures of various important segments from last year's risk assessment

During the Year, the management of the Group followed up on the implementation of the risk management improvement measures identified in prior year's risk assessment, as well as establishing a continuous risk management cycle which contains the process of "Risk assessment — Implementation the of the risk management procedures — Follow-up of the implementation of risk management measures — Risk management system ongoing monitoring" in order to ensure that the any risk management gaps are rectified and the ability to prevent and cope with risks is strengthened (for details, please refer to Figure 2: Risk assessment and management model).



(Figure 2: Management and Control Mode for Risk Management)

## Conduct a comprehensive review of risk management system of various important segments in 2021

The management of various segments updated the risk assessment standards and risk database based on the external market environment. changes in the internal operation environment, business development and risk preferences. In addition, it adopted a systematic risk assessment method to review the changes in the nature and degree of the material risks facing its business segments, identified the material risks facing its business segments, analyzed the status of risk management and control and countermeasures to be adopted and key risk management strategies, and reported the risk assessment results to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee reviewed and assessed the changes in the nature and degree of material risks on behalf of the Board, and completed the review of the risk management systems and considered the risk management systems is effective and sufficient.

### Internal Control

## 1. Enhancement of the Internal Control Framework

China Evergrande Group has established its own internal control system by making reference to the internal control framework of the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) (please refer to figure 3: COSO Internal Control — Integrated Framework). The Group's risk management system consists of five interdependent elements, which coordinates with each other and operate to ensure the effectiveness of internal control functions of the Group. The five elements are: control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information and communication and monitoring activities.



(Figure 3: COSO Internal Control — Integrated Framework)

The internal control system of China Evergrande Group, as an integral part of its risk management, is established based on the risks facing the Group. The management at the headquarters of the Group, its business segments and other departments have designed and implemented a series of policies and procedures in view of the process relating to finance, operation and compliance, and monitors the implementation of these policies and procedures and their effectiveness.

#### 2. Internal Audit

China Evergrande Group has in place internal audit functions. The management has developed measures for improvement in view of the vulnerabilities and weaknesses identified during the internal controls review, which are followed up on by the Supervision Department on a regular basis to ensure the timely implementation of the relevant measures for improvement.

# Review of Risk Management and Internal Control System

The Board of China Evergrande Group had conducted a comprehensive review of the risk management and internal control system of the Group through the Audit Committee. Major works included the continuous implementation of the results of risk evaluation and internal control review in the prior year, as well as the commencement of various material risk evaluations for the Year and internal control review of key operating procedures. The period under review covered the accounting year of 2021. The scope of review covered the Group and major business segments, primarily focuses on review of controls over all major aspects, including financial control, operating control and compliance control. Such review had considered the changes in the nature and severity level of material risks and the capability of the Group in handling business and external environment changes. Although effective risk management and internal control measures were in place, the Board admitted the existence of certain internal control deficiencies found in independent investigations and has implemented rectification arrangements.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the resources, staff qualifications and experience of the Company on accounting, risk management, internal audit and financial reporting functions as well as its staff training programs and budget and confirmed the adequacy of the same.

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 21 March 2022, 29 March 2022, 22 July 2022 and 15 February 2023 regarding the enforcement of the deposits pledge of Evergrande Property Services (a subsidiary of the Company) of approximately RMB13.4 billion by the relevant Banks (the "Pledge"). The Board of the Company has established an independent investigation committee (the "Independent Committee") to conduct an independent investigation on the Pledge. The Independent Committee stated in the findings of the independent

investigation that the Pledge reflects the deficiencies in the Group's internal control system. Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 15 February 2023 for a summary of such deficiencies.

In view of the potential internal control problems in the Group, the Independent Committee recommended that:

- (i) The Company should progress the appointment of an internal control adviser to conduct a comprehensive Group-wide internal controls assessment and provide detailed recommendations for internal control enhancements to the Board. The Company should then implement such enhancements recommended by the internal control adviser at the earliest practicable time. The Independent Committee considers that the appointment of an internal control adviser is also necessary for the purpose of supporting the external audit process and preparation of the Company's interim and annual reports for the financial year 2022/23.
- (ii) At the Company level, one of the ways to improve internal control is for the Company to monitor compliance by its subsidiaries with applicable laws and regulations and the Listing Rules through regular reporting of compliance issues, particularly in respect of intended and actual intra-Group transactions involving listed subsidiaries and their respective group companies. The Company and its individual Directors should also take into account the compliance requirements of its listed subsidiaries when making business decisions.
- (iii) As part of the overall internal control improvement, the Company shall re-examine the agreement and practice on the use of personal and company chops to ensure that the requests for use of chop by any entity of the Group (or any listed subsidiary) are independently considered and approved by the authorized approvers or senior management. Without the express approval of any authorized approver, the chop should not be used despite the approval by other persons within the Group (including senior management at the Group level).

- (iv) Authorized approvers responsible for approving transactions should have regard to the relevant facts and circumstances and consider whether the particular transaction is in the Company's best interest. Where there is doubt and potential risk of undue influence from another party (whether within or outside the Group), the matter should be escalated internally to the Board.
- The Company should designate a department to be responsible for monitoring projects and transactions at the Company/Group level for their compliance with the Listing Rules. As the Directors have a collective obligation to ensure Listing Rules compliance, which is a duty that cannot be entirely delegated to other parties, the Board should ensure that mechanisms are in place to enable the Company to readily identify relevant project and transactions that have compliance requirements, so that steps can be properly taken to meet such requirements. The Independent Committee considers this to be a necessary part of introducing a cultural change within the Company and the Group towards a greater focus on regulatory compliance and ensuring that management at all levels of the hierarchy discharge their obligations.
- (vi) The Company should provide additional training to senior managers and other key staff to ensure that they have a firm understanding of their obligations and the obligations of the Group entities. In particular, for listed subsidiaries, the relevant staff must attend training to ensure they are fully aware of all applicable regulatory and Listing Rules requirements so that they are able to take independent steps to ensure compliance. Directors of listed entities within the Group must also be fully aware of their directors' duties and the requirements for compliance with the Listing Rules.
- (vii) Timely complete the settlement of the compensation for the losses of Evergrande Property Services caused by the Banks' enforcement of the Pledge in order to remedy the violations of such arrangement involving Evergrande Property Services.

# FRAMEWORK FOR DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has put in place a framework for the handling and disclosure of inside information in compliance with the SFO. The framework sets out the procedures and internal controls, including but not limited to establishing controls for monitoring business and corporate developments and events so that any potential inside information is promptly identified and escalated, restricting access to inside information to a limited number of employees on a need-to know basis, and ensuring employees who are in possession of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to preserve confidentiality, for the handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely manner so as to allow all the shareholders and stakeholders to assess the latest position of the Group.

### NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee's terms of reference were basically the same as those set forth in code provision B.3.1 of the Corporate Governance Code. The majority of the members of the nomination committee were independent non-executive Directors. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the members of the nomination committee included Professor Hui Ka Yan, chairman of the committee, Mr. He Qi and Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David.

The nomination committee is principally responsible for the following duties:

- to review the structure, size and composition (including skills, diversity, knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis, and make recommendations and suggestions to the Board on any proposed changes;
- to identify individuals with suitable qualifications and diversity to serve as members of the Board, and select and nominate the relevant persons to serve as Directors or make recommendations and suggestions to the Board in this regard;
- to appraise the independence of the independent nonexecutive Directors in accordance with the provisions of applicable laws, regulations and rules; and

 to make recommendations and suggestions to the Board regarding the appointment and re-appointment of Directors by the Company and succession plan for Directors (especially the chairman and CEO, if any, of the Company).

In the nomination of a new Director to the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider potential new candidates openly from time to time having regard to the strategic needs of the Company and the Board. The potential pool of candidates include (but without limitation) local and overseas academia, Hong Kong and overseas listed companies directors, executives and experts in the relevant fields.

The Nomination Committee will consider the candidates based on merit having regard to the experience, skills and expertise as well as the overall board diversity, and make recommendations to the Board as appropriate.

The Board has adopted a "Board Diversity Policy" to ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance. Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company's business model and specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background, industry experience and professional experience. The Board currently consists of nine Directors, of whom one is female and eight are male, aged between 36 and 65. By reference to the qualifications, work experience and background of the Directors, the Board considers that it has achieved diversity in terms of gender, age, educational background, industry experience and professional experience. The Board aims to maintain at least the current proportion of female members. The Company will ensure that gender diversity is taken into account in the recruitment of middle and senior management and that sufficient resources are available to provide appropriate training and functional development to maintain gender diversity in the pipeline of potential successors to the Board. The gender ratio in the Group's workforce as at 31 December 2021 is 39% (female): 61% (male). The Company has been taking, and will continue to take, steps to promote gender diversity across the workforce, with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board has not been made aware of any factor or circumstance that make it more challenging or less relevant for staff, including senior management, to achieve gender diversity.

## CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board and the Nomination Committee review the Board Diversity Policy at least annually to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

No meeting was convened by the nomination committee during the year ended 31 December 2021.

# SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY THE DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the "Model Code") set forth in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for securities transactions conducted by the Directors. The Company, having made detailed and cautious enquiries, confirmed that all Directors have abided by the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2021.

# DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the Group are published in a timely manner.

As disclosed in Note 3(a)(i) to the financial statements, certain conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company have carefully considered the Group's expected cash flow projections not less than 12 months from the date of reporting period and have given due consideration to the matters that give rise to material doubt as to its ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly, have proactively come up with debt solutions to alleviate the liquidity pressure. In their opinion, in view of the plans and measures as disclosed in Note 3(a)(i) to the financial statements, the Group will be able to adequately fund its operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the next 12 months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the Directors consider that the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2021 on a going concern basis is appropriate.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.

#### **DIVIDEND POLICY**

The Company has, since listing, adopted a dividend policy (the Dividend Policy") where the Company would, where the situation allows, declare dividends to shareholders every year and may declare special dividends from time to time. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend amount, the Board will take into consideration the Group's distributable profits generated during the year, the financial situation and liquidity of the Group, the investment needs and the retained profits that should be set aside for future development purposes. While sharing the profit with shareholders, the Company will also maintain sufficient reserves to meet its liabilities and to ensure the implementation of the Group's strategy for future development. The payment of dividend is also subject to any restrictions under the laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the articles of association of the Company and the terms of debt documents.

# AMENDMENTS TO THE COMPANY'S CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has not amended its memorandum of association or its articles of association.

# RELATIONSHIP WITH OUR CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received, from each of Xin Xin (BVI) Limited and Professor Hui Ka Yan, an annual declaration on the compliance with the deed of non-competition (the "Deed") entered into by each of them in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of Xin Xin (BVI) Limited and Professor Hui Ka Yan has unconditionally undertaken to the Company that it/he will not directly or indirectly participate in, hold any right or interest, or otherwise be involved in any business which may compete with that of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and were satisfied that each of Xin Xin (BVI) Limited and Professor Hui Ka Yan has complied with the Deed for the year ended 31 December 2021.

## WHISTLEBLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICIES

The Company is committed to high standard of openness, probity and ethical business practices. A whistleblowing policy and system has been adopted to ensure employees and those who deal with the company (e.g. customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to the Company. The identity of the whistleblower will be treated with the strictest confidential.

The Company also takes a zero-tolerance approach towards all forms of bribery and corruption and is committed to observing and upholding high standards of business integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality and transparency in all its business dealings at all times. The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy, with a view to promoting and reinforcing compliance with anti-corruption laws and regulations.

### SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM") (including the right of making proposals/moving resolutions at the EGM).

Any two or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the general meetings of the Company (the "Eligible Shareholder(s)") shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company (the "Company Secretary"), to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition, including making proposals or moving resolutions at the EGM.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene an EGM for the purpose of making proposals or moving resolutions at the EGM must deposit a written requisition (the "Requisition") signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 15/F, YF Life Centre, 38 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition the Board has not notified the Eligible Shareholders and fails to convene such EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves may do so in accordance with the memorandum and articles of association of the Company, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the Board to convene such meeting shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.

## RIGHT TO NOMINATE DIRECTORS FOR ELECTION AT GENERAL MEETINGS

If a shareholder wishes to propose a person other than a Director of the Company for election as a Director, the shareholder must deposit a written notice (the "Notice") to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 15/F, YF Life Centre, 38 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, or the branch share registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Ltd., at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Company Secretary. The Notice must state clearly the name of the shareholder(s) and his/her/their shareholding, the full name of the person proposed for election as a Director, including the person's biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the shareholder concerned (not the person to be nominated).

The Notice must also be accompanied by a letter of consent signed by the person nominated to be elected on his/her willingness to be elected as a Director. The period for lodgment of the Notice will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice by the Company of the general meeting appointed for the election of Directors of the Company and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.

The Notice will be verified by the Company's branch share registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in compliance with the rules of procedures, the Company Secretary will ask the nomination committee of the Company (the "Nomination Committee") and the Board of the Company to consider to include the resolution in the agenda for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected as a Director.

## CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

# SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a shareholder communication policy to ensure that shareholders have equal and timely access to corporate information. Corporate information will be communicated to shareholders through the Company's corporate communications, annual general meetings and other general meetings that may be held, as well as disclosures filed with the Stock Exchange. Shareholders may access information published by the Company through the Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.com) or the Investor Relations section of the Company's website (http:// www.evergrande.com). Shareholders may also make enquiries to the Company and provide comments and suggestions to the Board through the channels mentioned in the "Investor Relations" section below. The Company will respond to shareholders' enquiries as soon as practicable after receipt. Based on the above, the Board considers that the Company's shareholder communication policy remained effective during the year.

#### **DISCLAIMERS**

The contents of the section headed "Shareholders' Rights" in this report are for reference only and in compliance with disclosure requirements, which do not represent and shall not be regarded as legal or other professional advice to the shareholders. Shareholders should seek their independent legal or other professional advice as to their rights as shareholders of the Company. The Company disclaims any liability for all liabilities and losses incurred by the shareholders in reliance upon any contents of the section headed "Shareholders' Rights".

## **INVESTOR RELATIONS**

The Company emphasises communication with institutional investors so as to enhance the transparency of the Company, and stresses the importance of channels to collect and respond to the opinions of institutional investors.

During the year under review, the Company has disclosed information about the Company and notifiable transactions by way of announcement.

Shareholders, investors and the media can make enquiries with us by the following methods:

By telephone: (852) 2287 9229 By post: 15/F, YF Life Centre,

38 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

By email: evergrandeir@evergrande.com

# REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 of the Group.

## **MAJOR BUSINESS**

The Group is a developer of large scale quality residential property projects to manage projects in different cities across China. The Group is also engaged in other businesses including property management services and research and development and manufacturing of new energy vehicles. The analysis of the revenue of the Group during the year is set out in Note 6 to the financial statements.

#### **BUSINESS REVIEW**

A review of the business of the Group during the year under review and a discussion on the Group's future business development, possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and important events affecting the Company occurred during the year ended 31 December 2021 are provided in the section headed "Chairman's Statement" and the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" of this annual report.

A analysis of the Group's performance during the year ended 31 December 2021 using financial performance indicators is provided in the section headed "Management Discussion and Analysis" of this annual report.

## **FINANCIAL STATEMENTS**

The results of the Group during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 is set out in the consolidated statement of financial position. The cash flow position of the Group during the year is set out in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

#### **CAPITAL**

The changes in the capital of the Group during the year are set out in Note 21 to the financial statements.

## **FINAL DIVIDEND**

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021.

## **RESERVE**

The Company's reserves available for distribution represent the share premium, other reserves and retained earnings. Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to Shareholders subject to the provisions of the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company and provided that immediately following the distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

No reserves of the Company were available for distribution to Shareholders as at 31 December 2021.

## PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The changes in property, plant and equipment during the year are set out in Note 7 to the financial statements.

# MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group's five largest customers in aggregate was less than 30% of the Group's total turnover.

The Company was not aware of any of the Directors or their connected persons and shareholders holding over 5% of the interest in the share capital of the Company having any interest in the above suppliers and customers.

......

## REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing quality services to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career development opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.

## **DIRECTORS**

The Directors in office during the year and as of the date of this report are as follows:

#### **Executive Directors**

Professor Hui Ka Yan

Mr. Siu Shawn (appointed on 23 January 2022)

Mr. Shi Junping

Mr. Liu Zhen (appointed on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Qian Cheng (appointed on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Xia Haijun (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Pan Darong (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Lai Lixin (resigned on 23 January 2022)

Mr. Huang Xiangui (resigned on 23 January 2022)

## **Non-Executive Director**

Mr. Liang Senlin (appointed on 23 January 2022)

### **Independent Non-Executive Directors**

Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David

Mr. He Qi

Ms. Xie Hongxi

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set forth in the section headed "Directors and Administrative Structure" of this report.

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the Articles, Professor Hui Ka Yan, Mr. Shi Junping and Mr. Chau Shing Yim will retire in the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles, Mr. Siu Shawn, Mr. Liu Zhen, Mr. Qian Cheng and Mr. Liang Senlin will hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Siu, Mr. Liu, Mr. Qian and Mr. Liang will also retire in the forthcoming AGM, and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

# SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

There was no service contract that cannot be terminated by the Company without compensation (other than statutory compensation) within one year, entered into by the Company with any Directors proposed to be re-elected in the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

# DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There was no significant contract with any member of the Group being a party therein and in which the Directors of the Company had direct or indirect substantial interests, and which was still valid on the year end date or any time during the year and related to the business of the Group.

## REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

# DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETITIVE BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective associates has an interest in any business which competes or may compete with the business of the Group. Xin Xin (BVI) Limited is beneficially owned by our chairman, Professor Hui Ka Yan, who is the controlling shareholder of the Company. The controlling shareholders have provided annual confirmation of their compliance with the deed of non-competition undertaken by them. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed whether the controlling shareholders abided by the non-competition undertaking and confirmed that no controlling shareholder had violated the non-competition undertaking given by them.

## **SHARE OPTION SCHEMES**

On 14 October 2009, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the "2009 Share Option Scheme") whereby the Board can grant options for the subscription of the shares of the Company to the employees, executives and officers of the Group and such other persons that the Board considers to contribute or having contributed to the Group (the "Participants") as described in the 2009 Share Option Scheme for the purposes of providing incentives and rewards for their contributions to the Group.

The number of Shares in respect of the options that may be granted according to the 2009 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company immediately after completion of the Global Offering (as defined in the prospectus) of the Company. Such scheme mandate limit was refreshed on 3 October 2017, and on 8 June 2018, the shareholders of the Company again resolved to refresh the scheme mandate limit of the 2009 Share Option Scheme to 1,317,838,890 Shares, representing 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue on the date of the passing of the resolution to refresh such mandate limit and 9.98% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue on the date of this annual report.

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting, the number of Shares that may be granted to each of the Participants under the options shall not exceed 1% within any 12-month period (other than those granted to the substantial shareholders, as defined in the Listing Rules), or the total number of shares that may be granted under the options to the independent non-executive Directors or any of their respective connected persons shall not exceed 0.1% of the shares in issue of the Company from time to time.

There is no minimum period for which the options must be held before they become exercisable, and the options granted shall be exercised within the period decided by the Board, provided that no options shall be exercised 10 years after they have been granted.

The exercise price of the options shall not be lower than the highest of (a) the closing price of the Shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of grant; (b) the average closing price of the Shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.

Each grantee shall pay a consideration of HK\$1.00 at the time the option is granted.

Other details of the 2009 Share Option Scheme are set out in appendix VIII — Statutory and General Information of the prospectus published by the Company on 22 October 2009.

On 18 May 2010, the Company granted an aggregate of 713,000,000 options to 137 Participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 713,000,000 Shares in the Company, representing approximately 4.75% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date of grant. On 9 October 2014, the Company granted in aggregate 530,000,000 options to 8 Directors and 93 employees to subscribe for 530,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 3.63% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date of grant. The Company refreshed the scheme mandate limit at the extraordinary general meeting held on 3 October 2017 and on 6 October 2017, the Company granted in aggregate 743,570,000 options to 5 Directors and 7,989 employees to subscribe for 743,570,000 Shares, representing approximately 5.7% of the total number of Shares of the Company in issue as at the date of grant.

## REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As the 2009 Share Option Scheme was nearing the expiry of its term, the shareholders of the Company has resolved at the annual general meeting held on 6 June 2019 to adopt a new share option scheme (the "Share Option Scheme") with largely similar terms as that of the 2009 Share Option Scheme. Upon the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on 6 June 2019, the 2009 Share Option Scheme was cancelled. Options that have been granted under the 2009 Share Option Scheme prior to its cancellation shall remain valid in accordance with its terms.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to selected eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. The Directors consider that the Share Option Scheme will serve to motivate the eligible participants to contribute to the Group's development. The Share Option Scheme, which will be in the form of options to subscribe for Shares, will enable the Group to recruit, incentivize and retain high-calibre staff, which the Directors consider that it is in line with modern commercial practice that eligible participants, which will include full-time or parttime employees, directors, members of the management, advisors, consultants, agents, suppliers and joint venture partners who have contributed to the Group, be given incentives and align their interests and objectives with that of the Group.

Based on 13,127,834,900 Shares in issue as at the date of the annual general meeting, the maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of the options that may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 1,312,783,490 Shares, being 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and 9.94% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme to any eligible participant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue within any 12-month period.

The Share Option Scheme does not specify a minimum period for which an option must be held nor a performance target which must be achieved before an option can be exercised. However, the rules of the Share Option Scheme provide that the Board may determine, at its sole discretion, such terms and conditions on the grant of an option.

Options may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme within the relevant option period. Such period shall be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and notified to the relevant grantee, provided that such period shall not exceed 10 years from the date on which an option is deemed to have been granted and accepted by the grantee under the Share Option Scheme.

Any option offer will be deemed to have been granted and accepted by the grantee when the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee, and a remittance in favour of the Company of HK\$1.00 as consideration for the grant thereof is received by the Company within 30 days of the offer date.

The exercise price of the options is determined by the Board at its absolute discretion and will be not less than the highest price of the official closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer, the average official closing prices of the Company's shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant and the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

The aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of all share options that may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and all outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the other share option schemes of the Company has not exceeded 30% of the Shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten years from its date of adoption until 5 June, 2029. As at the date of this annual report, the remaining term of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 5 years and 10 months.

## REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

On 24 April 2020, the Company granted options to certain participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 623,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 4.70% of the total number of Shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The details of movement in the options granted under the Share Option Scheme of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

					Number of share options			
				Outstanding			Cancelled	Outstanding
				as at	Granted	<b>Exercised</b>	and Lapsed	as at
		Exercise	Exercise	1 January	during the	during the	during the	31 December
Grantees	Date of grant	price (HK\$)	period	2021	period	period	period	2021
Xia Haijun	9 October 2014	3.05	Note 1	4,391,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	4,391,000
	6 October 2017	30.20	Note 2	600,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	600,000
	24 April 2020	13.112	Note 3	30,000,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	30,000,000
Shi Junping	9 October 2014	3.05	Note 1	3,600,000	N/A	3,600,000	N/A	0
	6 October 2017	30.20	Note 2	500,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	500,000
	24 April 2020	13.112	Note 3	6,000,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	6,000,000
Pan Darong	6 October 2017	30.20	Note 2	3,000,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	3,000,000
	24 April 2020	13.112	Note 3	5,000,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	5,000,000
Lai Lixin	6 October 2017	30.20	Note 2	600,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	600,000
	24 April 2020	13.112	Note 3	5,000,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	5,000,000
Huang Xiangui	9 October 2014	3.05	Note 1	3,000,000	N/A	3,000,000	N/A	0
0 0	6 October 2017	30.20	Note 2	300,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	300,000
	24 April 2020	13,112	Note 3	2,000,000	N/A	N/A	N/A	2,000,000
Other employees	9 October 2014	3.05	Note 1	5,700,000	N/A	4,500,000	200,000	1,000,000
of the Group	6 October 2017	30.20	Note 2	458,532,000	N/A	N/A	104,428,000	354,104,000
(in aggregate)	24 April 2020	13.112	Note 3	478,900,000	N/A	N/A	113,040,000	365,860,000

#### Notes:

- The options granted on 9 October 2014 with respect to a Participant will be exercisable in 5 tranches in the following manners:
  - (i) the first tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Option granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 9 October 2015 and ending on 8 October 2020:
  - (ii) the second tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 9 October 2016 and ending on 8 October 2021;
- (iii) the third tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 9 October 2017 and ending on 8 October 2022;
- (iv) the fourth tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 9 October 2018 and ending on 8 October 2023; and
- (v) the fifth tranche comprising the remaining number of Shares that are subject to the Option granted will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 9 October 2019 to 8 October 2024.

## REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- 2. On 6 October 2017, an aggregate of 743,570,000 options were granted to 5 Directors and 7,989 employees. The exercise price of the options is HK\$30.20 and the closing price of the Shares on 4 October 2017, the date immediately before the date on which the options were granted, was HK\$30.75. The options will be exercisable in 5 tranches in the following manners:
  - (i) the first tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject of the Options granted will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 6 October 2018 to 5 October 2023;
  - (ii) the second tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject of the Options granted will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 6 October 2019 to 5 October 2024;
  - (iii) the third tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject of the Options granted will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 6 October 2020 to 5 October 2025;
  - (iv) the fourth tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject of the Options granted will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 6 October 2021 to 5 October 2026; and
  - (v) the fifth tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject of the Options granted will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 6 October 2022 to 5 October 2027.
- 3. On 24 April 2020, an aggregate of 623,000,000 options were granted to 5 Directors and 198 employees of the Group. The exercise price of the options is HK\$13.112 and the closing price of the Shares on 23 April 2020, the date immediately before the date on which the options were granted, was HK\$12.90. The options will be exercisable in 5 tranches in the following manners:
  - (i) the first tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Option granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 24 April 2021 and ending on 23 April 2026;

- (ii) the second tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 24 April 2022 and ending on 23 April 2027;
- (iii) the third tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 24 April 2023 and ending on 23 April 2028;
- (iv) the fourth tranche of 20% of the Shares that are the subject to the Options granted (rounded down to the nearest whole number) will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 24 April 2024 and ending on 23 April 2029;
- (v) the fifth tranche comprising the remaining number of Shares that are subject to the Option granted will be exercisable at any time during the period commencing from 24 April 2025 and ending on 23 April 2030.

At the beginning and end of the year ended 31 December 2021, the number of shares available for issue upon exercise of all options that may be granted under the Share Option Scheme is 1,305,538,990 shares.

## **DEBENTURE**

At any time during the year, neither the Company nor its holding company or its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors acquire benefits by means of acquisition of the shares or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

### INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interest and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

#### (i) Interest in the Shares of the Company

Names of Director	Nature of interest	Number of Shares	Approximate Percentage of shareholding
Hui Ka Yan (Note 1)	Interest of controlled corporation	7,893,301,497(L)	59.78%
Chau Shing Yim, David	Beneficial Owner	1,000,000(L)	0.01%
He Qi	Beneficial Owner	209,000 (L)	0.00%
Xie Hongxi	Beneficial Owner	600,000 (L)	0.00%
Note:			

<sup>(1)</sup> The Shares were held by Xin Xin (BVI) Limited, a company wholly owned by Professor Hui Ka Yan.

#### (ii) Interest in the underlying shares of the Company

Name of Director	Nature of interest	Number of Shares outstanding involved in the options granted under the Share Option Scheme	Approximate percentage of shareholding of those options granted and exercised under the Share Option Scheme based on the existing issued share capital of the Company
Xia Haijun	Beneficial owner	34,991,000	0.26%
Shi Junping	Beneficial owner	6,500,000	0.05%
Pan Darong	Beneficial owner	8,000,000	0.06%
Lai Lixin	Beneficial owner	5,600,000	0.04%
Huang Xiangui	Beneficial owner	2,300,000	0.02%

#### (iii) Interest in associated corporation of the Company

Name of Director	Name of associated corporation	Number of securities	Approximate percentage of shareholding
Hui Ka Yan	Xin Xin (BVI) Limited	100 shares	100%
Xia Haijun	Evergrande Property Services Group Limited	55,675,000 shares	0.51%
Lai Lixin	Evergrande Property Services Group Limited	1,121,000 shares	0.01%

#### (iv) Interest in debentures of the Company

	Currency of	Amount of	Amount of debenture in same class	Type of
Name of Director	debentures	debenture held	in issue	debenture
Hui Ka Yan	US\$	50,000,000	1,000,000,000	12% senior notes due 2024
	US\$	20,000,000	2,000,000,000	11.5% senior notes due 2022
	US\$	580,000,000	2,000,000,000	12% senior notes due 2023
Xia Haijun	US\$	7,000,000	4,680,476,000	8.75% senior notes due 2025
Lai Lixin	US\$	200,000	4,680,476,000	8.75% senior notes due 2025
	US\$	300,000	1,450,000,000	9.5% senior notes due 2022
	US\$	300,000	600,000,000	8.9% senior notes due 2021
	US\$	300,000	1,000,000,000	11.5% senior notes due 2023
	US\$	900,000	2,000,000,000	11.5% senior notes due 2022
	US\$	1,000,000	1,344,921,000	7.5% senior notes due 2023
	US\$	200,000	598,181,000	6.25% senior notes due 2021
	US\$	900,000	1,000,000,000	8.25% senior notes due 2022

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors, executives of the Company or their respective associates had any other interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the register referred to therein or were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

#### SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

As far as the Directors or executives of the Company are aware, as at 31 December 2021, other than the Directors or chief executives of the Company as disclosed above, the following persons had interest or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares which were required to be notified to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or were required pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO to be entered in the register to be kept therein or to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange:

Name of shareholder	Nature of interest held	Interest in the shares	Approximate percentage of shareholding
Xin Xin (BVI) Limited	Beneficial owner	7,893,031,497(L) (Note 1)	59.78%
Ding Yumei	Interest of controlled corporation	791,248,238(L) (Note 2)	5.99%
Even Honour Holdings Limited	Beneficial owner	791,248,238(L) (Note 2)	5.99%
Yaohua Limited	Interest of controlled corporation	791,248,238(L) (Note 2)	5.99%

#### Notes:

- 1. Xin Xin (BVI) Limited is beneficially owned by Professor Hui Ka Yan.
- 2. Even Honour Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Yaohua Limited, and Yaohua Limited is wholly owned by Ding Yumei.

#### **SUBSIDIARIES**

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 45 to the financial statements.

#### **MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS**

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or subsisting during the year.

### **EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES**

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had an aggregate of 121,368 employees (including 6,286 employees of Evergrande Auto (708.HK) and 73,381 employees of Evergrande Property Services (6666.HK)). The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according to their strength and development potential. The Group determined the remuneration packages of all employees (including the Directors) with reference to individual performance and current market rate.

### ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

#### **Environmental Protection**

Environmental protection is a key focus for the Group. The conscientious use of resources and adoption of related best practices across the Group's businesses underlie its commitment to safeguarding the environment. The Group encourages environmental protection by promoting awareness of the issue amongst its employees. It also complies with relevant environmental legislation.

An ever-improving management system, enhanced monitoring of activities and procedures, energy conservation and environmental protection are strongly promoted.

#### Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that its operations comply with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The audit committee of the Company is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group's policies and practices for achieving compliance with legal and other regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

#### REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all material respects with laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group's business and operations.

#### Workplace Quality

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate on the basis of any personal characteristics. It has employee handbooks outlining terms and conditions of employment, expectations for employees' conduct and behaviour, and employees' rights and benefits. The Group also establishes and implements policies that promote a harmonious and respectful workplace.

The Group believes that employees are the most valuable assets of an enterprise and regards human resources as its corporate wealth. The Group provides on-the-job training and development opportunities to enhance its employees' career progression. Through different types of training, staff's knowledge of corporate operations as well as their occupational and management skills are enhanced. The Group also organises staff-friendly activities for employees, such as outings, to promote staff relationships and physical fitness.

#### Health and Safety

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and congenial work environment and it values the health and well-being of its staff. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines have been implemented to ensure its working environment is healthy and safe. The Group provides communications on health and safety matters and other programmes to employees in order to raise their awareness of such issues and enhance their related behavior.

#### **Training and Development**

The Group is committed to the professional and personal development and growth of all employees and considers training and development a critical continuous process. Many on the-job and other training courses and programmes are provided to help employees maintain and develop their skills and professionalism. Structured training programmes including seminars are offered to staff with the objective of grooming and unleashing their full potential, supporting, organisational development and facilitating team synergies. Employees are encouraged to take advantage of these programmes in order to equip themselves with the skills and knowledge for expanded career opportunities within the Group.

#### Commitment to Quality

The Group has made relentless efforts in providing property development and management services.

The Company will also ensure the quality of its services and place customers' demands at its priority in order to maintain its competitive advantage and to increase shareholders' value further.

#### Management of Supply Chain

The Group adheres to open, fair and transparent criteria in selecting suppliers and service providers, and has established a supplier evaluation system in which suppliers' price, quality, cost, delivery and after-sales service are assessed. The Group will carry out long-term monitoring of suppliers' quality and conduct regular reviews of all suppliers as well as casual examinations of different suppliers to ensure the sustainable quality of material supplies and services it receives.

#### **Community Investment**

The Company has complied with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules. The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company will be separately disclosed to the public after the publication of this annual report.

#### **CORPORATE GOVERNANCE**

The Company strives to maintain a high corporate governance standard and has complied with the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. Further information of the corporate governance practices of the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report section of this annual report.

#### PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Articles provide that every Director is entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Group has taken out and maintained directors' liability insurance for the year ended 31 December 2021, which provides appropriate cover for the Directors. The permitted indemnity provision was in force during the year ended 31 December 2021 and remained in force as at the date of this report for the benefit of the Directors.

#### **FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISKS**

Details of the foreign exchange risks are set out in Note 4(a)(i) to the financial statements.

#### **CONNECTED TRANSACTION**

#### **Exempted Connected Transaction**

On 28 March 2021, the Company, Alpha Beauty and New Gain entered into the Investment Agreement with 17 investors (the "Investors") in relation to the New Gain Disposal. As at the date of the Investment Agreement, the ultimate beneficial owner of Advance Power International Limited, one of the Investors, was Mr. Xia Haijun, who was a Director and therefore a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 29 March 2021 for further details.

#### **Related Party Transactions**

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in Note 39 to the financial statement. Save as disclosed, during the year under review, none of the related party transactions constituted a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to independent Shareholders' approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

### PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

During 2020, the Company repurchased from the secondary market the 4.25% convertible bonds due 2023 issued by the Company of principal amount of HK\$1.799 billion.

In 2021, the Company further redeemed the above convertible notes of principal amount of HK\$16.12 billion. All the repurchased shares have been cancelled.

From 7 June 2021 to 11 June 2021, the Company repurchased from the market a total of 46,084,000 shares for a total consideration of HK\$529,287,080. The Directors believe that the repurchases of shares would lead to an enhancement of the net value of the Group and its assets and/or its earnings per share. Set out below are the details of the repurchases:

Month	Number of shares repurchased	Average repurchase price	Total consideration HK\$
7 June 2021	29,084,000	11.56	336,127,020
9 June 2021	12,200,000	11.41	139,252,160
10 June 2021	2,111,000	11.23	23,699,640
11 June 2021	2,689,000	11.23	30,208,260
Total	46,084,000	11.49	529,287,080

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2021.

#### REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

#### **FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY**

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group in the past five years is set out on pages 183 to 184.

#### **PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS**

There is no provision regarding pre-emptive rights in the articles of association of the Company or the law of the Cayman Islands which stipulates that the Company is required to offer Shares to the existing shareholders of the Company any new shares according to their respective shareholding for any fresh issue of shares.

#### **ADEQUATE PUBLIC FLOAT**

At the time of listing of the Company in 2009, the Company has applied to the Stock Exchange for a waiver in respect of the public float requirement under Rule 8.08(1)(d) of the Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has accepted a lower level of public float for the Company at the time of the listing subject to the minimum public float should be the higher of (a) 15%, or (b) such a percentage of shares held by the public immediately after completion of the global offering of the Company, as increased by the shares issued upon the exercise of the over-allotment option under the global offering. As announced by the Company on 27 November 2009 with regard to the exercise of the over-allotment option and the end of the stabilization period for the global offering, the percentage of shares that was held by the public then was 22.04%. As such, the minimum public float requirement that the Company should maintain at all times should be 22.04%.

The Company has maintained adequate public float during the year.

#### **AUDITOR**

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 16 January 2023 in relation to the change of auditor(the "Announcement"). On 16 January 2023, PricewaterhouseCoopers ("PwC") has resigned as the Company's auditor at the recommendation of the Company. In its resignation letter to the audit committee and the Board dated 16 January 2023, PwC set out the matters leading to its resignation as the Company's auditor, which also represent those matters that PwC consider should be brought to the attention of Shareholders and the Company's creditors. On the same day, the Board appointed Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited (上會栢誠會計師事務所 有限公司) ("Prism") as the new auditor of the Company to fill the temporary vacancy following PwC's resignation for a term until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company. Prism is a member firm of Shanghai Certified Public Accountants (Special General Partnership) in Hong Kong. Details of which are set out in the Announcement.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2021 or any year of the three years preceding, there was no change in the Company's auditor.

For and on behalf of the Board

Hui Ka Yan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 July 2023

### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT



To the Shareholders of China Evergrande Group

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

#### **DISCLAIMER OF OPINION**

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of China Evergrande Group (the "Company") and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the "Group") set out on pages 44 to 182, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of this report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

#### BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

#### 1. Multiple Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern

As described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB686,219 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 and, as at 31 December 2021, the Group had net liabilities and net current liabilities of approximately RMB473,054 million and RMB627,315 million respectively. As at 31 December 2021, the Group's current and non-current borrowings amounted to approximately RMB602,653 million and RMB4,724 million respectively, while the Group had total cash (including cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash) amounting to approximately RMB28,776 million. In addition, the Group was involved in various litigation and arbitration cases for various reasons. These conditions, along with other matters as described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

The directors have taken measures to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position as described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of these measures, which are subject to material uncertainties. We are unable to determine whether the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements is appropriate.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong
T: +852 2774 2188 F: +852 2774 2322
www.prism.com.hk

Member Firm of CPA

.....

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments would have to be made to reclassify all non-current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities, to write down the values of assets to their recoverable amounts and to provide for any further liabilities which may arise. The consolidated financial statements do not include any such adjustments. However, material uncertainties exist in relation to the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in view of the Group's future cash flow. We consider that appropriate disclosures have been made in the consolidated financial statements concerning this situation but we have not obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the Group's ability to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due and we consider the potential cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements of this material uncertainty relating to going concern to be so significant that we have disclaimed our opinion.

### 2. Insufficient appropriate audit evidence in respect of opening balances and comparative information

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group experienced liquidity issues which led to departure of certain staff. The staff departure has resulted in the inability of the Company and us to obtain sufficient information for the purpose of auditing opening balances despite the directors' best efforts and all reasonable steps taken by them to resolve the relevant issues. We encountered difficulties in obtaining complete and timely data and records relating to the opening balances of the Group.

We were unable to obtain all necessary written representations from management to corroborate information provided to us during the course of our audit for completeness and accuracy of data relating to opening balances. These scope limitations significantly impaired our ability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence and increased the risk of material misstatements remaining undetected. Furthermore, as described in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company considered it impracticable to apply the revenue recognition treatment retrospectively as required by HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors due to certain facts and circumstances. However, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to corroborate the impracticability asserted by the Company. As such, we are unable to determine whether the changes in accounting treatment have been appropriately applied in accordance with HKAS 8. In this regard, we are unable to satisfy ourselves as to the accuracy of the opening balances of the Group and whether all transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been properly recorded in the Group's consolidated financial statements. In addition, we are unable to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary in respect of recorded or unrecorded transactions that constitute elements making up the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Due to the lack of financial information as aforementioned, we are unable to satisfy ourselves that proper books of accounts have been kept so as to give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's affairs and to present the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Owing to the significance and pervasiveness of the matters, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Consequently, in the absence of sufficient supporting documents and details of explanations relating to opening balances and comparative information, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the account balances as at 31 December 2020 and the results and cash flows of the Group for the year ended that date and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. Any necessary adjustments found to be required to the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 would have corresponding effects on the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2021.

#### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

#### **OTHER MATTERS**

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 31 March 2021.

On the same day of approval of these consolidated financial statements, we also reported on the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. Accordingly, shareholders may consider those consolidated financial statements and read them in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

### RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors of the Company determined is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

### AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group's consolidated financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and to issue an auditor's report. However, because of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of this report, we were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements" section of this report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ("the Code") of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Lee Kwok Lun.

#### **Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited**

Certified Public Accountants

Lee Kwok Lun

Practising Certificate Number: P06294

Hong Kong, 17 July 2023

.....

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

	Notes	31 December 2021 RMB million	31 December 2020 RMB million
ASSETS			
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	7	73,893	75,731
Right-of-use assets	8	16,227	18,561
Investment properties	9	69,328	165,850
Goodwill	10	1,161	7,822
Intangible assets	11	8,102	10,696
Trade and other receivables	13	2,825	7,249
Prepayments	14	1,668	2,461
Investments accounted for using equity method	15	33,261	92,270
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	16	1,573	1,412
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	17	5,089	8,230
Deferred income tax assets	24	148	5,943
		213,275	396,225
Current assets			
Inventories		203	358
Properties under development	12	1,263,410	1,257,908
Completed properties held for sale	12	190,303	148,473
Trade and other receivables	13	204,809	141,706
Contract acquisition costs		4,577	5,190
Prepayments	14	153,330	151,026
Income tax recoverable		30,015	16,334
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	17	18,398	3,195
Restricted cash	19	23,341	21,992
Cash and cash equivalents	20	5,435	158,752
		1,893,821	1,904,934
Total assets		2,107,096	2,301,159
EQUITY			
Capital and reserves attributable to shareholders of the Company			
Share capital and premium	21	4,226	4,635
Reserves		(395,560)	142,266
Non-controlling interests		(391,334) (81,720)	146,901 203,530
(Deficiency of)/total equity		(473,054)	350,431

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2020 RMB million 381,055 — 53,142
381,055 — 53,142
53,142
53,142
53,142
53,142
9,278
443,475
335,477
829,174
185,746
156,856
1,507,253
1,950,728
397,681
2,301,159

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Hui Ka Yan
Director

Qian Cheng
Director

.....

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

		Year ended 31	l December
	Notes	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million (Restated)
Revenue Cost of sales	6 29	250,013 (268,461)	507,248 (383,744)
Gross (loss)/profit		(18,448)	123,504
Write-down of properties under development and completed		(070.004)	(2.2.2)
properties held for sale	0	(373,681)	(899)
Fair value (loss)/gains on investment properties, net	9	(31,267)	1,278
Impairment losses on financial assets		(50,376)	(288)
Other losses, net	27	(45,985)	(5,051)
Other income	28	2,286	10,253
Selling and marketing costs	29	(31,945)	(31,962)
Administrative expenses	29	(16,527)	(21,064)
Impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity method		(8,097)	_
Other operating expenses	29	(7,489)	(6,059)
Operating profit		(581,529)	69,712
Share of losses of investments accounted for using equity method	15	(19,722)	(1,379)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	17	(1,936)	(31)
Fair value losses on contingent consideration payables	17	(2,555)	(01)
Fair value gains on derivative financial liabilities		(2,333)	2,183
Fair value losses on financial guarantee contracts		(51,530)	2,100
Finance costs, net	31	(41,623)	(2,240)
(Losses)/profit before income tax		(698,895)	68,245
Income tax credit/(expenses)	32	12,676	(36,845)
(Losses)/profit for the year		(686,219)	31,400
Other comprehensive income/(loss)			
(Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss)			
Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for			
using the equity method		31	7
Currency translation differences		536	(241)
(Item that may not be reclassified to profit or loss)			
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through other			
comprehensive income, net of tax		(982)	(131)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax		(415)	(365)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year		(686,634)	31,035
		(555,551)	01,000

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

		Year ended 3		
	Notes	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million (Restated)	
(Loss)/profit attributable to:				
Shareholders of the Company		(476,035)	8,076	
Non-controlling interests		(210,184)	23,324	
		(686,219)	31,400	
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to: Shareholders of the Company Non-controlling interests		(476,095) (210,539)	7,863 23,172	
		(686,634)	31,035	
(Loss)/earnings per share for profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year (expressed in RMB per share)				
Basic (loss)/earnings per share	33	(36.006)	0.613	
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share	33	(36.006)	0.610	

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

.....

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable	to sharel	nolders of	the (	Company

	Share capital RMB million	Share premium RMB million	Exchange reserves RMB million	Other reserves RMB million	Retained earnings RMB million	Total RMB million	Non-controlling interests RMB million	Total RMB million
Balance as at 1 January 2020	932	643	407	65,726	77,992	145,700	212,837	358,537
Comprehensive income Profit for the year	_	_	_	_	8,076	8,076	23,324	31,400
Other comprehensive income								
Change in value of financial assets at fair								
value through other comprehensive							4	
income, net of tax	_	-	_	(112)	_	(112)	(19)	(131)
Share of other comprehensive income of								
investments accounted for using the				_		_		_
equity method	_	_	_	7	_	7	_	7
Currency translation differences			(108)			(108)	(133)	(241)
Total comprehensive income	_	_	(108)	(105)	8,076	7,863	23,172	31,035
Transactions with owners								
Transfer to statutory reserves	_	_	_	6,059	(6,059)	_	_	_
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to				,	( , ,			
share option scheme (note 21, note 22)	2	95	_	(20)	_	77	_	77
Employee share option schemes	_	_	_	607	_	607	163	770
Repurchase of shares of the company	(19)	(738)	_	19	(3,443)	(4,181)	_	(4,181)
Dividends (note 34)	_		_	_	(27,086)	(27,086)	(30,693)	(57,779)
Proceeds from allotment of shares	18	3,702	_	_	_	3,720	_	3,720
Changes in ownership interests in								
subsidiaries without change of control	_	_	_	11,350	_	11,350	(33,256)	(21,906)
Capital injection from non-controlling							,	, , ,
interests	_	_	_	8,851	_	8,851	30,921	39,772
Acquisition of subsidiaries	_	_	_	_	_	_	541	541
Disposal of subsidiaries	_	_	_	_	_	_	(155)	(155)
Total transactions with owners	1	3,059	_	26,866	(36,588)	(6,662)	(32,479)	(39,141)
Balance as at 31 December 2020	933	3,702	299	92,487	49,480	146,901	203,530	350,431

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Balance as at 1 January 2021 (Original stated)  Adjustment for change in accounting treatment (note 2)	Share capital RMB million  933	Share premium RMB million	Exchange reserves RMB million	Other reserves RMB million	Retained earnings/ (accumulated losses) RMB million 49,480 (69,952)	Total RMB million 146,901 (69,952)	Non- controlling interests RMB million 203,530	Total RMB million 350,431 (102,484)
Restated balance as at 1 January 2021	933	3,702	299	92,487	(20,472)	76,949	170,998	247,947
Comprehensive expenses Loss for the year	-	_	_	_	(476,035)	(476,035)	(210,184)	(686,219)
Other comprehensive expenses Change in value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, net of tax Share of other comprehensive income of investments accounted for using the equity method Currency translation differences	- - -	- - -	_ _ 536	(627) 31 —	- - -	(627) 31 536	(355)	(982) 31 536
Total comprehensive expenses	_	_	536	(596)	(476,035)	(476,095)	(210,539)	(686,634)
Transactions with owners Transfer to statutory reserves Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to share option scheme (note 21 and	-	_	-	1,391	(1,391)	-	-	_
note 22) Employee share option schemes Repurchase of shares of the Company Dividends	1 — (4) —	35 - (441) -	=	(8) 1,345 4 —	- - - (2,012)	28 1,345 (441) (2,012)	- - - (1,380)	28 1,345 (441) (3,392)
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control Reclassification (notes 23 and 25) Capital injection from non-controlling	=	_	_	(15,526) —		(15,526) —	(42,218) (50,945)	(57,744) (50,945)
interests Acquisition of subsidiaries Disposal of subsidiaries	=	_ _ _	_ _ _	24,418 - -	- - -	24,418 - -	50,512 425 1,427	74,930 425 1,427
Total transactions with owners	(3)	(406)	_	11,624	(3,403)	7,812	(42,179)	(34,367)
Balance as at 31 December 2021	930	3,296	835	103,515	(499,910)	(391,334)	(81,720)	(473,054)

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

.....

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

	Year ended 31 December		
Note	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Cash flows of operating activities			
Net cash generated from operations 35	36,373	213,231	
Income tax paid	(13,681)	(25,134	
Interest paid	(74,293)	(78,034)	
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities	(51,601)	110,063	
Cash flows of investing activities			
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired	(3,843)	(4,052)	
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and investment properties	(26,172)	(12,376)	
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment, land use rights and			
intangible assets	5,851	25	
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties	21,924	5,611	
Purchase of land use rights	(2,189)	(1,227	
Purchase of intangible assets	(1,184)	(4,703	
Investment in associates and joint ventures	(27,691)	(5,997	
Proceeds from disposal of joint ventures and associates	42,754	_	
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries	12,121	244	
Dividend received	_	64	
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	(18,057)	(6,628	
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss	4,581	4,098	
Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income	(2,196)	_	
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through other			
comprehensive income	1,053	_	
Repayment from associates	591	15	
Repayment from joint ventures	3,904	8,713	
Repayment from non-controlling interests	4,609	6,960	
Cash advance to associates	(1,758)	(1,490	
Cash advance to joint ventures	(22,595)	(13,395	
Cash advance to non-controlling interests	(8,529)	(5,630	
Prepayments for acquisition of subsidiaries	_	(374	
Interest received	1,836	4,820	
Proceeds from governments grant for construction	583	1,194	
Net cash used in investing activities	(14,407)	(24,128)	

# CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

#### Year ended 31 December

	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Cash flows of financing activities		
Proceeds from borrowings	89,378	367,281
Repayments of borrowings	(229,912)	(441,610)
Repurchase of shares	(441)	(4,181)
Proceeds from shares issued	_	3,720
Issuance of ordinary shares pursuant to share option scheme	28	77
Dividends paid	(467)	(57,779)
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests in subsidiaries	(10,636)	(51,075)
Proceeds from disposal of shares of Evergrande Property Services Limited		25,751
Capital injection from non-controlling interests	74,930	39,772
Cash advance from associates	102	639
Cash advance from joint ventures	15,503	37,112
Cash advance from non-controlling interests	8,503	7,154
Repayment to associates	(123)	(82)
Repayment to joint ventures	(29,285)	(24,766)
Repayment made to non-controlling interests	(2,280)	(6,707)
Restricted cash pledged for bank borrowings	_	28,606
Deposits for other borrowings	_	(180)
Principal elements of lease payments	(2,601)	(617)
Net cash used in financing activities	(87,301)	(76,885)
Net (decrease)/increase cash and cash equivalents	(153,309)	9,050
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	158,752	150,056
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents	(8)	(354)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year	5,435	158,752

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

China Evergrande Group (the "Company") was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 June 2006 as an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (2009 Revision as consolidated and revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands and is engaged in investment holding. The Company and its subsidiaries (the "Group") are engaged in the property development, property investment, property management, new energy vehicle business, cultural tourism business and health industry business principally in the People's Republic of China (the "PRC"). The address of its registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company had its listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") on 5 November 2009.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi Yuan ("RMB") millions, unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors (the "Board") of the Company on 17 July 2023.

### 2 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING TREATMENT FOR TIMING OF REVENUE RECOGNITION

Prior to 2021, the Group considered that the revenue is recognised when the earlier of the acceptance of the property by the customer or according to the sales contract, the property was deemed to have been accepted by the customer. However, since 2021, due to the Group gradually facing liquidity difficulties, the Group believes that including the requirement for obtaining construction completion certificates or delivery of property inventory to property owners for use as an additional condition for revenue recognition would better reflect the Group's situation and have practical operability.

#### **Cumulative Impact**

According to HKAS 8, a change in accounting treatment should be applied retrospectively to historical financial statements. However, after the company experienced liquidity problems, a large number of financial and engineering staff left and the Group was unable to identify or estimate the effect of implementing the change in revenue recognition treatment on historical financial statements Therefore, the Group decided to make the change in revenue recognition treatment effective from 1 January 2021 and apply the new treatment from this financial year onwards. At the same time, the Group will reassess revenue as of 1 January 2021 to confirm whether the new revenue recognition criteria have been met.

According to the new accounting treatment, as at 1 January 2021, included in contract liabilities, balance exclusive of value-added tax amounting to RMB664,344 million had not been recognised as revenue, and will be recognized as revenue in the reporting periods when the corresponding conditions are met. The management of the Group believes that this change in accounting treatment can better reflect the operating performance and financial condition of the Group.

### 2 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING TREATMENT FOR TIMING OF REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

The following is the impact of the change in accounting treatment:

Consolidated statement of financial position	RMB million	
Assets		
<ul> <li>Trade and other receivables</li> </ul>	(9,017)	
- Prepayment	11,015	
Properties under development and completed properties held for sales	344,812	
	346,810	
Liabilities		
<ul> <li>Current income tax liabilities</li> </ul>	(101,500)	
<ul> <li>Trade and other payables</li> </ul>	(175,202)	
<ul> <li>Contract liabilities</li> </ul>	721,967	
Deferred income tax liabilities	4,029	
	449,294	
Net liabilities	(102,484)	
Equity		
<ul> <li>Non-controlling interests</li> </ul>	(32,532)	
- Accumulated losses	(69,952)	
	(102,484)	

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

#### (a) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, investment properties and contingent consideration payables, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies.

#### (i) Going concern assessment

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB686,219 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 and, as at 31 December 2021, the Group had net liabilities and net current liabilities of approximately RMB473,054 million and RMB627,315 million respectively. As at 31 December 2021, the Group's current and non-current borrowings amounted to approximately RMB602,653million and RMB4,724 million respectively, while the Group had total cash (including cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash) amounting to approximately RMB28,776 million. In addition, the Group was involved in various litigation and arbitration cases for various reasons.

The above conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

In light of the above, the Board has carefully considered the Group's expected cash flow projections not less than 12 months from the date of reporting period and have given due consideration to the matters that give rise to material doubt as to its ability to continue as a going concern, and accordingly, have proactively come up with debt solutions to alleviate the liquidity pressure. The Group has continued to implement the following plans and measures:

- The Group has been actively negotiating with other onshore lenders on the extension of borrowings. Due to the diverse lender base and changing market environment, it takes time to finalise the extension plans with individual lenders case-by-case. Having considered the successful extension of loans during the year 2022, the Group's credit history and longstanding relationships with the relevant lenders, the Directors believe that the Group will be able to complete the signing of the relevant extension agreements for the remaining borrowings progressively;
- The Group has been actively seeking new financing or additional capital inflows through various channels, including but not limited to new financing from asset management companies or financial institutions, special borrowings and supporting borrowings for guaranteed home delivery, business cooperation with business partners, and assets disposals. Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group has achieved certain business cooperation, and has obtained new financing or additional capital for certain projects through the above channels. The Group will also continue to seek new financing or additional capital;

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

#### (i) Going concern assessment (Continued)

- The Group has been actively communicating with creditors to resolve the pending lawsuits. Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group has completed the settlement arrangements with certain creditors. The Group is positive that it can continue to reach an amicable solution to the litigations which have not yet reached a definite outcome at the current stage;
- The Group will continue to focus on the completion and delivery of property projects to ensure the stability and sustainable operation of the Group's business.

At the same time, the Group will continue to follow up on the proposed restructuring of offshore debts ("Proposed Offshore Debts Restructuring") that has not yet been completed. As of the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the progress is as follows:

- The Company has been working closely with its legal and financial advisors to formulate a viable restructuring plan aimed at addressing current liquidity constraints, enhancing the credit profile of the Group and protecting the interests of all stakeholders. Over the past few months, the Company and an ad-hoc group of offshore creditors of the Company (the "AHG"), together with their respective advisors, have been engaged in constructive dialogue towards a consensual restructuring of the Company's offshore indebtedness;
- On 3 April 2023, the Company and the AHG entered into the restructuring support agreement (the "RSA") in relation to the terms of the Restructuring. The contemplated Restructuring is intended to (i) provide the Company with a long-term, sustainable capital structure; (ii) allow adequate financial flexibility and sufficient runway to stabilize the business; and (iii) protect the rights and interests, and maximize value, for all stakeholders. The Restructuring is expected to be implemented through one or more schemes of arrangement. The respective restructuring effective date is anticipated to be 1 October 2023 and the longstop date is 15 December 2023 (as may be extended in accordance with the terms of respective term sheets).
- The restructuring plan includes (i) China Evergrande Group("CEG") schemes ("CEG Schemes"); (ii)
   Scenery Journey Limited ("SJ") scheme ("SJ Scheme") and (iii) Tianji Holding Limited ("TJ") scheme ("TJ Scheme"):

#### CEG Schemes

The Company plans to implement a restructuring through, inter alia, schemes of arrangement in the Cayman Islands, Hong Kong and/or other applicable jurisdictions ("CEG Schemes"). There would be two classes of debts under the CEG Schemes, namely:

- i. Class A: Class A debts consist of ten series of US dollar denominated senior secured notes, one series of HK dollar denominated convertible bonds and one private loan; and
- ii. Class C: Class C debts consist of debts including private loans, repurchase obligations and guarantees provided by the Company in relation to certain offshore and onshore debts.

THE THE PARTY OF T

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

#### (i) Going concern assessment (Continued)

CEG Schemes (Continued)

Both Class A creditors and Class C creditors can elect from two options of scheme consideration under CEG Schemes, namely "Option 1" and "Option 2".

Under Option 1, creditors would receive new notes to be issued by the Company with a tenor of 10-12 years ("A1/C1 Notes").

Under Option 2, creditors can elect to convert their entitlements into the following (subject to adjustments and re-allocations):

- i. new notes to be issued by the Company with a tenor of 5-9 years ("A2/C2 Notes");
- ii. a package of rights and instruments consisting of mandatory exchangeable bonds to be issued by the Company exchangeable into shares in Evergrande Property Services Group Limited, mandatory exchangeable bonds to be issued by the Company exchangeable into shares of China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited, mandatory convertible bonds to be issued by the Company and security linked notes to be issued by the Company (collectively, "A2/C2 Package"); or
- iii. a combination of the A2/C2 Notes and A2/C2 Package.

Class A creditors' entitlement to distribution will be on a full accrued claim basis, while Class C creditors' entitlement to distribution will be on a deficiency claim basis which means, in respect of a debt instrument, (x) the full accrued claims minus (y) the assessed value (determined pursuant to adjudication principles and procedures to be set out in the relevant scheme documents) of any related rights (whether principal, guarantee or collateral support) which are against any party who is not CEG. A similar approach will be taken to determine any net claim in respect of a put option.

#### SJ Scheme

SJ plans to implement a restructuring through, inter alia, a scheme of arrangement in the British Virgin Islands ("BVI"). Creditors under the SJ Scheme are referred to as "SJ creditors" and consist of holders of 4 series of US dollar denominated senior notes issued by SJ ("Existing SJ Notes").

SJ creditors' entitlement to distribution of scheme consideration will be on the deficiency claim basis (i.e. the full accrued claims minus the assessed value of any related rights (whether principal, guarantee or collateral support) which are (i) against any party who is not SJ or SJ subsidiary guarantors or keepwell provider but is an obligor or provides credit support; and (ii) in connection with the Existing SJ Notes.

Under the proposed SJ Scheme, each SJ creditor will be allocated a pro rata portion of the new notes to be issued by SJ in an aggregate principal amount equal to US\$6,500 million ("SJ New Notes") based on such SJ creditor's entitlement.

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

#### (i) Going concern assessment (Continued)

TJ Scheme

TJ plans to implement a debt restructuring through, inter alia, a scheme of arrangement in Hong Kong.

Creditors under the TJ Scheme are referred to as "TJ creditors". Debts included in the TJ Scheme (the "TJ Existing Debt Instruments") consist of TJ's guarantee obligations under the SJ existing notes and certain other financial indebtedness as set out in the TJ Term Sheet.

TJ creditors' entitlement to distribution scheme consideration will be on the deficiency claim basis (i.e. the full accrued claims minus the assessed value of any related rights (whether principal, guarantee or collateral support) which are (i) against any party who is not TJ but is an obligor or provides credit support; and (ii) in connection with the TJ Existing Debt Instruments).

Under the proposed TJ Scheme, each TJ creditor will be allocated a pro rata portion of the new notes to be issued by TJ in an aggregate principal amount equal to US\$800 million ("TJ New Notes") based on such TJ creditor's entitlement.

On 3 April 2023, the Company and members of the AHG (representing over 20% and 35% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Existing CEG Notes and the Existing SJ Notes respectively), among others, entered into three restructuring support agreements, namely the Class A restructuring support agreements ("Class A RSA"), SJ restructuring support agreements ("SJ RSA") and TJ restructuring support agreements ("TJ RSA"), under which the parties agreed to co-operate in order to facilitate the implementation of the Proposed Offshore Debts Restructuring.

Under the Class A RSA, the SJ RSA and the TJ RSA, each participating creditor undertakes that it shall use its beneficial interest in its debts to approve and support the Proposed Offshore Debts Restructuring on the terms and conditions of the respective restructuring support agreements.

On 3 April 2023, the Company has also launched a restructuring support agreement in relation to Class C (the "Class C RSA", together with the Class A RSA, the SJ RSA and the TJ RSA, the "RSAs"). The Class C RSA also provides that each participating creditor confirms that it shall use its beneficial interest in its debts to approve and support the Proposed Offshore Debts Restructuring on the terms and conditions of the Class C RSA.

THE THE PARTY OF T

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

#### (i) Going concern assessment (Continued)

TJ Scheme (Continued)

Together with the financial adviser, the Group has always maintained active communication with offshore creditors, and strived to obtain support from a sufficient number of relevant creditors to join and sign the restructuring support agreement as soon as possible, so as to complete the relevant legal procedures for implementing the Proposed Offshore Debts Restructuring as soon as possible.

The Board has reviewed the cash flow projections of the Group prepared by the management covering a period of not less than 12 months from 31 December 2022. In their opinion, in view of the above plans and measures, the Group will be able to adequately fund its operations and meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due within the next 12 months from 31 December 2022. Accordingly, the Board considers that the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2021 on a going concern basis is appropriate.

The management has formulated a number of plans and taken a number of measures, but the Group's ability to continue as a going concern still depends on (i) whether it can successfully complete the Proposed Offshore Debts Restructuring and (ii) whether it can successfully negotiate with the remaining lenders on the extension or deferral of the repayment of the Group's borrowings.

If the Group is unable to complete the Proposed Offshore Debt Restructuring and unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments must be made to reduce the carrying amount of the Group's assets to recoverable amounts, to provide for any future liabilities that may arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities to current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

#### (ii) New amendments to standards adopted by the Group as at 1 January 2021

The following amendments to standards are mandatory for the Group's financial year beginning on 1 January 2021 for the Group:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Covid–19—Related Rent Concessions

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group's financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

### (iii) New standards and amendments to standards that have been issued but are not effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related Amendments<sup>3</sup>
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework<sup>2</sup>

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

Its Associate or Joint Venture4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and the related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand

Clause<sup>3</sup>

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies<sup>3</sup>

Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates<sup>3</sup>

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction<sup>3</sup>

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before

Intended Use<sup>2</sup>

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts: Cost of fulfilling a contract2

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June

2021<sup>1</sup>

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2018–2020 cycle<sup>2</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
- <sup>2</sup> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
- <sup>3</sup> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023
- <sup>4</sup> Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these new or revised standards and amendments, certain of which are relevant to the Group's operations. According to the preliminary assessment made by the Group, no significant impact on the financial performance and position of the Group is expected when they become effective.

THE THE PARTY OF T

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (b) Consolidation

#### (i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group's accounting policies.

#### (ii) Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present ownership interests' proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed off as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or financial liability. Amounts classified as financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (b) Consolidation (Continued)

#### (ii) Business combinations (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

#### (iii) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

#### (iv) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

#### (v) Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company's statement of financial position, the investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (c) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting after initially being recognised at cost. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group's investments in associates include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value of the associate's identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent to 'share of post-tax loss of associates' in the income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its associate are recognised in the Group's financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor's interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in associates are recognised in the income statement.

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (d) Joint arrangements

The Group has applied HKFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under HKFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and movements in other comprehensive income. The Group's investments in joint ventures include goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in a joint venture, any difference between the cost of the joint venture and the Group's share of the net fair value of the joint venture's identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. When the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the joint ventures), the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

#### (e) Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker (CODM). The CODM who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

#### (f) Foreign currency translation

#### (i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each group entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entities operate (the "functional currency"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the functional and presentation currency of the Company.

#### (ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (f) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

#### (ii) Transactions and balances (Continued)

Foreign exchange gain and losses that relate to borrowings denominated in foreign currencies are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within 'finance costs, net'. All other foreign exchange gain and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within 'Other (losses)/gains, net'.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, are included in other comprehensive income.

#### (iii) Group entities

The results and financial positions of the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities of each statement of financial position of the group entities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;
- income and expenses of each statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
  group entities are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation
  of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and
  expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and
- all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations are taken into equity holders' equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and any impairment loss. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant and equipment, the shorter lease term as follows:

Buildings10–50 yearsMachinery3–10 yearsTransportation equipment3–10 yearsFurniture, fitting and equipment1–10 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the date of each reporting periods.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within other (losses)/gains, in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Assets under construction are stated at historical cost less impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the development of the assets which comprises construction costs, amortisation of land use rights, borrowing costs and professional fees incurred during the development period. On completion, the assets are transferred to buildings within property, plant and equipment.

No depreciation is provided for assets under construction. The carrying amount of an asset under construction is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (h) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is classified as investment property. Properties and land use right that are currently being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified as investment property.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Where fair value of investment property under construction is not reliably measurable, the property is measured at cost until the earlier of the date construction is completed or the date at which fair value becomes reliably measurable. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset's carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values of investment property are recognised in profit or loss.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied or commences to be further developed for sale, it is reclassified as property, plant and equipment and land use right or properties under development, and its fair value at the date of change in use becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment under HKAS 16. However, if a fair value gain reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in profit or loss to the extent the impairment provision previous made.

#### (i) Intangible assets

#### (i) Brand names

Brand names acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Brand names have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of brand name over its estimated useful lives less than 10 years.

#### (ii) Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The contractual customer relations have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method from 3 to 5 years over the expected life of the customer relationship.

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (i) Intangible assets (Continued)

#### (iii) Patent, proprietary technology and franchise right

Purchased patents, proprietary technology and franchise right are initially recorded at actual cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

#### (iv) Computer softwares

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 2 to 10 years.

#### (v) Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from development expenditure on the Group's proprietary brands project is recognised only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Following the initial recognition of the development expenditure, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Research and development intangible assets acquired in an asset acquisition are capitalised if they will have future economic benefits. The price paid reflects expectations about the probability that the future economic benefits of the asset will flow to the entity.

The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, or more frequently when an indication of impairment arises during a financial period.

#### (vi) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (j) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows ("cash-generating unit"). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

#### (k) Financial assets

#### (i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

- those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss), and
- those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the classification will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.

#### (ii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (k) Financial assets (Continued)

#### (iii) Debt instruments (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method.
- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets' cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI"). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit and loss accounts and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in other income using the effective interest rate method.
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at financial assets at fair value through profit or loss("FVPL"). A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss accounts and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and presented as a separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income within "Fair value gain or loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss" in the period in which it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in the other income.

#### (iv) Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group's management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group's right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the profit or loss accounts as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

#### (k) Financial assets (Continued)

#### (v) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial assets.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the assets. The provision matrix is determined based on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the trade receivables with similar credit risk characteristics and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At every reporting date the historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

Impairment of other receivables are measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.

#### (I) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty.

#### (m) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The subsequent changes in fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss within 'fair value gains or losses on derivative financial instruments'.

#### (n) Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value takes into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable variable selling expenses and anticipated cost to completion.

Development cost of property comprises mainly construction costs, cost of land use rights, borrowing costs, and professional fees incurred during the development period. On completion, the properties are transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Properties under development are classified as current assets unless those will not be realised in one normal operating cycle.

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (o) Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties remaining unsold at the end of each relevant year are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to the unsold properties.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable estimated selling expenses to make the sale.

### (p) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

### (q) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for properties sold or services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

#### (r) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalent includes cash in hand and at banks and deposits held at call with banks, other short-term high liquidity investment with original maturities of three months or less.

Bank deposits which are restricted to use are classified as "restricted cash". Restricted cash are excluded from cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statements.

### (s) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new share or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the company's share (treasury shares), the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the company's equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the company's equity holders.

THE THE PARTY OF T

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (t) Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using effective interest method.

### (u) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid to the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that part or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the respective date of each reporting periods.

#### (v) Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. Other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense, and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate differential between borrowing costs that would be incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred on foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are estimated based on forward currency rates at the inception of the borrowings.

When the construction of the qualifying assets takes more than one accounting period, the amount of foreign exchange differences eligible for capitalisation is determined for each annual period and are limited to the difference between the hypothetical interest amount for the functional currency borrowings and the actual interest incurred for foreign currency borrowings. Foreign exchange differences that did not meet the criteria for capitalisation in previous years should not be capitalised in subsequent years.

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (w) Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

#### (i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the date of each reporting periods in the countries where the Group's entities operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

#### (ii) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the date of each reporting periods and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

#### Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associate and joint ventures, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference for its associate, only where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

### (iii) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (x) Employee benefits

#### (i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the date of each reporting periods.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

#### (ii) Retirement benefits

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group participate in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal and provincial governments in the PRC under which the Group and the PRC based employees are required to make monthly contributions to these plans calculated at a percentage of the employees' salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and future retired PRC based employees' payable under the plans described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement and other post retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans are held separately from those of the Group in independently administrated funds managed by the PRC government.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance ("MPF Scheme") for all employees in Hong Kong, which is a defined contribution retirement scheme. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees' relevant aggregate income. The assets of this pension scheme are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds.

The Group's contributions to the defined contribution retirement schemes are expensed as incurred.

#### (iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after date of each reporting periods are discounted to present value.

### (y) Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments ("options") of the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the options is recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (y) Share-based payments (Continued)

- (i) including any market performance conditions (for example, an entity's share price);
- (ii) excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability, sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and
- (iii) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for example, the requirement for employees to save).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to vest. The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The cash subscribed for the shares issued when the options are exercised is credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium, net of any directly attributable transaction costs.

The options granted by the Company over its equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group are treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.

#### (z) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (aa) Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sales of properties and services in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown, net of discount and after eliminated sales with the group entities. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probably that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities as described below.

#### (i) Sales of properties

Revenue are recognised when or as the control of the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and laws that apply to the contract, control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time if the Group's performance:

- Provides all the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer; or
- Creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or
- Do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation is measured based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance obligation, by reference to the contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting period as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

For property sales contract for which the control of the property is transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when the customer accepts the property or the customers are deemed to have accepted the property and the Group has present right to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable and construction completion certificate is obtained or property inventory has been delivered to property owners for use.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing component if it is significant.

#### (ii) Property management

Revenue arising from property management is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.

#### (iii) Construction services

For construction services, the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset or work in progress that the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced, thus the Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, by reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual costs incurred up to the end of the reporting period as a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (aa) Revenue recognition (Continued)

### (iv) Hotel operations

Hotel revenue from room rentals, food and beverage sales and other ancillary services are recognised when the goods are delivered or services are rendered.

#### (v) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. When a receivable impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cashflow discounted at original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

#### (vi) Rental income

Rental income of property leasing under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

#### (vii) Income from medical cosmetology and health management

Income from medical cosmetology and health management are recognised when the services have been rendered to customers. The period of these services rendered is usually within a day.

### (ab) Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group.

The Group leases various offices and commercial properties. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 10 years but may have extension options as described in (ii) below. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable,
- variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate,
- amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees,

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (ab) Leases (Continued)

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received
- uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not have recent third party financing, and
- makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT-equipment and small items of office furniture.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability,
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received,
- any initial direct costs, and
- restoration costs.

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (ab) Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset which was recognised as investment properties is carried at fair value at each reporting date after initial recognition and others being included in property and equipment is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a purchase option.

#### (i) Variable lease payments

Variable lease payments based on an index or a rate are initially measured using the index or the rate at the commencement date. The Group do not forecast future changes of the index/rate; these changes are taken into account when the lease payments change. Variable lease payments that are not based on an index or a rate are not part of the lease liability, but they are recognised in profit or loss when the events or conditions that triggers those payments occurs.

#### (ii) Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment leases of the Group. These terms are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable upon fulfilment of certain notice period. In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise such options. The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term (Note 9). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the consolidated statement of financial position based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.

#### (ac) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the equity holders of the Company is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the equity holders or the board of directors, where appropriate.

### (ad) Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

.....

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

### (ad) Government grants (Continued)

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. Government grants are deducted in reporting the related expenses, when appropriate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are charged against carrying amount of related assets or recognised as deferred income. If it is recognised as deferred income, it will credit to the relevant assets when it is ready for use and included in profit or loss over the useful life of related assets.

### (ae) Financial guarantee liabilities

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised in respect of the financial guarantee provided by the Group to the banks for property purchasers.

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee liabilities. After initial recognition, such liabilities are measured at the higher of the present value of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation of fees recognised.

Financial guarantee liabilities are derecognised from the consolidated statement of financial position when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired.

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

#### (a) Financial risk factor

The Group's major financial instruments include cash and bank deposits, trade and other receivables, FVOCI, FVPL, trade and other payables, derivative financial liabilities and borrowings. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

### (a) Financial risk factor (Continued)

### (i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB, except that certain receipts of sales proceeds and borrowings are denominated in other currencies. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the respective dates of each reporting periods are as follows:

	31 December		
	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million	
Monetary assets			
- HK\$	17,800	7,574	
— US\$ — EURO	1,599 524	10,484 666	
- Others	972	409	
	20,895	19,133	
Monetary liabilities			
- HK\$	36,021	20,901	
<ul><li>US\$</li><li>EURO</li></ul>	159,428 240	158,073 —	
	195,689	178,974	

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% change in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. If there is a 5% increase/decrease in RMB against the relevant currencies, the effect of decrease/(increase) in loss for the year (2020: increase/(decrease) in the profit for the year) is as follows:

	31 December			
	2021			
	RMB million	RMB million		
5% appreciation in RMB against HK\$	683	500		
5% depreciation in RMB against HK\$	(683)	(500)		
5% appreciation in RMB against US\$	5,919	5,535		
5% depreciation in RMB against US\$	(5,919)	(5,535)		
5% appreciation in RMB against EURO	(11)	(25)		
5% depreciation in RMB against EURO	11	25		

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

### (a) Financial risk factor (Continued)

#### (ii) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest-bearing assets and liabilities are mainly restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings. The Group's exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly attributable to its long term borrowings. Borrowings at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest-rate risk.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rate on borrowings at variable rates had been 100 basis point higher/lower with all variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 would increase/decrease by approximately RMB1,113 million (2020: post-tax profit decrease/increase by approximately RMB925 million), mainly as a result of more/less interest expenses on borrowings at variable rates.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.

#### (iii) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade and other receivables and cash deposits with bank.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, restricted cash and cash and cash equivalents represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

Cash transactions are limited to high-credit-quality institutions. Deposits are only placed with reputable banks.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit sales are made to customers with an sufficient financial strength and appropriate percentage of down payment. The Group closely monitors the collection of progress payments from customers in accordance with payment schedule agreed with customers and follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts, if any.

Meanwhile, the Group has the right to cancel the contracts once repayment from the customers is in default; it also has monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up actions are taken to recover overdue balances. In addition, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade and other receivables to ensure that adequate impairment provisions are made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, with exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with the customers' borrowing of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of properties for an amount up to 70% of the total purchase price of the property. Detailed disclosure of these guarantees is made in note 36. If a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage loan during the guarantee period, the bank holding the guarantee may demand the Group to repay the outstanding principal of the loan and any interest accrued thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is able to retain the customer's deposit and resell the property to recover the amounts paid by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

### (a) Financial risk factor (Continued)

#### (iii) Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement records and past experience. The directors believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group's outstanding balance of other receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

- internal credit rating
- external credit rating
- actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change to the borrower's ability to meet its obligations
- actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the borrower
- significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same borrower
- significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of the borrower.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category of receivables and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

#### Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses of trade receivables, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days of initial recognition.

The loss allowance provision of trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 is set out in note 13.

.....

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

### (a) Financial risk factor (Continued)

### (iii) Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables

Other financial assets at amortised cost include other receivables from third parties and related parties. The Group has assessed that the expected credit losses for these receivables under the 12 months expected losses method.

Management considered other receivables from third parties and related parties to be low credit risk as they have a low risk of default and a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

The expected loss rate of other receivables which are deposit in nature, such as deposits for acquisition of land use right, construction projects and borrowings, is assessed to be near to zero and no loss allowance provision is made for these deposits during the period.

To measure the expected credit losses of other receivables other than deposits, other receivables excluding deposits have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

#### Loss allowance provision movement

As at 31 December 2021, the loss allowance provision for trade and other receivables reconciles to the opening loss allowance for that provision as follows:

	Trade	Other	
	receivables	receivables	Total
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
Balance as at 1 January 2020	164	1,742	1,906
Provision for loss allowance recognised in profit or			
loss for the year	77	211	288
Balance as at 31 December 2020	241	1,953	2,194
Provision for loss allowance recognised in profit or			
loss for the year	7,250	43,126	50,376
Receivable written off during the year as uncollectible	(1,679)	_	(1,679)
Acquisition of subsidiaries	67	_	67
Disposal of subsidiaries	(2,450)	(4,560)	(7,010)
Balance as at 31 December 2021	3,429	40,519	43,948

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

### (a) Financial risk factor (Continued)

### (iv) Liquidity risk

Management strives to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents or have available funding through an adequate amount of available financing, including proceeds from pre-sale of properties, committed credit facilities and short-term and long-term borrowings to meet its construction commitments. However, as stated in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, due to the financial difficulties faced by the Group, during the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not able to repay certain liabilities when due during the year ended December 31 2021 and thereafter. The Group undertook a number of measures to mitigate the current difficulties in liquidity.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the date of each reporting periods to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscount cash flows.

		Between	Between		
	Less than	1 and	2 and	Over	
	1 year	2 years	5 years	5 years	Total
	RMB million				
At 31 December 2021					
	600 440	C 40C			COE 044
Borrowings	689,418	6,496	_	_	695,914
Trade and other					
payables*	888,631	5,792	1,669	1,311	897,403
	1,578,049	12,288	1,669	1,311	1,593,317
At 31 December 2020					
Borrowings	383,776	189,406	226,116	14,013	813,311
Trade and other	,	,	,	,	,
payables*	793,339	4,636	1,983	1,806	801,764
	1,177,115	194,042	228,099	15,819	1,615,075

<sup>\*</sup> Excluding staff welfare benefit payable, other taxes payable and deferred income from grants.

.....

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

### (a) Financial risk factor (Continued)

### (iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts have not included financial guarantee contracts:

- which the Group could be required to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee for loans procured by the purchasers of the Group's properties (note 36). Such guarantees terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will generally be available within an average period of two to three years upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of properties;
- which the Group makes for its cooperation parties, joint ventures and an associate's bank borrowings (note 36). Such guarantees terminate upon the repayment of relevant bank borrowings.

The Group considers that it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the arrangement.

### (b) Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for equity owners and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to equity owners, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total assets, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

	31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Total borrowings (note 23)	607,377	716,532	
Total assets	2,107,096	2,301,159	
Gearing ratio	28.8%	31.1%	

### 4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

### (c) Fair value estimation

- (i) The different levels of fair value estimation have been defined as follows:
  - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).
  - Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).
  - Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value:

	<b>Level 1</b> RMB million	<b>Level 2</b> RMB million	<b>Level 3</b> RMB million	<b>Total</b> RMB million
At 31 December 2021				
Assets				
FVOCI	970	_	603	1,573
FVPL	3,915		19,572	23,487
Total assets	4,885		20,175	25,060
Liabilities				
Contingent consideration payable	_	_	58	58
At 31 December 2020				
Assets				
FVOCI	655	_	757	1,412
FVPL	922	_	10,503	11,425
Total assets	1,577	_	11,260	12,837

The carrying amount less impairment provisions of trade and other receivables and the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate their fair value due to their short maturities. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

THE THE PARTY OF T

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated financial statements are evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

### (a) Assessment of net realisable value of properties under development and completed properties held for sale

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of properties under development and completed properties held for sale amounted to RMB1,263,410 million (2020: RMB1,257,908 million) and RMB190,303 million (2020: RMB148,473 million) respectively, which in total accounted for approximately 69% (2020: 61%) of the Group's total assets. The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties under development and completed properties held for sale according to their net realisable values based on the realisability of these properties. Net realisable value for properties under development is determined by reference to management's estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions, less applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to completion. Net realisable value for completed properties held for sale is determined by reference to management's estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions, less applicable variable selling expenses. Based on management's best estimates, write-down of carrying amounts of properties under development and completed properties held for sale amounted to RMB46,048 million as at 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB3,224 million).

### (b) Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using valuation technique. Details of the judgement and assumptions have been disclosed in note 9.

#### (c) Impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible assets

#### (i) Goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 3(i)(vi). The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based on fair value less cost of disposals and value-in-use calculations. These calculations require use of estimates (note 10).

#### (ii) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events of changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Intangible assets not ready to use- not subject to amortisation, are tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amounts have been determined based on value-in-use calculations or market valuations. These calculations require use of judgements and estimates (note 11).

### 5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (Continued)

### (c) Impairment assessment on goodwill and intangible assets (Continued)

### (ii) Intangible assets (Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred that may indicate that the related asset value may not be recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value less cost of disposal or net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset in the business; and (iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing cash flow projections including whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by management in assessing impairment, including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net present value in the impairment test and as a result affect the Group's financial condition and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change in the projected performance and resulting future cash flow projections, it may be necessary to take an impairment charge to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

### (d) PRC corporate income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group's subsidiaries that operate in the PRC are subject to income tax in the PRC. Judgement is required in determining the provision for income tax and withholding tax on unremitted earnings of PRC subsidiaries. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters (including the effect of change in the dividend policies of PRC subsidiaries) is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences and tax losses are recognised when management considers to be probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be different.

#### (e) PRC land appreciation taxes

The Group is subject to land appreciation taxes in the PRC. However, the implementation and settlement of LAT varies among various tax jurisdictions in cities of the PRC, and the Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with local tax authorities in the PRC for most of its property projects. Accordingly, judgement is required in determining the amount of the land appreciation taxes. The Group recognised these land appreciation taxes based on management's best estimates according to the interpretation of the tax rules. The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and these differences will impact the income tax expense and tax provisions in the periods in which such taxes have been finalised with local tax authorities.

### (f) Expected credit loss of financial assets

The expected credit loss for financial assets are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group's past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in note 4(a)(iii).

.....

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### **6 SEGMENT INFORMATION**

The chief operating decision-maker ("CODM") of the Group has been identified as the executive directors of the Company who are responsible for reviewing the Group's internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate resources. Management has determined the operating segments based on these reports. The Group is organised into four business segments: property development, property investment, property management and other businesses. Other businesses mainly include new energy vehicle business, cultural tourism business, health industry business and investment business. As the CODM of the Group considers most of the revenue and results of the Group are attributable to the market in the PRC, and only an immaterial part (less than 10%) of the Group's assets are located outside the PRC, no geographical segment information is presented.

The directors of the Company assess the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of segment results. Impairment losses on financial assets, fair value gains or losses on FVPL, fair value gains or losses on derivative financial liabilities, dividend income of FVOCI and finance cost and income are not included in the result for each operating segment.

### 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment results and other segment items included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

	Property development RMB million	investment	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million	Group RMB million
Gross segment revenue Inter-segment revenue	226,149 —	782 —	13,193 (2,669)	22,649 (10,091)	262,773 (12,760)
Revenue	226,149	782	10,524	12,558	250,013
Revenue from contracts with customers					
<ul><li>Recognised at a point in time</li><li>Recognised over time</li></ul>	226,149 —	_	726 9,798	2,930 9,628	229,805 19,426
Revenue from other sources  — Rental income	-	782	_	_	782
Share of post-tax (losses)/profits					
of associates Share of post-tax losses of joint	(23)	_	3	(54)	(74)
ventures	(496)	_	_	(19,152)	(19,648)
Segment results	(517,135)	(32,981)	(156)	(603)	(550,875)
Impairment losses on financial assets Fair value losses on FVPL					(50,376) (1,936)
Fair value loss on contingent consideration payables					(2,555)
Fair value loss on financial guarantee Finance costs, net					(51,530) (41,623)
Loss before income tax Income tax credit					(698,895) 12,676
Loss for the year					(686,219)
Depreciation and amortisation	9,364	_	386	2,424	12,174
Fair value loss on investment properties, net	_	(31,267)	_	_	(31,267)

.....

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

The segment results and other segment items included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:

		Property		
Property	Property	management	Other	
				Group
RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
494 550	1 684	10.509	36 417	543,160
-	(409)	(3,954)	(31,549)	(35,912)
494,550	1,275	6,555	4,868	507,248
494,550	_	129	2,894	497,573
_	_	6,426	1,974	8,400
	4.075			4 075
	1,275			1,275
17	_	_	400	417
(242)	_	_	(1,554)	(1,796)
69,329	3,042	3,516	(7,277)	68,610
				(288)
				11
				(31)
				2,183 (2,240)
				68,245
				(36,845)
				31,400
3,235	_	18	2,094	5,347
_	1,278	_	_	1,278
	development RMB million  494,550  494,550  494,550   17  (242)  69,329	development RMB million         investment RMB million           494,550         1,684 (409)           494,550         1,275           494,550         —           —         —           —         —           69,329         3,042           3,235         —	Property development RMB million         Property investment investment RMB million         management services RMB million           494,550         1,684 (409)         10,509 (3,954)           494,550         1,275         6,555           494,550         —         129 (6,426)           —         1,275         —           17         —         —           69,329         3,042         3,516           3,235         —         18	Property development RMB million         Property investment investment RMB million         management services services RMB million         Other businesses RMB million           494,550         1,684 (409)         10,509 (3,954)         36,417 (31,549)           494,550         1,275         6,555         4,868           494,550         —         129 (2,894)           —         6,426         1,974           —         1,275         —         —           17         —         —         400           (242)         —         —         (1,554)           69,329         3,042         3,516         (7,277)           3,235         —         18         2,094

### 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 are as follows:

			Property		
	Property	Property	management	Other	
	development	investment	services	businesses	Group
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
Compant accets	4 000 040	60.200	6 500	07 677	0.054.070
Segment assets	1,888,340	69,328	6,528	87,677	2,051,873
Unallocated assets					55,223
Total assets					2,107,096
Segment assets include:					
Interest in associates	3,679	_	21	15,346	19,046
Interest in joint ventures	13,709	_	8	498	14,215
interest in joint ventures	10,703			430	17,210
Segment liabilities	1,824,358	_	8,507	45,255	1,878,120
Unallocated liabilities	1,021,000		-,	10,200	702,030
Total liabilities					2,580,150
	0 004	2,981	334	15,900	28,019
Capital expenditure  Segment assets and liabilities as at 31	8,804 December 2020 a				
		re as follows:  Property investment	Property management services	Other businesses	Group
	December 2020 a	re as follows:	Property management	Other	Group RMB million
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31	December 2020 a Property development RMB million	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million	RMB million
	December 2020 a Property development	re as follows:  Property investment	Property management services	Other businesses	
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets	December 2020 a Property development RMB million	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million	RMB million 2,266,045
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets	December 2020 a Property development RMB million	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million	RMB million 2,266,045
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets	December 2020 a Property development RMB million	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million	2,266,045 35,114
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include:	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million 239,661	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include: Interest in associates	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million 239,661	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include:	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million 239,661	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include: Interest in associates Interest in joint ventures	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million 14,631	Other businesses RMB million 239,661 49,821 20,953	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159 56,457 35,813
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include: Interest in associates	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million	Other businesses RMB million 239,661	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include: Interest in associates Interest in joint ventures  Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million 14,631	Other businesses RMB million 239,661 49,821 20,953	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159 56,457 35,813 1,024,198
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include: Interest in associates Interest in joint ventures  Segment liabilities	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million 14,631	Other businesses RMB million 239,661 49,821 20,953	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159 56,457 35,813 1,024,198
Segment assets and liabilities as at 31  Segment assets Unallocated assets  Total assets  Segment assets include: Interest in associates Interest in joint ventures  Segment liabilities Unallocated liabilities	Property development RMB million 1,845,903	Property investment RMB million	Property management services RMB million 14,631	Other businesses RMB million 239,661 49,821 20,953	2,266,045 35,114 2,301,159 56,457 35,813 1,024,198 926,530

......

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Sales between segments are carried out at agreed terms amongst relevant parties. The revenue from external parties reported to the management is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, properties under development, completed properties held for sale, receivables, contract acquisition costs, prepayments and cash balances. They exclude deferred income tax assets, income tax recoverable, FVOCI and FVPL.

Segment liabilities consist of operating liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise taxation, borrowings and contingent consideration payables.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment, investment properties, right-of-use assets, land use rights and intangible assets.

Reportable segment assets are reconciled to total assets as follows:

	31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Segment assets	2,051,873	2,266,045	
Unallocated:			
Income tax recoverable	30,015	16,334	
Deferred income tax assets	148	5,943	
FVOCI	1,573	1,412	
FVPL	23,487	11,425	
Total assets per consolidated statement of financial position	2,107,096	2,301,159	

Reportable segment liabilities are reconciled to total liabilities as follows:

	31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Segment liabilities	1,878,120	1,024,198	
Segment liabilities	1,070,120	1,024,190	
Unallocated:			
Current income tax liabilities	50,795	156,856	
Deferred income tax liabilities	43,800	53,142	
Borrowings	607,377	716,532	
Contingent consideration payables	58	_	
Total liabilities pay cappalidated statement of financial position	0 590 150	1 050 700	
Total liabilities per consolidated statement of financial position	2,580,150	1,950,728	

No material revenues are derived from any single external customer (2020: none).

### 7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

				Furniture,		
			Transportation	Fitting and	Construction	
	Buildings	Machinery	equipment	equipment	in progress	Total
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
Year ended 31 December 2020						
Opening net book amount	21,242	2,474	1,826	4,497	25,759	55,798
Additions	465	102	45	370	9,654	10,636
Acquisition of subsidiaries	1	_	_	_	_	1
Transfer from construction in						·
progress to property, plant and						
equipment	983	5	1	337	(1,326)	_
Transfer from properties under					( , ,	
development	_	_	_	_	12,939	12,939
Disposal of subsidiaries	(641)	(91)	_	(1)	, <u> </u>	(733)
Disposals			(6)	(5)	_	(11)
Depreciation	(1,168)	(378)	(329)	(937)	_	(2,812)
Currency difference	(54)	(23)		(10)		(87)
Closing net book amount	20,828	2,089	1,537	4,251	47,026	75,731
At 31 December 2020						
Cost	26,201	2,839	2,970	10,051	47,026	89,087
Accumulated depreciation	(5,373)	(750)	(1,433)	(5,800)		(13,356)
Accumulated depreciation	(0,070)	(750)	(1,400)	(5,600)		(13,330)
Net book amount	20,828	2,089	1,537	4,251	47,026	75,731
Year ended 31 December 2021						
Opening net book amount	20,828	2,089	1,537	4,251	47,026	75,731
Additions	7,055	2,549	316	565	10,517	21,002
Acquisition of subsidiaries	1,389	4	27	233	3	1,656
Transfer from construction in						
progress to property, plant and						
equipment	477	127	1	59	(664)	_
Disposal of subsidiaries	(206)	(1)	(3)	(8)	(445)	(663)
Disposals	(2,528)	(703)	(892)	(2,646)		(8,358)
Depreciation	(6,020)	(1,023)	(294)	(965)		(8,302)
Government grants	_	(10)	_	_	(200)	(210)
Impairment	(2,579)	(166)	_	(92)		(6,794)
Currency difference	(116)	(44)		(5)	(4)	(169)
Closing net book amount	18,300	2,822	692	1,392	50,687	73,893
At 31 December 2021						
Cost	32,272	4,761	2,419	8,249	54,644	102,345
Accumulated depreciation and	, <b>-</b>	.,. • :	_, 0	٥,= ١٠	,	- 3-,
impairment	(13,972)	(1,939)	(1,727)	(6,857)	(3,957)	(28,452)
Net book amount	18,300	2,822	692	1,392	50,687	73,893

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Depreciation charge of the Group was included in the following categories in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

	Year ended 3	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020		
	RMB million	RMB million		
Cost of sales	6,423	796		
Selling and marketing costs	195	128		
Administrative expenses	1,684	1,888		
	8,302	2,812		

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group capitalised finance costs amounting to RMB308 million (2020: RMB1,675 million) on the construction in progress. Borrowing costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate of its general borrowings of 10.38% (2020: 9.46%).

As at 31 December 2021, the management of the Group identified impairment indicators of certain CGUs in (i) the cultural and tourism city construction and operation and (ii) hotel operations as a result of deterioration in economic conditions in certain regions and carried out an impairment review on the CGUs' non-current assets, mainly property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. The recoverable amounts of those CGUs, to which these assets were belonged, were determined as the higher of fair value less cost to sell and its value-in-use.

In determining the fair value less costs of disposal of certain property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of the Group, either market approach or depreciated replacement cost approach, where appropriate, are adopted. The fair value measurement of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Key assumptions used include price per room (ranging from RMB232 per room to RMB1,029 per room) and occupancy rate (ranging from 10% to 74%). For individual CGUs with impairment indicators, the value-in-use calculation used cash flow projections based on financial forecasts approved by management. As a result, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets relating to these CGUs were written down to their recoverable amounts and impairment losses of RMB7,050 million and RMB36 million were recognised respectively. The key assumptions used in value-in-use calculation are as follow:

#### **Assumptions**

### 2021

Idle rate 10%–73%
Pre-tax discount rate 7%–7.5%

The management determined the budgeted revenue growth rate and profit rate based on past performance and its expectation for market development. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs. Cash flows beyond the forecast period are extrapolated using growth rate of 2%, which does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.

### 7 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

For the construction-in-progress, the management determined the fair value less costs of disposal based on the market approach. The key assumptions applied in the impairment tests include the unit price per square meter, ranging from RMB708/square meter to RMB7,000/square meter.

As at 31 December 2021, property, plant and equipment of RMB35,060 million (2020: RMB7,802 million) were pledged as collateral for the Group's bank borrowings (note 23).

### **8 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS**

	Land use rights RMB million	Lease properties RMB million	<b>Total</b> RMB million
Year ended 31 December 2020			
Opening net book amount Additions Acquisition of subsidiaries Disposals Amortisation	11,849 1,227 3,323 — (295)	1,704 1,905 — (135) (1,017)	13,553 3,132 3,323 (135) (1,312)
Closing net book amount	16,104	2,457	18,561
Year ended 31 December 2021			
Opening net book amount Additions Disposal of subsidiaries Disposals Transfer to property under development Impairment Amortisation	16,104 2,189 (931) (1,358) (45) — (1,248)	2,457 663 (13) (554) — (36) (1,001)	18,561 2,852 (944) (1,912) (45) (36) (2,249)
Closing net book amount	14,711	1,516	16,227

Land use rights comprise cost of acquiring rights to use certain land, which are principally located in the PRC, for hotel buildings, self-use buildings and self-operating properties over fixed periods.

.....

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 9 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

	Year ended 31 December			
	2021	2020		
	RMB million	RMB million		
Opening net book amount	165,850	162,556		
Additions	2,981	7,674		
Disposals	(18,296)	(5,012)		
Disposals of subsidiaries	(8,766)	_		
Transfer to properties under development	(40,940)	_		
Fair value gains on investment properties, net	(31,267)	1,278		
Currency translation differences	(234)	(646)		
Closing net book amount	69,328	165,850		
Comprise of:				
Completed	61,087	155,537		
Under construction	8,241	10,313		

As at 31 December 2021, investment properties of RMB18,825 million (2020: RMB18,573 million) were pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings (note 23).

Borrowing costs of RMB49 million (2020: RMB485 million) had been capitalised in investment properties under construction for the year ended 31 December 2021. The capitalisation rate of borrowing costs for the year ended 31 December 2021 was 10.38% (2020: 9.46%).

### (a) Valuation processes of the Group

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value. The fair value of the Group's investment properties has been determined on the basis of valuation carried out by Greater China Appraisal (Shanghai) Limited, an independent and professionally qualified valuer.

Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the management and the valuer at least once every six months, in line with the Group's interim and annual reporting dates.

### 9 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

### (b) Valuation techniques

Valuations were based on either:

- (i) direct comparison approach is adopted assuming sale of each of these properties in its existing state with the benefit of vacant possession. By making reference to sales transactions as available in the relevant market, comparable properties in close proximity have been selected and adjustments have been made to account for the difference in factors such as location and property size.
- (ii) income approach takes into account the current rents of the property interests and the reversionary potentials of the tenancies, term yield and reversionary yield are then applied respectively to derive the market value of the property.
- (iii) residual method of valuation which is commonly used in valuing development sites by establishing the market value of the properties on an "as-if" completed basis with appropriate deduction on construction costs, professional fees, contingency, marketing and legal cost, and interest payments to be incurred, anticipated developer's profits, as well as land acquisition costs.

### (c) Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3)

	Property category	Fair value as at 31 December 2021 RMB million	Valuation techniques	Unobservable inputs	Range of unobservable inputs
Completed investment properties	Commercial properties	44,529	Direct comparison method	Market price (RMB/square meter)	1,572–280,442
	Car park space	16,558	Direct comparison method	Market price (RMB/per car park)	27,000–1,830,000
Investment properties under construction	Commercial properties	8,195	Residual method	Market price (RMB/square meter) Anticipated developer's profit margin	3,706–79,483 9.2%
	Car park space	46	Residual method	Market price (RMB/per car park) Anticipated developer's profit margin	408,500 9.2%

.....

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 9 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c) Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)

		Fair value as at			Range of
	Property category	31 December 2020 RMB million	Valuation techniques	Unobservable inputs	unobservable inputs
Completed investment properties	Commercial properties	30,817	Income capitalisation	Terminal yield	2.40%-6.00%
properties	properties			Reversionary yield	2.40%-6.00%
				Capitalisation rates	2.40%-6.00%
				Expected vacancy rate	0.00%-20.00%
				Monthly rental (RMB/square meter/month)	23–740
		78,200	Direct comparison	Market price (RMB/square meter)	5,088–105,405
	Car park	46,520	Direct comparison	Market price (RMB/per car park)	45,000–580,000
Investment properties under construction	Commercial properties	10,310	Residual method	Market price (RMB/square meter)	5,100–73,900
diadi dellatidation	ргорогиоз			Anticipated developer's profit margin	5.00%-10.00%
	Car park	3	Residual method	Market price (RMB/per car park)	85,500
				Anticipated developer's profit margin	10%

### 9 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

(c) Information about fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (level 3) (Continued)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value:

- The higher terminal and reversionary yield, the lower fair value;
- The higher capitalisation rate, the lower fair value;
- The higher expected vacancy, the lower fair value;
- The higher monthly rental, the higher fair value;
- The higher market price, the higher fair value;
- The higher budgeted construction cost to be incurred, the lower fair value;
- The higher the anticipated developer's profit margin, the lower fair value.

### (d) The following amounts have been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Rental income	782	1,275	
Direct operating expenses arising from investment properties that generate			
rental income	(271)	(110)	

The future aggregate minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

	31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Not later than one year	613	1,430	
Later than one year and not later than five years	956	1,075	
Later than five years	568	662	
	2,137	3,167	

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the investment properties are mainly located in the PRC and have lease periods less than 20 years.

......

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 10 GOODWILL

	New energy			
	vehicle	Other	T.4.1	
	business	businesses	Total	
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	
Year ended 31 December 2021				
Opening net book amount	6,244	1,578	7,822	
Acquired from business combination (note 40)	_	1,699	1,699	
Impairment charge (notes (b) and (c))	(5,297)	(1,195)	(6,492)	
Disposal	(288)	(921)	(1,209)	
Currency difference	(659)		(659)	
Closing net book amount	_	1,161	1,161	
Year ended 31 December 2020				
Opening net book amount	6,193	1,595	7,788	
Acquired from business combination (note 40)	_	57	57	
Impairment charge (notes (b) and (c))	(232)	(74)	(306)	
Currency difference	283		283	
Closing net book amount	6,244	1,578	7,822	

For the purpose of goodwill impairment testing, the carrying value of goodwill is allocated to the related CGU or groups of CGUs which are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business combination.

The recoverable amount of a CGU or a group of CGUs is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. The corresponding impairment loss of a CGU or a group of CGUs will not be recognised if either the fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset is higher than the carrying value.

Based on management's impairment assessment, an impairment loss of RMB5,297 million (2020: RMB232 million) was recognised for the new energy vehicle business for the year ended 31 December 2021.

(a) The goodwill of other businesses mainly represents goodwill arose from acquisition of other listed companies.

### 10 GOODWILL (Continued)

### (b) Impairment tests for goodwill arose from acquisition of new energy vehicle business

The following table sets out the key assumptions for those CGUs of new energy vehicle business that have significant goodwill allocated to them:

	New energy vehicle manufacturing	New energy battery manufacturing
Goodwill allocated (RMB'000)	nil	nil
Basis of determining the CGUs' recoverable amount	Value in use	Value in use
Fair value valuation techniques	Discounted cash flow	Discounted cash flow
Independent valuers	Greater China	Greater China
	Appraisal (Shanghai)	Appraisal (Shanghai)
	Limited	Limited
Years of forecast period	10	5
Revenue growth rate during the forecast period (%)	3%-718%	3%-1774%
Terminal growth rate (%)	3.00%	3.00%
Discount rate (%)	17.00%	19.00%

Management has determined the values assigned to each of the above key assumptions as follows:

Assumption	Approach used to determine values
Revenue growth rate	Average annual revenue growth rate over the forecast period was based on management's expectations of market development.
Terminal growth rate	This is the weighted average growth rate used to extrapolate cash flows beyond the budget period. The rates are consistent with forecasts included in industry reports.
Discount rate	Reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments and the countries in which they operate.

### (c) Impairment tests for goodwill arose from acquisition of property management business

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired seven (2020: five) property management companies at aggregate consideration of RMB2,168 million (2020: RMB61 million). The excess of the acquisition consideration over the identifiable net assets acquired of RMB1,699 million (2020: RMB57 million) is accounted for as goodwill. The independent valuer has conducted valuation to determine fair values of relevant intangible assets.

Based on management's assessment, impairment provision of RMB594 million (2020: nil) was recognised for goodwill as at 31 December 2021.

......

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 10 GOODWILL (Continued)

### (c) Impairment tests for goodwill arose from acquisition of property management business (Continued)

Greater China (Shanghai) Appraisal Limited, an independent professional valuer, has reviewed the value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2021

Expected revenue growth rate Pre-tax discount rate Terminal growth rate -6.7%-14.9% 14.5%-18.5%

2%-3%

Values allocated to the above key assumptions are consistent with external information.

If the expected growth rate used in the cash flow projections of the cash generating unit is 1% lower than management's estimate, the value-in-use of the cash generating unit would be approximately RMB118 million lower than the estimated amount.

If the expected growth rate used in the cash flow projections of the cash generating unit is 1% higher than management's estimate, the value-in-use of the cash generating unit would be approximately RMB107 million lower than the estimated amount.

If the expected growth rate used in the cash flow projections of the cash generating unit is 1% lower than management's estimate, the value-in-use of the cash generating unit would be approximately RMB65 million lower than the estimated amount.

### 11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

		New energy vehic	e business		Other businesses	
	Research and development costs	Patent, proprietary technology and franchise rights RMB million	<b>Others</b> RMB million	<b>Total</b> RMB million	Others RMB million	<b>Total</b> RMB million
Year ended 31 December 2021						
Cost	7,013	5,515	217	12,745	2,804	15,549
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	(2,445)	(3,570)	(205)	(6,220)	(1,227)	(7,447)
Net book amount	4,568	1,945	12	6,525	1,577	8,102
Opening net book amount	6,318	3,788	138	10,244	452	10,696
Acquired from business combination	_	_	_	_	1,133	1,133
Additions	103	10	53	166	1,018	1,184
Disposals	_	(183)	(3)	(186)	(109)	(295)
Amortisations	(349)	(340)	(17)	(706)	(917)	(1,623)
Impairment losses (note a)	(1,462)	(1,314)	(159)	(2,935)	_	(2,935)
Currency difference	(42)	(16)	_	(58)	_	(58)
Closing book amount	4,568	1,945	12	6,525	1,577	8,102
Year ended 31 December 2020						
Cost	6,952	5,713	168	12,833	658	13,491
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	(634)	(1,925)	(30)	(2,589)	(206)	(2,795)
Net book amount	6,318	3,788	138	10,244	452	10,696
Opening net book amount	2,774	4,900	83	7,757	203	7,960
Acquired from business combination	_	_	_	_	62	62
Additions	4,056	314	72	4,442	261	4,703
Disposals	_	_	(5)	(5)	(6)	(11)
Amortisations	(377)	(766)	(12)	(1,155)	(68)	(1,223)
Impairment losses (note a)	(135)	(673)	_	(808)	_	(808)
Currency difference	_	13	_	13	_	13
Closing book amount	6,318	3,788	138	10,244	452	10,696

......

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

### (a) Impairment loss

The Group made impairment to intangible assets that were un-utilised and not able to generate future economic benefits. The whole amount was recognised as administrative expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Based on management's assessment, an impairment loss of RMB2,935 million was recognised for the new energy vehicle business for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: RMB808 million).

Amortisation charge of the Group was included in the following categories in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Cost of sales	1,015	135	
Selling and marketing costs	243	18	
Administrative expenses	365	1,070	
	1,623	1,223	

### 12 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

### (a) Properties under development

	31 Dece	31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Duan autica un deu de velenceant aux acts d'to les committes d			
Properties under development expected to be completed			
with one operating cycle included under current assets	1,263,410	1,257,908	
Properties under development comprise:			
<ul> <li>Construction costs and capitalised expenditures</li> </ul>	563,650	485,538	
<ul> <li>Interests capitalised</li> </ul>	133,129	169,772	
Land use rights	566,631	602,598	
	1,263,410	1,257,908	

### 12 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT AND COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

#### (a) Properties under development (Continued)

All the properties under development are expected to be completed within one operating cycle.

The properties under development include costs of acquiring rights to use certain lands, which are principally located in the PRC, for property development over fixed periods. Land use rights are held on leases of between 40 to 70 years.

As at 31 December 2021, properties under development of approximately RMB275,439 million (2020: RMB303,364 million) were pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings (note 23).

The capitalisation rate of borrowing costs for the year ended 31 December 2021 is 10.38% (2020: 9.46%)

#### (b) Completed properties held for sale

All completed properties held for sale are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2021, completed properties held for sale of approximately RMB17,345 million (2020: RMB8,201 million) were pledged as collateral for the Group's borrowings (note 23).

During the year ended 31 December 2021, a provision of RMB373,681 million (2020: RMB899 million) was made to write down the properties under development and completed properties held for sale.

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

#### 31 December

	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million
Trade receivables (a)	15,969	46,365
Other receivables (b)	191,665	102,590
	207,634	148,955
Less: non-current portion of trade receivables and other receivables	(2,825)	(7,249)
Current portion	204,809	141,706

#### (a) Trade receivables

#### 31 December

	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Trade receivables	19,398	46,606
Less: allowance provision for impairment	(3,429)	(241)
Trade receivables — net	15,969	46,365
Less: non-current portion	(2,825)	(7,146)
Current portion	13,144	39,219

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment provision of RMB7,250 million (2020: RMB77 million) was made against the gross amount of trade receivables (note 4(a)(iii)).

Trade receivables mainly arose from sales of properties. Proceeds in respect of sales of properties are to be received in accordance with the terms of the related sales and purchase agreements.

#### 13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

#### (a) Trade receivables (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade receivables based on revenue recognition date as at the respective dates of each reporting periods is as follows:

	31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Within 90 days	1,932	40,655
Over 90 days and within 180 days	4,675	1,991
Over 180 days and within 365 days	7,144	3,600
Over 365 days	5,647	360
	19,398	46,606

The maximum exposure to credit risk at date of each reporting period is the carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned above. The Group has retained the legal titles of the properties sold to these customers before the trade receivables are settled.

#### (b) Other receivables

	31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Other receivables		
- associates (note 39 (b))	2,672	1,505
— joint ventures (note 39 (b))	51,987	33,296
<ul> <li>non-controlling interests (note (i))</li> </ul>	20,017	16,097
— third parties (note (ii))	157,508	53,645
	232,184	104,543
Less: allowance provision for impairment	(40,519)	(1,953)
Other receivables — net	191,665	102,590
- Total Tota	101,000	102,000
Less: non-current portion	_	(103)
Current portion	191,665	102,487

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 13 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

#### (b) Other receivables (Continued)

- (i) Amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
- (ii) Amounts mainly represented the deposits for acquisition of land use rights, deposits for construction projects and borrowings, receivables of cooperation parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, impairment provision of RMB43,126 million (2020: RMB211 million) was made against the gross amount of other receivables (note 4(a)(iii)).

The carrying amounts of the Group's other receivables are mainly denominated in RMB.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at date of each reporting period is the carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned above.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair value of trade and other receivables approximated their carrying amounts.

#### 14 PREPAYMENTS

	31 Dece	31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Prepaid value added taxes and other taxes	26,953	23,502	
Prepayments to third parties	128,045	129,985	
<ul> <li>for acquisition of land use rights</li> </ul>	98,815	123,066	
<ul> <li>for acquisition of subsidiaries</li> </ul>	146	2,344	
- others	29,084	4,575	
	154,998	153,487	
Less: non-current portion			
<ul> <li>prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and</li> </ul>			
right-of-use assets	(1,668)	(2,461)	
	153,330	151,026	

#### 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD

#### 31 December

	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Associates	19,046	56,457
Joint ventures	14,215	35,813
	33,261	92,270

The amounts recognised in profit and loss are as follows:

#### Year ended 31 December

	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million
Share of (losses)/profits of associates Share of losses of joint ventures	(74) (19,648)	417 (1,796)
	(19,722)	(1,379)

#### (a) Investments in associates

The movements of the interests in associates are as follow:

#### Year ended 31 December

	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million
Balance as at 1 January	56,457	52,402
Additions	18,128	3,836
Disposals	(53,137)	(2)
Dividend declared	_	(53)
Share of post-tax (losses)/profits of associates	(74)	417
Impairment	(2,351)	_
Other comprehensive income/(losses)	23	(143)
Balance as at 31 December	19,046	56,457

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

#### (a) Investments in associates (Continued)

Set out below is the summarised financial information for the associate that is material to the Group.

#### (i) Shengjing Bank

Shengjing Bank is principally engaged in banking services in the PRC including provision of corporate and personal deposits, loans and advances, settlements, treasury businesses and etc.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had disposed 21.83% equity interest of Shengjing Bank. As at 31 December 2021, the Group held 14.57%(2020:36.40%) equity interest of Shengjing Bank.

#### Summarised statement of financial position

	31 Dec	31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
	70.004	70 500	
Cash and balances with central bank	72,331	78,506	
Other assets	933,795	962,154	
Total assets	1,006,126	1,040,660	
Financial liabilities	021 904	024.066	
	921,804	934,066	
Other liabilities	3,819	23,845	
Total liabilities	925,623	957,911	
Net assets	80,503	82,749	
Net assets attributable to:			
Shareholders of the Shengjing Bank	79,879	82,154	
Non-controlling interests	624	595	
	90 502	99.740	
	80,503	82,749	

#### 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

- (a) Investments in associates (Continued)
  - (i) Shengjing Bank (Continued)

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

	Year ended 3 <sup>-</sup>	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Interest income	40,916	42,534	
Interest expenses	(28,528)	(27,976	
Profit before tax	104	433	
Income tax credit	327	681	
Profit for the year	431	1,114	
Other comprehensive income	26	(307	
Total comprehensive income	457	807	
Total comprehensive income attributable to:			
Shareholders of the Shengjing Bank	428	779	
Non-controlling interests	29	28	
	457	807	
Share of post-tax profits of Shengjing Bank	63	395	
Share of other comprehensive income of Shengjing Bank	67	(112	

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

#### (a) Investments in associates (Continued)

#### (i) Shengjing Bank (Continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Net assets as at 1 January	82,154	81,375
Profit for the year	428	1,086
Other comprehensive income/(expenses)	29	(307
Net assets as at 31 December	82,611	82,154
Interest in the associate Goodwill	12,036 —	29,904 —
Carrying value	12,036	29,904

There are no contingent liabilities or commitment relating to the Group's interest in the associates.

#### (b) Investments in joint ventures

The movements of the interests in joint ventures are as follows:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Balance as at 1 January	35,813	35,409
Additions (note a)	9,498	5,241
Disposals	(5,710)	(3,192)
Share of post-tax losses of joint ventures	(19,648)	(1,796)
Impairment	(5,746)	_
Other comprehensive income	8	151
Balance as at 31 December	14,215	35,813

Note a: The additions during the year mainly included the investments in a number of property development companies newly established.

#### 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

#### (b) Investments in joint ventures (Continued)

Set out below is the summarised financial information for the joint venture that is material to the Group.

#### (i) Evergrande Life Insurance Co., Ltd.

Evergrande Life Insurance Co., Ltd. ("Evergrande Life Insurance") is engaged in insurance business, including life insurance, health insurance and etc. The Group made additional capital injections of RMB 3,000 million and RMB 9,000 million to Evergrande Life Insurance in 2015 and 2016, respectively. Pursuant to the resolutions of shareholders' meeting of Evergrande Life Insurance, all shareholders agreed that the additional capital injections by the Group are only attributable to the Group and other shareholders will not share the capital surplus.

The Group held 50% (2020:50%) equity interest of Evergrande Life Insurance.

#### Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

	31 Dec	31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Cash and cash equivalents	14,811	20,983	
Other assets	192,924	225,339	
Total assets	207,735	246,322	
Financial liabilities (excluding insurance liabilities)	13,727	8,572	
Other liabilities (including insurance liabilities)	212,577	215,866	
Total liabilities	226,304	224,438	
Net (liabilities)/assets	(18,569)	21,884	
Net (liabilities)/assets attributable to:			
Shareholders of the Evergrande Life Insurance	(18,569)	21,878	
Non-controlling interests	_	6	
	(40.500)	04.004	
	(18,569)	21,884	

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

- (b) Investments in joint ventures (Continued)
  - (i) Evergrande Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (Continued)
    Summarised consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

	Year ended 3	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Revenue	58,245	58,468	
(Loss)/profit before tax	(40,072)	200	
Income tax credit/(expenses)	7	(55)	
(Loss)/profit for the year	(40,065)	145	
Other comprehensive income	(161)	302	
Total comprehensive income	(40,226)	447	
Total comprehensive income attributable to:			
Shareholders of the Evergrande Life Insurance Non-controlling interests	(40,226)	446	
	(40,226)	447	
Share of post-tax profits of Evergrande Life Insurance	(10,939)	72	
Share of other comprehensive income of Evergrande Life Insurance	(81)	151	

#### 15 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY METHOD (Continued)

- (b) Investments in joint ventures (Continued)
  - (i) Evergrande Life Insurance Co., Ltd. (Continued)

#### Reconciliation of summarised financial information

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million
Net assets as at 1 January	21,878	21,432 144
(Loss)/profit for the year Other comprehensive (expense)/income	(40,065) (161)	302
Net (liabilities)/assets as at 31 December	(18,348)	21,878
Interest in the joint venture Goodwill	_	16,944 879
Carrying value	_	17,823

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of losses of Evergrande Life Insurance Co., Limited because the share of losses of the joint venture exceeded the Group's interest in the joint venture and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The amounts of the Group's unrecognised share of losses of this joint venture for the current year and cumulatively were RMB9,094 million (2020: nil).

### 16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

	Year ended 3 <sup>-</sup> 2021 RMB million	1 December 2020 RMB million
Balance as at 1 January Additions Disposals Fair value losses recognised in other comprehensive income	1,412 2,196 (726) (1,309)	1,587 — — (175)
Balance as at 31 December	1,573	1,412
FVOCI include the following:		

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million
Listed equity securities Unlisted equity investments	390 1,183	655 757
	1,573	1,412

#### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 17 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Year	ended	31	Decem	ber
	2021			20

	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Balance as at 1 January	11,425	8,926
Additions	18,579	6,628
Fair value losses	(1,936)	(31)
Disposals	(4,581)	(4,098)
Balance as at 31 December	23,487	11,425
Less: non-current portion	(5,089)	(8,230)
	18,398	3,195

FVPL include the following:

#### 31 December

	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Listed equity securities	3,915	922
Unlisted equity investments	19,572	10,503
	23,487	11,425

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the listed equity securities of FVPL represented the Group's equity investments in certain companies listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange Limited (the "Shanghai Stock Exchange"), the Shenzhen Stock Exchange Limited (the "Shenzhen Stock Exchange") and the Stock Exchange, which are quoted in an active market.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the unlisted equity investments of FVPL mainly represented the Group's equity investments in high technology, media companies and an automobile group, and the fair value of these investments has been determined by reference to the valuation carried out by independent and professionally qualified valuers.

Changes in fair values of these investments are recorded in "Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

#### **18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY**

Assets as per consolidated statement of financial position

	31 Dec	31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
At amortised cost			
Loans and receivables			
<ul> <li>Trade and other receivables</li> </ul>	207,634	148,955	
<ul> <li>Restricted cash</li> </ul>	23,341	21,992	
Cash and cash equivalents	5,435	158,752	
	236,410	329,699	
At fair value			
— FVPL	23,487	11,425	
- FVOCI	1,573	1,412	
		0.40	
	261,470	342,536	

#### Liabilities as per consolidated statement of financial position

	31 Dec	31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
At amortised cost			
Other financial liabilities			
<ul><li>Borrowings</li></ul>	607,377	716,532	
<ul> <li>Trade and other payables excluding other taxes, payroll payable and</li> </ul>			
deferred income from government grants	895,390	799,209	
	1,502,767	1,515,741	
At fair value			
Contingent consideration payables	58	_	
	4 500 005	1 515 741	
	1,502,825	1,515,741	

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 19 RESTRICTED CASH

The restricted cash is denominated in the following currencies:

	31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
— Denominated in RMB	23,233	21,968
<ul> <li>Denominated in other currencies</li> </ul>	108	24
	23,341	21,992

The Group's restricted cash mainly comprised of guarantee deposits for bank acceptance notes and loans and guarantee deposits for sale.

The conversion of the RMB denominated bank balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

#### 20 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Cash at bank and in hand:		
<ul> <li>Denominated in RMB</li> </ul>	4,790	154,695
Denominated in other currencies	645	4,057
	5,435	158,752

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating daily bank deposit rates.

#### 21 SHARE CAPITAL AND PREMIUM

		Nominal value	Equivalent		
	Number of	of ordinary	nominal value of	Share	
	ordinary shares	shares	ordinary share	premium	Total
	share	US\$	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
Authorised capital:					
As at 1 January 2020, 31 December					
2020 and 31 December 2021	100,000,000,000	1,000,000,000	7,060	N/A	N/A
Issued capital:					
As at 1 January 2020	13,226,187,900	132,261,879	932	643	1,575
Issuance of shares pursuant to	10,220,101,000	102,201,010	002	0.10	1,070
the option scheme	28,612,000	286,120	2	95	97
Proceeds from shares placement (note (a))	260,650,000	2,606,500	18	3,702	3,720
Repurchase of shares (note (b))	(276,165,000)	(2,761,650)		(738)	(757)
As at 31 December 2020	13,239,284,900	132,392,849	933	3,702	4,635
As at 1 January 2021					
Issuance of shares pursuant to					
the option scheme	11,100,000	111,000	1	35	36
Repurchase of shares (note (b))	(46,084,000)	(460,840)	(4)	(441)	(445)
As at 31 December 2021	13,204,300,900	132,043,009	930	3,296	4,226

- (a) On 13 October 2020, the Company placed 260,650,000 shares to certain third-party investors at a subscription price of HK\$16.5 per share.
- (b) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company repurchased on aggregate of 46,084,000 of its own shares through the Stock Exchange, at a total consideration of HKD529.3 million (equivalent to RMB440.4 million). The aforesaid repurchased shares were cancelled on 26 November 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company repurchased an aggregate of 276,165,000 shares of its own shares through the Stock Exchange, at a total consideration of HK\$4,656 million (equivalent to approximately RMB4,181 million). The aforesaid repurchased shares were cancelled on 23 December 2020.

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 22 EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION

#### (i) Employee share option scheme of the Company

Share options are granted to directors and other selected employees. Options are conditional on the employee have served the Group for certain periods (the vesting period). The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

On 9 October 2014, 530,000,000 share options (the "2014 Options") were granted to directors and employees with an exercise price of HK\$3.05 per share. All the options granted will be exercisable within 5 years after vesting.

On 6 October 2017, 743,570,000 share options (the "2017 Option") were granted to directors and employees with an exercise price of HK\$30.2 per share. All the options granted will be exercisable within 5 years after vesting.

On 24 April 2020, 623,000,000 share options (the "2020 Option") were granted to directors and employees with an exercise price of HK\$13.11 per share. All the options granted will be exercisable within 5 years after vesting.

Movements of share options are as follows:

	Year ended 31 December		
	<b>2021</b> 2		
Balance at 1 January	1,007,123,000	586,933,000	
Granted during the year	_	623,000,000	
Exercised during the year	(11,100,000)	(28,615,000)	
Cancelled and lapsed during the year	(217,668,000)	(174,195,000)	
Balance at 31 December	778,355,000	1,007,123,000	

#### 22 EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION (Continued)

#### (i) Employee share option scheme of the Company (Continued)

Particulars of share options of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

### Number of outstanding shares as at 31 December

			as at 31 December		
Date of grant	Vesting period	Exercise period	Exercise price	2021	2020
2014 Options:					
9 October 2014	5 year	9 October 2019 – 8 October 2024	HK\$3.05	5,391,000	16,691,000
2017 Options:					
6 October 2017	1 year	6 October 2018 – 5 October 2023	HK\$30.20	31,924,000	41,208,000
6 October 2017	2 year	6 October 2019 – 5 October 2024	HK\$30.20	81,795,000	105,581,000
6 October 2017	3 year	6 October 2020 – 5 October 2025	HK\$30.20	81,795,000	105,581,000
6 October 2017	4 year	6 October 2021 – 5 October 2026	HK\$30.20	81,795,000	105,581,000
6 October 2017	5 year	6 October 2022 – 5 October 2027	HK\$30.20	81,795,000	105,581,000
				359,104,000	463,532,000
					· ·
2020 Options:					
24 April 2020	1 year	24 April 2021 – 24 April 2022	HK\$13.11	82,772,000	105,380,000
24 April 2020	2 year	24 April 2022 – 24 April 2023	HK\$13.11	82,772,000	105,380,000
24 April 2020	3 year	24 April 2023 – 24 April 2024	HK\$13.11	82,772,000	105,380,000
24 April 2020	4 year	24 April 2024 – 24 April 2025	HK\$13.11	82,772,000	105,380,000
24 April 2020	5 year	24 April 2025 – 24 April 2026	HK\$13.11	82,772,000	105,380,000
				413,860,000	526,900,000
				778,355,000	1,007,123,000

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 22 EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION (Continued)

#### (ii) Employee share option scheme of Evergrande Auto

Evergrande Auto approved and adopted a share option scheme on 6 June 2018 (the "2018 Share Option Plan").

On 6 November 2020, Evergrande Auto granted 298,820,000 share options under 2018 Share Option Plan to certain of its directors and other selected employees with an exercise price of HK\$23.05 per share, as rewards for their services. All the options granted will be exercisable within 10 years after vesting. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash.

Movements of share options are as follows:

	Year ended 3	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020		
Balance at 1 January	294,880,000	_		
Granted during the year	453,380,000	298,820,000		
Cancelled and lapsed during the year	(220,210,000)	(3,940,000)		
Balance at 31 December	528,050,000	294,880,000		

#### 22 EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION (Continued)

#### (ii) Employee share option scheme of Evergrande Auto (Continued)

Particulars of share options of Evergrande Auto as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

	Masting			Number of outst as at 31 De	_	
Date of grant	Vesting period	Exercise period	Exercise price	2021	2020	
2020 Options:			,			
6 November 2020	1 year	6 November 2021 – 5 November 2026	HK\$23.05	44,252,000	58,976,000	
6 November 2020	2 years	6 November 2022 – 5 November 2027	HK\$23.05	44,252,000	58,976,000	
6 November 2020	3 years	6 November 2023 – 5 November 2028	HK\$23.05	44,252,000	58,976,000	
6 November 2020	4 years	6 November 2024 – 5 November 2029	HK\$23.05	44,252,000	58,976,000	
6 November 2020	5 years	6 November 2025 – 5 November 2030	HK\$23.05	44,252,000	58,976,000	
				221,260,000	294,880,000	
2021 June Options:						
15 June 2021	1 year	15 June 2022 – 14 June 2027	HK\$32.82	13,890,000	N/A	
15 June 2021	2 years	15 June 2023 – 14 June 2028	HK\$32.82	13,890,000	N/A	
15 June 2021	3 years	15 June 2024 – 14 June 2029	HK\$32.82	13,890,000	N/A	
15 June 2021	4 years	15 June 2025 – 14 June 2030	HK\$32.82	13,890,000	N/A	
15 June 2021	5 years	15 June 2026 – 14 June 2031	HK\$32.82	13,890,000	N/A	
				69,450,000	N/A	
2021 September Op	otions:					
20 September 2021	0.5 year	20 March 2022 – 19 March 2027	HK\$3.90	59,335,000	N/A	
20 September 2021	1 year	20 September 2022 – 19 September 2027	HK\$3.90	59,335,000	N/A	
20 September 2021	1.5 years	20 September 2023 – 19 September 2028	HK\$3.90	59,335,000	N/A	
20 September 2021	2 years	20 September 2023 – 19 September 2028	HK\$3.90	59,335,000	N/A	
				237,340,000	N/A	

<sup>(</sup>iii) The weighted average fair value of the aforesaid options granted were determined by reference to valuation prepared by independent valuers, using the Binomial Model.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 23 BORROWINGS

31	D	29	er	nl	26	r
<b>U</b> I	$\mathbf{L}$		CI.		"	•

	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Borrowings included in non-current liabilities:		
Senior notes (note (a))	127,300	151,277
PRC corporate bonds (note (b))	53,056	45,011
Convertible bonds (note (c))	66	13,520
Bank and other borrowings (note (d))	342,100	420,581
	522,522	630,389
Less: current portion of non-current borrowings	(517,798)	(249,334)
	4,724	381,055
Borrowings included in current liabilities:		
Bank and other borrowings	84,855	86,143
Current portion of non-current borrowings	517,798	249,334
- Senior notes (note (a))	127,300	26,039
- PRC corporate bonds (note (b))	53,056	23,090
<ul> <li>Convertible bonds (note (c))</li> </ul>	66	13,520
<ul> <li>Bank and other borrowings (note (d))</li> </ul>	337,376	186,685
	602,653	335,477
Total borrowings	607,377	716,532
The total borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:		
RMB	453,497	544,139
US\$	143,210	152,098
HK\$	10,670	20,295
	607,377	716,532

#### 23 BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (a) Senior notes

	31 December 2021 US\$ million	31 December 2020 US\$ million
Par value		
2017 issued 2022 Notes	997	997
2017 issued 2024 Notes	951	951
2017 issued 2021 Notes	_	598
2017 issued 2023 Notes	1,332	1,332
2017 issued 2025 Notes	4,633	4,650
2018 issued 2022 Notes	644	644
2018 issued 2023 Notes	589	589
2019 issued 2021 Notes I	_	875
2019 issued 2022 Notes I	1,025	1,025
2019 issued 2021 Notes II	_	600
2019 issued 2021 Notes III	260	_
2019 issued 2022 Notes II	1,450	1,450
2019 issued 2023 Notes	834	834
2019 issued 2024 Notes	691	691
2019 issued 2022 Notes III	300	300
2019 issued 2021 Notes III	_	1,050
2020 issued 2022 Notes	1,999	1,999
2020 issued 2023 Notes I	1,994	1,994
2020 issued 2023 Notes II	999	999
2020 issued 2024 Notes	995	995
2020 issued 2021 Notes I	_	400
2020 issued 2021 Notes II	_	500
2021 issued 2023 Notes I	314	_
2021 issued 2023 Notes II	110	_
Total	20,117	23,473
Unrecognised financing charges	(163)	(288)
Amortised cost — US\$	19,954	23,185
Amortised cost — RMB	127,300	151,277

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 23 BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (a) Senior notes (Continued)

On 23 March 2017, the Company issued 8.25%, five-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,000 million (equivalent to approximately RMB6,886 million) at 100% of the face value ("2017 issued 2022 Notes").

On 29 March 2017, the Company issued 9.5%, seven-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,000 million (equivalent to approximately RMB6,886 million) at 100% of the face value ("2017 issued 2024 Notes").

On 28 June 2017, the Company issued 6.25%, four-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$598 million (equivalent to approximately RMB4,078 million) at 100% of the face value ("2017 issued 2021 Notes"), 7.5%, six-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,345 million (equivalent to approximately RMB9,172 million) at 100% of the face value ("2017 issued 2023 Notes") and 8.75%, eight-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$4,681 million (equivalent to approximately RMB31,921 million) at 100% of the face value ("2017 issued 2025 Note"). The Group has repaid US\$598 million of the 2017 issued 2021 Notes in June 2021.

On 6 November 2018 the Group has issued 13.0% four-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$645 million (equivalent to approximately RMB4,419 million) at 100% of the face value ("2018 issued 2022 Notes"), and 13.75% five-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$590 million (equivalent to approximately RMB4,042 million) at 100% of the face value ("2018 issued 2023 Notes").

On 25 January 2019, the Company issued 6.25%, 30-month senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$875 million (equivalent to approximately RMB5,945 million) at 93.096% of the face value ("2019 issued 2021 Notes I"), and 8.25%, 42-month senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,025 million (equivalent to approximately RMB6,964 million) at 94.054% of the face value ("2019 issued 2022 Notes I"). The Group has repaid US\$975 million of the 2019 issued 2021 Notes I in June 2021.

On 6 March 2019, a subsidiary of the Company issued 9.00%, 2-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$ 600 million (equivalent to approximately RMB4,023 million) at 100% of the face value ("2019 issued 2021 Notes II"). The Group has repaid US\$600 million of the 2019 issued Notes II in March 2021.

On 26 September 2019, an associate of the Company issued 8.60%, 2-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$ 260 million (equivalent to approximately RMB1,743 million) at 100% of the face value ("2019 issued 2021 Notes III"). The company has become a subsidiary of the Group in 2021. The notes have not been repaid during the year.

On 11 April 2019, the Company issued 9.50%, 3-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,450 million (equivalent to approximately RMB9,728 million) at 100% of the face value ("2019 issued 2022 Notes II"), 10.00%, 4-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$850 million (equivalent to approximately RMB5,702 million) at 100% of the face value ("2019 issued 2023 Notes"), and 10.50%, 5-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$700 million (equivalent to approximately RMB4,696 million) at 100% of the face value ("2019 issued 2024 Notes").

#### 23 BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (a) Senior notes (Continued)

On 30 April 2019, the Company issued 9.50%, 33-month senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$300 million (equivalent to approximately RMB2,019 million) at 100% of the face value ("2019 issued 2022 Notes III").

On 24 May 2019, 30 July 2019, 24 September 2019, 18 December 2019 and 19 December 2019, the Company issued 8.90%, 2-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,050 million (equivalent to approximately RMB7,314 million) at 100% of the face value ("2019 issued 2021 Notes III"). The Group has repaid US\$1,050 million of the 2019 issued 2021 Notes III in March 2021.

On 22 January 2020, the Company issued 11.5%, 3-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,000 million (equivalent to approximately RMB6,813 million) at 100% of the face value ("2020 issued 2023 Notes II"), and 12.0%, 4-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$1,000 million (equivalent to approximately RMB6,813 million) at 100% of the face value ("2020 issued 2024 Notes").

On 24 January 2020, a subsidiary of the Company issued 11.5%, 33-month senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$2,000 million (equivalent to approximately RMB13,617 million) at 100% of the face value ("2020 issued 2022 Notes"), and 12.0%, 45-month senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$2,000 million (equivalent to approximately RMB13,617 million) at 100% of the face value ("2020 issued 2023 Notes I").

From February 2020 to March 2020, the Company issued 8.90%, 12-month senior notes with principal amounts of US\$400 million (equivalent to approximately RMB2,725 million) at 100% of the face value, respectively ("2020 issued 2021 Notes I"). The Group has repaid US\$400 million of the 2020 issued 2021 Notes I in March 2021.

From July 2020 to August 2020, the Company issued 8.90%, 1-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$500 million (equivalent to approximately RMB3,495 million) at 100% of the face value ("2020 issued 2021 Notes II"). The Group has repaid US\$500 million of the 2020 issued 2021 Notes II in May 2021.

On 22 January 2021, the Company issued 9.00%, 2-years senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$314 million (equivalent to approximately RMB2,209 million) at 100% of the face value ("2021 issued 2023 Notes I").

On 1 March 2021, the Company issued 9.00%, 1.89-year senior notes with an aggregated principal amount of US\$110 million (equivalent to approximately RMB712 million) at 100% of the face value ("2021 issued 2023 Notes II")

All senior notes contain various early redemption options. Early redemption options exercisable by the Group are regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The directors of the Company consider that the fair value of the above early redemption options was insignificant on initial recognition and at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The above senior notes are jointly guaranteed by certain subsidiaries and secured by pledges of the shares of these subsidiaries.

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 23 BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (b) PRC corporate bonds

On 7 July 2015, a subsidiary of the Company issued 6.98%, seven-year PRC bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB8,200 million at 100% of the face value.

On 6 May 2019, a subsidiary of the Company issued 6.27%, four-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB15,000 million at 100% of the face value, and 6.80%, five-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB5,000 million at 100% of the face value.

On 8 January 2020, a subsidiary of the Company issued 6.98%, three-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB4,500 million at 100% of the face value.

On 26 May 2020, a subsidiary of the Company issued 5.90%, three-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB4,000 million at 100% of the face value.

On 5 June 2020, a subsidiary of the Company issued 5.60%, three-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB2,500 million at 100% of the face value.

On 23 September 2020, a subsidiary of the Company issued 5.80%, five-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB4,000 million at 100% of the face value.

On 19 October 2020, a subsidiary of the Company issued 5.80%, five-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB2,100 million at 100% of the face value.

On 27 April 2021, a subsidiary of the Company issued 7.00%, five-year public PRC corporate bonds with an aggregated principal amount of RMB\$200 million of 100% of the face value.

Except for the PRC corporate bonds amounting to RMB8,200 million issued on 7 July 2015, other PRC corporate bonds contain the early redemption options.

Early redemption options are regarded as embedded derivatives not closely related to the host contract. The directors consider that the fair value of the early redemption options was insignificant as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

#### 23 BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (c) Convertible bonds

On 30 January 2018, the Company entered into the Subscription Agreement with certain investment banks, pursuant to which the investment banks have agreed to subscribe and pay for, or to procure subscribers to subscribe and pay for, the convertible bonds (the "Convertible bonds") in an aggregate principal amount of HK\$18,000 million at the face value.

The Convertible bonds will be mature in five years from the issuance date with an interest rate of 4.25% per annum, and can be convertible to ordinary shares of the Company at the holder's option at the conversion price of HK\$38.99 per share during the period from 27 March 2018 to the seventh day prior to the Bonds' maturity date.

On 14 February 2018 (the "Issuance Day"), the Group received the net proceeds from issuance of the Convertible Bonds of HK\$17,736 million (equivalent to RMB14,383 million).

The Convertible bonds was recognised as embedded financial derivatives and debt component as follows:

- Embedded financial derivatives, comprise the fair value of the option of the holders of the Convertible bonds to convert the Convertible bonds into ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion price; the fair value of the option of the holders of the Convertible bonds to require the Company to redeem the Convertible bonds; and the fair value of the option of the Company to redeem the Convertible bonds. These embedded options are interdependent as only one of these options can be exercised. Therefore, they are not able to be accounted for separately and a single compound derivative was recognised.
- Debt component initially recognised at the residual amount after deducting the fair value of the derivative component from the net proceeds at the initial recognition, and is subsequently carried at amortised cost.

The Company redeemed the Convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HK\$1,799 million at an average purchase price of approximately 99.0% of such principal amount on 16 December 2020. After completion of the redemption, the repurchased Convertible Bonds was cancelled.

The Company has redeemed the Convertible Bonds in the aggregate amount of HK\$16,201 million and pay the related accrued interest in February 2021. After completion of the redemption, the repurchased Convertible Bonds was cancelled.

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 23 BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (d) Bank and other borrowings

#### (i) Other borrowings

Certain group companies in the PRC which are engaged in development of real estate projects have entered into fund arrangements with certain financial institutions (the "Trustees"), respectively, pursuant to which Trustees raised trust funds and injected the funds to the group companies. All the funds bear fixed interest rates and have fixed repayment terms.

In September 2021, the Group publicly committed to honoring the financial products issued by a subsidiary of the Group, Evergrande Financial Wealth Management (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.\* (hereinafter referred to as "Evergrande Wealth"), through third parties. These financial products' funds were previously invested in the Group's projects in the form of equity in previous years. As at 31 December 2021, in accordance with the public commitment, the Group reclassified the relevant amount of RMB 34,445 million from non-controlling shareholders' equity to borrowings due within one year.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's bank and other borrowings of RMB506,792 million (2020: RMB388,349 million) were secured by pledge of the Group's property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, investment properties, properties under development, completed properties held for sale, cash in bank, intangible assets, account receivables and equity interest of certain subsidiaries, totaling RMB602,152 million (2020: RMB523,602 million).

The exposure of the bank and other borrowings to interest-rate changes and the contractual repricing dates or maturity date whichever is earlier are as follows:

	6 months				
	or less	6-12 months	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
At 31 December 2021	36,393	566,260	4,724	_	607,377
At 31 December 2020	121,570	213,907	370,137	10,918	716,532

The maturity of the borrowings is as follows:

	OT December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Bank borrowings, other borrowings, senior notes and PRC bonds:			
Within 1 year	602,653	335,477	
1–2 years	4,574	166,613	
2–5 years	150	203,524	
Over 5 years	_	10,918	
	607,377	716,532	

#### 23 BORROWINGS (Continued)

#### (d) Bank and other borrowings (Continued)

The effective interest rates were as follows:

	31 Decem	ber 2021	31 December 2020		
		<b>Effective</b>		Effective	
		weighted		weighted	
	RMB million	average rate	RMB million	average rate	
Bank and other borrowings	426,955	8.00%	506,724	9.52%	
Senior notes	127,300	10.77%	151,277	10.09%	
PRC bonds	53,056	<b>5.72</b> %	45,011	6.83%	
Convertible bonds	66	10.71%	13,520	10.71%	

### (e) The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current borrowings are as follows:

	31 December 2021		31 Decemb	ber 2020	
	Carrying		Carrying		
	amount	Fair value	amount	Fair value	
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million	
Bank and other borrowings	342,100	342,100	420,581	420,581	
Senior notes	127,300	127,300	151,277	149,231	
PRC bonds	53,056	53,056	45,011	44,844	
Convertible bonds	66	66	13,520	12,405	

The fair value of the Group's senior notes, PRC bonds, bank borrowings, other borrowings and non-public PRC bonds approximates their carrying amounts at each of the date of reporting periods for the reason that the impact of discounting is not significant or the borrowings carry floating rate of interests.

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### **24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX**

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts of deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group are as follows:

	31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
		/ ··
Deferred income tax assets to be recovered within 12 months	(115)	(3,234)
Deferred income tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months	(33)	(2,709)
	(4.40)	(5.0.40)
Deferred income tax assets	(148)	(5,943)
Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled within 12 months	_	6,249
Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled after more than 12 months	43,800	46,893
Deferred income tax liabilities	43,800	53,142
	40.050	47.100
	43,652	47,199

#### 24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Movements in gross deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

#### Deferred income tax assets

	Temporary difference on unrealised profit of intercompany transactions RMB million	Tax losses RMB million	Temporary difference on recognition of cost of sales and expenses RMB million	Revaluation of financial assets RMB million	Carrying amount of land use rights smaller than the tax bases RMB million	Impairment losses on financial assets, write-down of properties under development and held for sale RMB million	<b>Total</b> RMB million
As at 1 January 2020	(2,717)	(3,826)	(1,825)	(386)	(35)	(1,058)	(9,847)
Charged to other comprehensive income Credited to the income tax expenses	_ (400)	_ (1,185)	_ 309	(44) 24	_ 23	_ (298)	(44) (1,527)
As at 31 December 2020	(3,117)	(5,011)	(1,516)	(406)	(12)	(1,356)	(11,418)
As at 1 January 2021	(3,117)	(5,011)	(1,516)	(406)	(12)	(1,356)	(11,418)
Charged to other comprehensive income Credited to the income tax expenses	_ 3,116	- 4,931	– 1,516	(246) 652	- 12	_ 1,289	(246) 11,516
As at 31 December 2021	(1)	(80)	_	_	-	(67)	(148)

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carry-forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not recognise deferred tax assets of RMB10,571 million (2020: RMB9,490 million) in respect of tax losses amounting to RMB42,283 million (2020: RMB37,958 million) in certain subsidiaries as the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are uncertain.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 24 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

#### Deferred income tax liabilities

	Excess of carrying amount of land use right and intangible asset over the tax bases  RMB million	Temporary difference on recognition of fair value gain of investment properties RMB million	Withholding tax on profit to be distributed in future RMB million	Revaluation of financial assets RMB million	<b>Total</b> RMB million
As at 1 January 2020	45,214	17,906	1,809	8	64,937
Acquisition of subsidiaries Disposal of subsidiaries Credited to the income tax expenses	15 — (5,208)	_ _ 99	- - (1,221)	_ (5) _	15 (5) (6,330)
As at 31 December 2020	40,021	18,005	588	3	58,617
As at 1 January 2021	40,021	18,005	588	3	58,617
Acquisition of subsidiaries Credited to the income tax expenses	5,401 (12,761)	_ (7,817)	360	- -	5,401 (20,218)
As at 31 December 2021	32,661	10,188	948	3	43,800

#### 25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

#### (i) Trade and other payables

	31 Dece	31 December	
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Trade payables — third parties (note (c))	614,208	621,715	
Other payables:	198,156	163,892	
- associates (note 39(b))	993	1,014	
<ul><li>joint ventures (note 39(b))</li></ul>	37,187	50,969	
<ul><li>non-controlling interests (note (a))</li></ul>	19,594	13,371	
<ul> <li>payables for acquisition of land use rights</li> </ul>	25,312	39,597	
<ul> <li>payables for acquisition of subsidiaries and associates</li> </ul>	25,244	7,781	
<ul><li>Strategic investors (note (b))</li></ul>	15,875	_	
<ul><li>third parties</li></ul>	73,951	51,160	
Accrued expenses	28,503	10,412	
Payroll payable	1,263	2,245	
Deferred income from grants	3,226	2,983	
Lease liabilities	1,250	3,190	
Provision for financial guarantee contracts(note (d))	51,530	_	
Provision for litigations	1,743	_	
Other taxes payable	3,894	34,015	
	903,773	838,452	
Less: non-current portion			
Other payables:	(6,197)	(4,593)	
<ul> <li>non-controlling interests (note (a))</li> </ul>	(4,312)	(2,640)	
<ul><li>joint ventures</li></ul>	(1,885)	(1,953)	
Deferred income from government grants	(3,226)	(2,641)	
Lease liabilities	(1,009)	(2,044)	
	(10,432)	(9,278)	
Current portion	893,341	829,174	
<u>'</u>			

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

#### (i) Trade and other payables (Continued)

- (a) Amounts included certain cash advances from non-controlling interests of approximately RMB4,312 million (2020: RMB2,640 million) which bear average interest at 15% per annum (2020: 15%) and are repayable according to respective agreements.
- (b) Certain strategic investors invested in a subsidiary of the Company in 2017, with total amount of RMB 16,500 million. According to the relevant agreements, if the subsidiary failed to achieve a restructuring and listed in the PRC as A-shares by 2021, the Group is required to repurchase all the shares from the strategic investors. As at 31 December 2021, the subsidiary was unable to achieve the targets and hence the Group reclassified the strategic investment amount of RMB 16,500 million from the aforementioned investors to other payables. During the year ended 31 December 2021, RMB625 million has been repaid to the strategic investors.
- (c) Amounts mainly represented value-added-tax received in advance from customers, deposits and temporary receipts.
- (d) The Group provided financial guarantees for several independent third parties, associates and joint ventures, and the exposure to these guarantee risks increased accordingly after the Group encountered liquidity difficulties in the second half of 2021. As at 31 December 2021, a total of RMB 51,530 million was recorded as provisions for financial guarantee contracts.
- (e) The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on invoice date at the end of reporting period:

	31 Dec	31 December		
	2021	2020		
	RMB million	RMB million		
Within one year	177,610	560,517		
Over one year	436 598	61,198		
	614,208	621,715		

The trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:

#### 31 December

	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million
<ul><li>Denominated in RMB</li><li>Denominated in other currencies</li></ul>	873,235 30,538	829,500 8,952
	903,773	838,452

### 25 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued)

#### (ii) Contract liabilities

The Group has recognised the following revenue-related contract liabilities:

	31 December	31 December	1 January
	2021	2020	2020
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
Property development Others	906,017	159,556	124,976
	68,330	26,190	4,729
Total	974,347	185,746	129,705

The significant increase in contract liabilities in the current year is mainly due to the impact of the change in accounting treatment as disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### **26 CURRENT INCOME TAX LIABILITIES**

The current income tax liabilities are analysed as follows:

	31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Income tax payables			
<ul> <li>PRC corporate income tax</li> </ul>	26,499	81,901	
<ul> <li>PRC land appreciation tax</li> </ul>	24,296	74,955	
	50,795	156,856	

### 27 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

	Year ended 3	1 December
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
(Losses)/gains on disposal of joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries	(2,008)	143
Net foreign exchange losses	(2,522)	(1,684)
Losses in relation to the restructures of Strategic Investors'		
equity interest in a subsidiary	_	(3,510)
Impairment loss on intangible asset	(2,935)	_
Impairment loss on goodwill	(6,492)	_
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment	(6,794)	_
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets	(36)	_
Loss of land withdrawal	(21,373)	_
Litigation losses	(2,537)	_
Late delivery loss	(1,288)	_
	(45,985)	(5,051)

#### 28 OTHER INCOME

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Interest income	2,456	5,690	
Forfeited customer deposits	901	1,366	
(Loss)/gains on disposal of investment properties	(3,628)	599	
Project management and consulting service income	225	1,819	
Others	2,332	779	
	2,286	10,253	

#### 29 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Major expenses included in cost of sales, selling and marketing costs, administrative expenses and other operating expenses are analysed as follows:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Cost of properties sold — including construction costs,		
land costs and interest costs	264,663	373,983
Tax and other levies	1,590	2,448
Employee benefit expenses (note 30)	8,477	20,797
Employee benefit expenditure — including directors' emoluments	14,064	29,018
Less: capitalised in properties under development,		
investment properties under construction, construction in	(	(0.00.1)
progress and intangible assets	(5,587)	(8,221)
Advertising expenses	14,031	11,868
Sales commissions	4,777	11,603
Depreciation	8,302	2,812
Amortisation	3,872	2,535
Auditors' remunerations	41	54
<ul> <li>Audit services</li> </ul>	37	45
<ul> <li>Non-audit services</li> </ul>	4	9
Operating lease expenses	893	421
Impairment losses on goodwill (note 10) and intangible assets (note 11)	9,427	1,040
Impairment losses on financial assets	50,376	288

### NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 30 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Wages, salaries and bonus	8,995	23,188
Pension costs — statutory pension (note (a))	1,027	1,806
Staff welfare	2,172	2,505
Medical benefits	525	749
Employee share option schemes	1,345	770
	14,064	29,018
Less: capitalised in properties under development, investment properties under		
construction and construction in progress	(5,587)	(8,221)
	8,477	20,797

#### (a) Pensions – defined contribution plans

Employees in the Group's PRC subsidiaries are required to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme administrated and operated by the local municipal government. The Group's PRC subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage of the average employee salary as agreed by local municipal government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group also participates in a pension scheme under the rules and regulations of the MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong. The contributions to the MPF Scheme are based on minimum statutory contribution requirement of 5% of eligible employees' relevant aggregate income.

Details of the retirement scheme contributions for the employees, which have been dealt with in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive incomes of the Group, are as follows:

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Gross scheme contributions	1,027	1,806	

Voor anded 31 December

#### 30 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

#### (b) Five highest paid individuals

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the five highest paid individuals include 3 directors (2020: 1), whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in note 44. The aggregate amounts of emoluments of the other 2 highest paid individuals for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020:4) are set out below:

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Salaries and other benefits	51	188	

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

	rear ended 31 December		December
		2021	2020
HK\$20,000,000 to HK\$30,000,000		1	2
HK\$30,000,000 to HK\$40,000,000		1	1
HK\$90,000,000 to HK\$100,000,000		_	1
HK\$120,000,000 to HK\$130,000,000		_	_

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no emolument was paid by the group entities to any of the above directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020: nil).

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 31 FINANCE COSTS, NET

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Interest expenses			
<ul> <li>Bank and other borrowings</li> </ul>	61,456	58,525	
<ul> <li>Senior notes and convertible bonds</li> </ul>	16,590	19,876	
<ul><li>PRC bonds</li></ul>	3,033	3,321	
Less: interest capitalised	(35,957)	(69,462)	
	45,122	12,260	
Exchange gains from borrowings	(3,716)	(10,301)	
Other finance costs	217	281	
	41,623	2,240	

## 32 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Current income tax			
<ul> <li>Hong Kong profits tax</li> </ul>	66	40	
<ul> <li>PRC corporate income tax</li> </ul>	6,995	27,924	
<ul> <li>PRC land appreciation tax</li> </ul>	(11,035)	16,738	
	(3,974)	44,702	
Deferred income tax (note 24)	(8,702)	(7,857)	
	(12,676)	36,845	

#### 32 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate of the home country of the group entities as follows:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Profit before income tax	(698,895)	68,245
Adjusted: share of losses/(profits) of investments in joint ventures and		
associates, net	19,722	1,379
	(070.470)	00.004
	(679,173)	69,624
Calculated at PRC corporate income tax rate	(169,793)	17,406
PRC land appreciation tax deductible for PRC corporate income tax purposes	(4,048)	(3,504)
Income not subject to tax (note (a))	(560)	(538)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (note (b))	144,165	3,508
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses	(1,008)	(123)
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognised	34,474	2,752
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries	(3)	162
PRC corporate income tax	3,227	19,663
PRC withholding income tax	287	3,167
PRC land appreciation tax	(16,190)	14,015
- I TO land appreciation tax	(10,190)	14,010
	(12,676)	36,845

- (a) Income not subject to tax for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 mainly comprised fair value gain on derivative financial liabilities.
- (b) Expenses not deductible for tax purpose for the year ended 31 December 2021 comprised mainly: (i) costs of land premium without official invoices resulted from acquisition of land through acquisition of companies; and (ii) borrowing costs and administrative expenses incurred by off-shore group companies.

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 32 INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (Continued)

#### Overseas income tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted Company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (2009 Revision as consolidated and revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. The group companies in the British Virgin Islands were incorporated under the International Business Companies Act of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, exempted from British Virgin Islands income tax.

#### Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the current period in respect of operations in Hong Kong.

#### PRC corporate income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable tax rate of 25% (2020: 25%) on the estimated assessable profits for the year, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

#### PRC withholding income tax

According to the new Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC, starting from 1 January 2008, a withholding tax of 10% will be levied on the immediate holding companies outside the PRC when their PRC subsidiaries declare dividend out of profits earned after 1 January 2008. A lower 5% withholding tax rate may be applied when the immediate holding companies of the PRC subsidiaries are established in Hong Kong according to the tax treaty arrangements between the PRC and Hong Kong.

#### PRC land appreciation tax

PRC land appreciation tax is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible expenditures including land use rights and property development expenditures.

#### 33 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss)/earnings per share (RMB)

#### (a) Basic

Basic (loss)/earnings per share are calculated by dividing the (loss)/profits attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

# (Loss)/profit attributable to shareholders of the Company (RMB million) Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (millions) 2021 2020 (476,035) 8,076 13,178

Year ended 31 December

0.613

(36.006)

#### 33 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (Continued)

#### (b) Diluted

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company's dilutive potential ordinary shares consist of share options. For the share options of the Company, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company's shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The number of shares calculated as below is compared with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options. The share options of Evergrande Auto were excluded from the computation of diluted earnings per share as they are anti-dilutive for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for the year ended 31 December 2021, as the share options had no dilutive effect on ordinary shares because the exercise price of the Company's share options was higher than the average market price of the Company's shares in the year.

	2020
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (RMB million)	8,076
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (millions)  Adjustments for share options (millions)	13,178 69
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings per share (millions)	13,247
Diluted earnings per share (RMB)	0.610

#### 34 DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been declared by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2020 of RMB0.152 per share amounting to approximately RMB2,012 million, of which approximately RMB467 million was paid in July 2021. The remaining balance of RMB1,545 million was payable to related parties and unpaid as at 31 December 2021.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 35 CASH FLOW INFORMATION

### (a) Net cash generated from operations

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
(Loss)/profit for the year	(686,219)	31,400
Adjustments for:		
Income tax (credit)/expenses	(12,676)	36,845
Interest income (note 28)	(2,456)	(5,690)
Finance costs (note 31)	41,623	12,541
Exchange gains (note 27, note 31)	(1,194)	(8,617)
Depreciation (note 7)	8,302	2,812
Amortisation (note 29)	3,872	2,535
Employee share option schemes (note 30)	1,345	770
Fair value losses/(gains) on investment properties, net (note 9)	31,267	(1,278)
Fair value losses on FVPL (note 17)	1,936	31
Fair value losses/(gains) on derivative financial liabilities	2,555	(2,183)
Losses/(gains) on disposal of investment properties (note 28)	3,628	(599)
Share of losses of investments accounted for		
using equity method (note 15)	19,722	1,379
Losses in relation to the restructures of Strategic Investors' equity		
interest in a subsidiary (note 27)	_	3,510
Loss/(gain) on disposal of joint ventures, associates and subsidiaries		·
(note 27)	2,008	(143)
Dividend income on FVOCI	_	(11)
Loss/(gain) of disposal of property and equipment and intangible asset	2,227	(3)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment	7,050	_
Impairment on right-of-use assets	36	_
Impairment losses on joint ventures and associates	8,097	_
Impairment losses on goodwill and intangible assets	9,427	1,114
Changes in working capital:		
Properties under development and completed properties held for sale	371,033	(22,891)
Inventories	155	216
Restricted cash as guarantee for construction of projects and		
other operating activities	(125)	28,113
Trade and other receivables, contract acquisition costs and prepayments	29,801	(21,319)
Trade and other payables and contract liabilities	194,959	154,699
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	·
Net cash generated from operations	36,373	213,231

### 35 CASH FLOW INFORMATION (Continued)

#### (b) The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities is as follows:

	Borrowings RMB million	Other payables (note (i)) RMB million	Total RMB million
As at 1 January 2021	716,532	68,544	785,076
Cash flows	7 10,332	00,544	705,070
Inflow from financing activities	89,378	04 100	112 /06
Outflow from financing activities	(229,912)	24,108 (34,289)	113,486 (264,201)
Non-cash changes	(229,912)	(34,209)	(204,201)
Acquisition — leases		663	663
Foreign exchange adjustments	(3,176)	_	(3,176)
Other non-cash movement	35,095	(2)	35,093
— Other horreasiffhovement		(2)	
As at 31 December 2021	607,377	59,024	666,401
		Other payables	
	Borrowings	(note (i))	Total
	RMB million	RMB million	RMB million
Ao et 1 Jenuary 2020	700 905	52 546	853,441
As at 1 January 2020 Cash flows	799,895	53,546	000,441
Inflow from financing activities	367,281	44,905	412,186
Outflow from financing activities	(441,610)	(32,172)	(473,782)
Non-cash changes	(111,010)	(02,172)	(110,102)
Acquisition of subsidiaries	(957)	_	(957)
<ul><li>Acquisition — leases</li></ul>	(55.)	2,360	2,360
Foreign exchange adjustments	(10,301)		(10,301)
Other non-cash movement	2,224	(95)	2,129
		, ,	
As at 31 December 2020	716,532	68,544	785,076

<sup>(</sup>i) Amounts represent cash advances from associates, joint ventures, non-controlling interests, unit holders of consolidated investment entities and lease liabilities.

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### **36 FINANCIAL GUARANTEES**

31				

	2021 RMB million	2020 RMB million
Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities for certain purchasers of the Group's property units (note (a))	489,367	550,189
Guarantees for borrowings of cooperation parties (note (b))	70,364	12,452
Guarantees for borrowings of joint ventures and associates (note 39(c))	50,102	17,032
	609,833	579,673

(a) The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of the Group's property units and provided guarantees to secure obligations of such purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will generally be available within an average period of two to three years upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the related properties. The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant of the mortgages. The directors consider that the likelihood of default in payments by purchasers is minimal and the financial guarantees measured at fair value is immaterial.

(b) Amounts represent guarantees provided to certain cooperation parties (mainly construction subcontractors) of the Group, who are independent third parties, to obtain borrowings after assessing the credit history of these cooperation parties. The Group closely monitors the repayment progress of the relevant borrowings by these cooperation parties. The management believes it is highly probable that impairment losses on the expected credit risk of such guarantees will be incurred and therefore a provision is made for such guarantees in the financial statements.

#### **37 LITIGATION**

Up to the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements, various parties have filed litigation against the Group for the settlement of the unpaid borrowings, outstanding construction and daily operations payables, delayed delivery of several projects and other matters. The directors of the Company have assessed the impact of the above litigation matters on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 and accrued provision on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group is also actively communicating with relevant creditors and seeking various ways to resolve these litigations. The Directors consider that such litigations, individually or jointly, will not have significant adverse effects on the operating performance, cash flow and financial condition of the Group at the current stage.

#### **38 COMMITMENTS**

#### (a) Commitments for property development and acquisition of subsidiaries

#### 31 December 2021 2020 **RMB** million RMB million Contracted but not provided for Property development activities 291,550 319,585 Acquisition of land use rights 84,973 105,834 Acquisition of plant and equipment and intangible assets 14,578 14,196 Acquisition of subsidiaries 300 391,401 439,615

#### (b) Lease Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material short-term lease commitments.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Professor Hui Ka Yan is the ultimate controlling shareholder and also the director of the Company.

#### (a) Transactions with related parties

Save as disclosed in note 13, 25 and 36, during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had the following significant transactions with related parties, which are carried out in the normal course of the Group's business:

	Year ended 31 December	
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Nature of transactions		
Associates		
Provision of services to associates	8	_
Sales of goods to associates	3	_
Purchase of goods from an associate	9	_
Loan interest charged by an associate	263	386
Interest income from an associate	4	2
Joint ventures		
Management and consulting service to joint ventures	590	1,240
Sales of goods to joint ventures	438	512
Sales of properties to a joint venture	_	2,541
Provision of services to joint ventures	1,556	539
Rental income from joint ventures	11	86
Interest income from joint ventures	1,064	868
Advertisement service fees charged by a joint venture	_	416
Rental fee charged by joint ventures	118	74
Lease of right-of-use assets from a joint venture	_	488
Purchase of goods from joint ventures	20	10
Interest expenses on lease liabilities charged by a joint venture	_	146
Integrated insurance procurement	1	75
Payment of integrated insurance procurement to a joint venture (note (i))	58	256
Loan interest charged by joint ventures	324	317
Shareholders of the Company and Key management		
Interest of senior notes charged by Professor Hui Ka Yan (note 39(b)(iii))	39	43
Interest of senior notes charged by Mr. Xia Haijun ("Mr. Xia") (note 39(b)(iii))	56	61
Interest of senior notes charged by Mr. Lai Lixin ("Mr. Lai") (note 39(b)(iii))	2	3

Aforementioned related party transactions were charged in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, were determined with reference to the market price of the prescribed year. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the above related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of business and at terms mutually negotiated between the Group and the respective related parties.

(i) The nature of integrated insurance's promise represented that the Group performed as an agent to arrange for the insurance services for members of elderly care valley to be provided by a joint venture.

### 39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

#### (b) Balances with related parties

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group had the following significant non-trade balances with related parties:

	31 Dec	ember
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Due from related parties		
Included in cash and cash equivalents:		
— An associate	1,197	10,456
Included in trade receivables		
- Associates	5	2
<ul><li>Joint ventures</li></ul>	1,375	460
	1,380	462
Included in other receivables (note (i))		
- Associates	2,672	1,505
<ul><li>Joint ventures</li></ul>	51,987	33,296
	54,659	34,801
Included in prepayments		
Joint ventures	_	49

<sup>(</sup>i) Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of RMB13,241 million (2020: RMB15,994 million), which carry interest ranging from 4% to 15% (2020: 4% to 15%) per annum and receivable according to respective agreements, the remaining balances are cash advances in nature, which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

### 39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

#### (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

	31 Dece	ember
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
Due to related parties		
Included in trade and other payables (note (i))		
Joint ventures	37,187	50,969
- Associates	993	1,014
Professor Hui Ka Yan	17	17
— Mr. Xia	17	17
- Mr. Lai	1	1
— IVII. Lai	<u>'</u>	
	38,215	52,018
Included in lease liabilities		
	459	155
— A joint venture	459	455
Included in borrowings (note (ii))		
<ul> <li>Joint ventures</li> </ul>	524	2,806
<ul> <li>An associate</li> </ul>	5,188	5,560
<ul> <li>Holding companies</li> </ul>	1,022	_
- Professor Hui Ka Yan (note (iii))	1,954	326
- Ms. Ding Yu Mei (note (iii))	114	_
- Mr. Xia (note (iii))	495	506
— Mr. Lai (note (iii))	23	27
	9,320	9,225
	0,020	
Included in dividend payables		
- Professor Hui Ka Yan	1,829	_
— Ms. Ding Yu Mei	183	_
	0.040	
	2,012	

<sup>(</sup>i) The balances are cash advances in nature, which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

<sup>(</sup>ii) The balances are borrowings in nature, which are secured, carry interest ranging from 6.00% to 12.00% per annum and repayable according to respective loan agreements.

#### 39 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

#### (b) Balances with related parties (Continued)

(iii) The balances represented Professor Hui Ka Yan subscribed for US\$50 million 2020 issued 2024 Notes and loans of HKD2,000 million provided to the Group by Professor Hui Ka Yan respectively.

The balances represented loans of HKD140 million provided to the Group by Ms. Ding Yu Mei.

The balances represented Mr. Xia subscribed for US\$28 million 2017 issued 2025 Notes and US\$50 million 2020 issued 2023 Notes II, respectively.

The balances represented Mr. Lai subscribed for US\$200 thousand 2017 issued 2025 Notes, US\$300 thousand 2019 issued 2022 Notes II, US\$300 thousand 2020 issued 2023 Notes II, US\$900 thousand 2020 issued 2022 Notes, US\$1 million 2017 issued 2023 Notes and US\$900 thousand 2017 issued 2022 Notes, respectively.

#### (c) Financial guarantees to joint ventures and associates

	31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Joint ventures and associates	50,102	17,032	

#### (d) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and heads of major operational departments. The compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

	Year ended 31 December		
	2021	2020	
	RMB million	RMB million	
Salaries and other employee benefits	803	1,621	
Retirement scheme contributions	8	3	
	811	1,624	

#### **40 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS**

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired seven property management companies at an aggregate consideration of RMB2,168 million. Identifiable property management contracts and customer relations of RMB1,133 million are recognized as intangible assets. The excess of the acquisition consideration over the identifiable net assets acquired of RMB1,699 million is recognized as goodwill.

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 40 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group acquired certain property management companies at an aggregate cash consideration of RMB106 million.

The following table summarises the considerations paid for acquisition of these subsidiaries, the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition dates.

	RMB million
Cash consideration	2,110
Contingent consideration payables	2,110
	2,168
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed	
Cash and cash equivalents	217
Intangible assets	1,136
Other assets	961
Other liabilities	(1,419
Total identifiable net assets	895
Non-controlling interests	(426
Identifiable net assets acquired	469
Goodwill	1,699
Reconciliation of total cash considerations of business combinations and cash outflow on a	acquisitions is as follows:
	RMB million
Cash considerations	2,168
Contingent consideration payables	(58
Cash and cash equivalents acquired	(217
Payment for business combinations conducted in the year	1,893
Payment for business combinations conducted in prior year	(791
Cash outflow on acquisitions	1,102

#### 41 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The movements of non-controlling interests were as follows:

	31 Dece	ember
	2021	2020
	RMB million	RMB million
At 1 January	203,530	212,837
Adjustment for change in accounting treatment	(32,532)	_
(Loss)/profit for the year	(210,184)	23,324
Change in value of FVOCI	(355)	(19)
Capital injection (note a)	50,512	30,921
Currency translation differences	_	(133)
Acquisition of subsidiaries	425	541
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of controls (note b)	(42,218)	(33,256)
Reclassification	(50,945)	_
Dividends	(1,380)	(30,693)
Disposal of subsidiaries	1,427	(155)
Employees share option schemes	_	(163)
At 31 December	(81,720)	203,530

### (a) Capital injection

	Non- controlling interests RMB million	Reserves RMB million	Cash received RMB million
Property development subsidiaries (note i)	50,512	_	50,512
Evergrande Auto (note ii)		24,418	24,418
	50,512	24,418	74,930

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 41 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

#### (a) Capital injection (Continued)

#### Notes:

- i. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has established certain new subsidiaries engaging in property development and property investment businesses and received capital injections from non-controlling interests totaling RMB50,512 million.
- ii. On 24 January 2021, the Company has entered into the subscription agreements with six Investors to allot and issue 952,383,000 shares of the Company at a price of HK\$27.30 per share, raising approximately HK\$26,000 million.

On 9 November 2021, the Company has entered into top-up placing arrangements to introduce well-known international investors. 174,830,000 shares of the Company were placed at a price of HK\$2.86 per share to these investors, raising approximately HK\$500 million.

On 19 November 2021, the Company has entered into top-up placing arrangements to introduce well-known international investors. 900,000,000 shares of the Company were placed at a price of HK\$3 per share to these investors, raising approximately HK\$2,700 million.

#### (b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired certain equity interests of certain subsidiaries amounting to RMB42,218 million from non-controlling shareholders, the difference between consideration paid and the carrying amount of equity interest acquired amounting to RMB15,526 million was recognised as a decrease in reserves.

## 42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

#### Statement of financial position of the Company

		31 December	31 December
	Noto	2021	2020 RMB million
	Note	RMB million	
ASSETS			
Non-current assets			
Amounts due from subsidiaries	(a)	_	38,418
Investments in subsidiaries	(b)	_	9,204
Property, plant and equipment		2	2
		2	47,624
Current assets			
Amounts due from subsidiaries	(a)	105,932	153,285
Other receivables		306	433
Cash and cash equivalents		6	778
		106,244	154,496
Total assets		106,246	202,120
of the Company Share capital and premium Other reserves (Accumulated losses)/retained earnings		4,226 6,100 (89,394)	4,635 5,478 1,604
Total equity		(79,068)	11,717
LIABILITIES Non-current liabilities			
Borrowings		90,806	126,222
		90,806	126,222
Current liabilities			
Amounts due to subsidiaries		90,887	64,181
Borrowings		2,109	_
Dividend payables		1,512	_
		94,508	64,181
Total liabilities		185,314	190,403
Total equity and liabilities		106,246	202,120

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 42 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

#### Reserve movement of the Company

	Other reserves RMB million	Retained earnings/ accumulated losses RMB million
At 1 January 2020	4,852	(19,854)
Profit for the year	-	51,988
Dividends	_	(27,086)
Issuance of shares pursuant to the option scheme	(20)	(=:,===) —
Employee share option schemes	627	_
Repurchase of shares	19	(3,444)
At 31 December 2020	5,478	1,604
At 1 January 2021	5,478	1,604
Profit for the year	_	(88,986)
Dividends	_	(2,012)
Issuance of shares pursuant to the option scheme	(8)	_
Repurchase of shares	4	_
Employee share option schemes	626	_
At 31 December 2021	6,100	(89,394)

#### Share capital and premium of the Company

As at 31 December 2021, the share capital and share premium of the Company amounted to RMB933 million and RMB3,296 million, respectively.

#### Notes:

- (a) The amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Directors have performed an impairment assessment based on the expected credit loss model. As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of amounts due from subsidiaries was approximately RMB 105,932 million (2020: RMB 191,703 million), net of accumulated allowance for impairment loss of approximately RMB 85,772 million (2020: nil).
- (b) As at 31 December 2021, investments in subsidiaries are carried at a cost of nil (31 December 2020: RMB 9,204 million), impairment loss of approximately RMB 9,940 million (2020: nil) in respect of investments in subsidiaries has been recognised in profit or loss.

#### **43 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS**

- (a) In relation to the pledge of deposits of approximately RMB13.4 billion of Evergrande Properties, a subsidiary of the Group, which was enforced by the relevant banks, and the Board of the Company has set up an independent investigation committee to investigate the matter. The Board of Directors of the Company has established an independent investigation committee to investigate the deposit pledge incident. The relevant independent committee has completed its independent investigation and the results have been published in the announcement dated 15 February 2023.
- (b) On 3 April 2023, the Company entered into an RSA with AHG on the terms of the Reorganisation, which comprises (i) the CEG Scheme of Arrangement; (ii) the SJ Scheme of Arrangement and (iii) the TJ Scheme of Arrangement. Please refer to Note 2 to these consolidated financial statements for further details.

#### **44 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS**

#### (a) Directors' and chief executives' emoluments

The remuneration of directors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below:

			Contribution	<b>Employees</b>	
			to pension	share option	
	Fees	Salary	scheme	scheme	Total
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Professor Hui Ka Yan	240	_	12	_	252
Mr. Siu Shawn	_	9,040	_	35,100	44,140
Mr. Shi Junping	240	8,424	54	10,973	19,691
Mr. Liu Zhen	_	3,485	39	5,694	9,218
Mr. Qian Cheng	_	3,099	39	5,417	8,555
Mr. Xia HaiJun	240	149,848	15	52,235	202,338
Mr. Pan Darong	_	3,629	36	12,723	16,388
Mr. Lai Lixin	240	4,307	12	9,398	13,957
Mr. Huang Xiangui	240	5,549	51	3,842	9,682
Mr. Liang Senlin	_	_	_	_	_
Mr. Chau Shing Yim, David	360	_	_	_	360
Mr. He Qi	360	_	_	_	360
Ms. Xie Hongxi	360	_	_	_	360
	2,280	187,381	258	135,382	325,301

The remuneration of directors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:

			Contribution	Employees	
			to pension	share option	
	Fees	Salary	scheme	scheme	Total
	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000	RMB'000
Professor Hui Ka Yan	240	_	11	_	251
Mr. Xia Haijun (Chief executive)	240	164,917	16	39,333	204,506
Ms. He Miaoling	116	7,290	16	7,528	14,950
Mr. Pan Da Rong	240	7,432	67	12,198	19,937
Mr. Shi Junping	240	11,381	62	8,606	20,289
Mr. Huang Xiangui	240	5,667	15	3,128	9,050
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David	360	_	_	_	360
Mr. He Qi	360	_	_	_	360
Ms. Xie Hongxi	360		_		360
	2,396	196,687	187	70,793	270,063

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no emolument was paid by the group entities to any of the above directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2020: nil).

## NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### 44 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

#### (b) Directors' retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no additional retirement benefit received by the directors except for the attribution to a retirement benefit scheme as disclosed in note (a) above (2020: same).

#### (c) Directors' termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no termination benefits received by the directors (2020: same).

#### (d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors' services

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no consideration was paid for making available the services of the directors of the Company (2020: same).

## (e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors.

During year ended 31 December 2021, there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings entered into by the Company or subsidiaries undertaking of the Company, where applicable, in favour of directors.

#### (f) Directors' material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

#### **45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES**

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	Percentage of attributable equity interest		Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly		
Incorporated in the BVI with limited liab	oility and operating in F	Hong Kong				
Pioneer Time Investment Limited	15 January 2016	US\$10,000	_	100%	Property investment	
Scenery Journey Limited	12 February 2018	US\$ 1	_	100%	Investment holding	
Incorporated in the Cayman Islands wi	th limited liability and c	perating in Hong Kong				
Evergrande Property Services Group Limited	13 March 2020	US\$ 10,000,000	-	60.84%	Investment holding	
Incorporated and operating in Hong Ko	ong with limited liability	′				
China Evergrande New Energy Vehicle Group Limited	8 October 2007	HK\$ 4,281,808,018	-	74.95%	Investment holding	
Incorporated and operating in Sweden	with limited liability					
National Electric Vehicle Sweden AB	15 January 2019	SEK1,279,870,800	_	100%	Sales and manufacturing of smart mobility	
Incorporated and operating in the Mair	nland with limited liabili	ty and registered as wholl	y-owned fo	reign enterpi	ise under the PRC law	
恒大地產集團有限公司 Hengda Real Estate Group Company Limited	24 June 1996	RMB3,939,796,387	_	63%	Property developmen	
恒大地產集團重慶有限公司 Hengda Real Estate Group (Chongqing Company Limited	17 July 2006 g)	RMB4,821,000,000	-	100%	Property developmen	

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	Percentage of attributable equity interest		Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly	
恒大地產集團江津有限公司 Hengda Real Estate Group (Jiangjin) Company Limited	27 July 2006	RMB1,330,000,000	-	100%	Property development
鄂州恒大房地產開發有限公司 Ezhou Hengda Real Estate Development Company Limited	11 July 2008	RMB390,000,000	-	100%	Property development
恒大鑫豐(彭山)置業有限公司 Hengda Xinfeng (Pengshan) Property Company Limited	23 April 2010	RMB1,187,904,000	-	70%	Property development
啟東勤盛置業有限公司 Qinsheng (Qidong) Property Company Limited	1 January 2007	US\$141,100,000	_	100%	Property development
金碧物業有限公司 Jinbi Property Management Company Limited	10 September 1997	RMB177,600,000	-	100%	Property management
恒大地產集團洛陽有限公司 Hengda (Luoyang) Real Estate Group Property Company Limited	5 September 2007	RMB457,000,000	_	100%	Property development
恒大地產集團包頭有限公司 Hengda Real Estate Group (Baotou) Company Limited	9 August 2008	RMB525,000,000	_	100%	Property development
長沙寶瑞房地產開發有限公司 Baorui (Changsha) Real Estate Development Company Limited	13 July 2004	RMB475,200,000	-	99%	Property development
海南東方明珠房地產有限公司 Dongfang Mingzhu (Hainan) Real Estate Development Company Limited	8 June 2004	RMB70,000,000	-	100%	Property development

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	Percentage of attributable equity interest		ed and fully Percentage are capital/ of attributable		Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly			
天津市津麗湖投資有限公司 Jinli Lake (Tianjin) Investment Company Limited	13 November 2009	RMB690,486,100	-	100%	Property development		
濟南恒大綠洲置業有限公司 Jinan Hengdalvzhou Property Corporation Limited	18 January 2010	RMB870,000,000	_	100%	Property development		
上海穗華置業有限公司 Shanghai Suihua Real Estate Co., Ltd.	22 November 2002	RMB629,678,040	_	100%	Property development		
成都天府水城房地產開發有限公司 Tianfu Shuicheng (Chengdu) Real Estate Development Company Limited	22 March 2010	RMB1,824,274,896	-	84%	Property development		
濟南恒大金碧房地產開發有限公司 Hengda Jinbi (Jinan) Real Estate Development Company Limited	18 May 2010	RMB740,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
石家莊地益嘉房地產開發有限公司 Shijiazhuang Diyijia Real Estate Company Limited	5 April 2010	RMB17,213,500	-	100%	Property development		
哈爾濱市恒大偉業房地產開發有限公司 Harbin Hengda Weiye Real Estate Development Company Limited	26 January 2011	RMB780,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
清遠市銀湖城投資有限公司 Yinhucheng (Qingyuan) Investment Company Limited	28 September 2009	RMB2,064,825,536	_	100%	Property development		
南昌中電投高新置業有限公司 Zhongdiantou Gaoxin (Hefei) Property Company Limited	10 May 2011	RMB982,293,677	-	100%	Property development		

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	corporation/ paid share capital/ of attributable		Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly	
六安粵通置業有限公司 Luan Yuetong Property Corporation Limited	13 July 2011	RMB290,000,000	-	100%	Property development
恩平市鮞尚房地產開發有限公司 Enping Ooshang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	21 February 2012	RMB1,020,000,000	-	100%	Property development
新鄉御景置業有限公司 Yujing (Xinxiang) Property Corporation Limited	23 May 2012	RMB100,000,000	_	100%	Property development
城博(寧波)置業有限公司 Chengbo (Ningbo) Property Company Limited	18 January 2011	RMB2,098,020,019	-	100%	Property development
潮州市恒大置業有限公司 Chaozhou Hengda Property Company Limited	10 July 2012	RMB280,000,000	-	100%	Property development
無錫盛東房產開發有限公司 Shengdong (Wuxi) Real Estate Development Company Limited	6 May 2010	RMB200,000,000	_	100%	Property development
海口外灘城房地產有限公司 Waitancheng (Haikou) Real Estate Company Limited	5 September 2012	RMB1,874,506,659	_	90%	Property development
鄭州御邦置業有限公司 Zhengzhou Yubang Real Estate Co., Ltd.	16 February 2013	RMB30,000,000	-	100%	Property development
濟南俊匯置業有限公司 Junhui (Jinan) Property Company Limited	13 May 2013	RMB288,000,000	-	100%	Property development

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully Percentage paid share capital/ of attributable paid-in capital equity interest Principal activi		Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly	
長沙鑫芙置業有限公司 Xinfu (Changsha) Property Company Limited	13 May 2013	RMB663,265,300	-	100%	Property development
廣州市鑫誠置業有限公司 Xincheng (Guanghzou) Property Company Limited	23 May 2013	RMB720,000,000	-	100%	Property development
重慶恒大鑫泉置業有限公司 Hengda Xinquan (Chongqing) Property Company Limited	6 June 2013	RMB2,000,000,000	-	100%	Property development
恒大地產集團河源有限公司 Hengda Real Estate Group (Heyuan) Company Limited	17 June 2013	RMB20,000,000	-	100%	Property development
北京沙河恒大置業有限公司 Shahe Hengda (Beijing) Property Company Limited	12 July 2013	RMB1,330,000,000	-	100%	Property development
合肥粵誠置業有限公司 Yuecheng (Hefei) Property Company Limited	09 September 2013	RMB1,920,000,000	-	100%	Property development
恒大地產集團北京有限公司 Hengda (Beijing) Real Estate Group Company Limited	11 September 2013	RMB1,830,000,000	_	100%	Property development
杭州穗華置業有限公司 Hangzhou Suihua Property Company Limited	25 September 2013	RMB1,500,000,000	_	100%	Property development
南京美旭房地產開發有限公司 Nanjing Meixu Real Estate Development Company Limited	20 November 2013	RMB1,503,000,000	_	100%	Property development

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	orporation/ paid share capital/ of attributable		te of issued and fully Percentage orporation/ paid share capital/ of attributable		Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly		
呼和浩特市金碧天下房地產開發有限公司 Hohhot Jinbitianxia Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	11 November 2013	RMB1,380,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
北京恒興盛房地產開發有限公司 Hengxingsheng (Beijing) Real Estate Company Limited	8 November 2013	RMB3,520,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
天津帝景房地產開發有限公司 Tianjin Dijing Real Estate Development Company Limited	23 December 2013	RMB30,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
太原市俊恒房地產開發有限公司 Taiyuan Junheng Real Estate Company Limited	16 January 2014	RMB1,160,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
恒大集團有限公司 Evergrande Group Co., Ltd	8 January 2014	RMB53,000,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
北京正浩置業有限公司 Zhenghao (Beijing) Property Company Limited	4 March 2014	RMB1,750,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
北京恒龍置業有限公司 Henglong (Beijing) Property Company Limited	12 March 2014	RMB1,719,090,500	-	96%	Property development	
長沙金霞開發建設有限公司 Jinxia (Changsha) Real Estate Development Company Limited	5 September 2014	RMB122,450,000	-	51%	Property development	
鄭州恒林置業有限公司 Henglin (Zhengzhou) Property Company Limited	6 September 2013	RMB500,239,600	-	51%	Property development	

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	oration/ paid share capital/ of attributable		of issued and fully Percentage oration/ paid share capital/ of attributable		Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly			
成都恒大新東城置業有限公司 Hengda New East City Property Company Limited	15 January 2015	RMB1,620,000,000	_	100%	Property development		
前海君臨實業發展(深圳)有限公司 Qianhai Junlin Industrial Development (Shenzhen) Company Limited	17 April 2015	RMB2,637,965,370	_	100%	Property development		
重慶永利置業有限公司 Yongli (Chongqing) Property Company Limited	22 April 2015	RMB703,195,200	-	100%	Property development		
恒大童世界集團有限公司 Evergrande Children's World Group Co., Ltd	19 May 2015	RMB20,000,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
廈門恒大置業有限公司 Xiamen Hengda Property Company Limited	4 June 2015	RMB20,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
重慶恒大鑫溉置業有限公司 Chongqing Hengda Xingai Property Company Limited	21 August 2014	RMB1,000,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
雲南恒雲置業有限公司 Yunnan Hengyun Property Company Limited	26 May 2015	RMB360,000,000	_	51%	Property development		
武漢三江航天投資發展有限公司 Sanjiang Hangtian (Wuhan) Investment Company Limited	11 November 2015	RMB10,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
湖北三江航天商業經營有限公司 Sanjiang Hangtian (Wuhan) Business Operation Company Limited	11 December 2015	RMB10,000,000	_	100%	Property development		

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully Percentage paid share capital/ of attributable paid-in capital equity interest Principa		pate of issued and fully Percentage ocorporation/ paid share capital/ of attributable		Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly		
重慶中渝物業發展有限公司 Zhongyu (Chongqing) Property Management Company Limited	10 July 2015	US\$131,000,000	-	60%	Property development	
愛美高實業(成都)有限公司 Avergo (Chengdu) Industrial Company Limited	14 July 2015	RMB2,708,705,103	-	100%	Property development	
儋州中潤旅遊開發有限公司 Zhongrun (Danzhou) Tourism Development Company Limited	19 August 2015	RMB20,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
儋州信恒旅遊開發有限公司 Xinheng (Danzhou) Tourism Development Company Limited	19 August 2015	RMB800,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
柳州市兆福地產置業有限公司 Zhaofu (Liuzhou) Property Company Limited	18 September 2015	RMB163,265,300	-	100%	Property development	
懷來恒天房地產開發有限公司 Hengtian (Huailai) Real Estate Development Company Limited	18 September 2015	RMB1,038,886,675	-	100%	Property development	
重慶尖置房地產有限公司 Jianzhi (Chongqing) Real Estate Company Limited	10 July 2015	HKD5,228,885,200	-	100%	Property development	
深圳市鴻騰投資管理有限公司 Shenzhen Hongteng Investment Management Company Limited	30 January 2015	RMB4,017,054,820	-	100%	Property development	
南京臨江御景房地產開發有限公司 Linjiang Yujing (Nanjing) Real Estate Development Company Limited	11 December 2015	RMB3,001,343,900	_	100%	Property development	

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/paid-in capital	Percentage of attributable equity interest		y Percentage I/ of attributable		Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly			
杭州晶立置業有限公司 Hangzhou Jingli Property Company Limited	2 February 2016	RMB3,102,508,146	-	80%	Property development		
貴州集成房地產開發有限公司 Guizhou Integrated Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	14 April 1993	RMB50,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
貴陽新世界房地產有限公司 New World (Guiyang) Real Estate Company Limited	18 February 2016	RMB2,054,752,705	_	100%	Property development		
武漢新世界康居發展有限公司 New World Peaceful Living (Wuhan) Development Company Limited	5 January 2016	RMB96,000,000	-	60%	Property development		
上海豐濤置業有限公司 Fengtao (Shanghai) Property Company Limited	14 March 2016	RMB316,949,620	-	100%	Property development		
青島金灣置業有限公司 Qingdao Jinwan Property Company Limited	25 January 2016	RMB999,634,452	-	100%	Property development		
北京富華房地產開發有限公司 Fuhua (Beijing) Real Estate Development Company Limited	11 January 2016	U\$\$66,500,000	-	100%	Property development		
佛山市裕朗通房地產開發有限公司 Yulangtong (Foshan) Real Estate Development Company Limited	26 February 2016	RMB1,600,000,000	_	100%	Property development		
甘肅恒源房地產開發有限公司 Hengyuan (Gansu) Real Estate Development Company Limited	25 March 2016	RMB64,409,600	_	74%	Property development		

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	Percentage of attributable equity interest		nd fully Percentage apital/ of attributable		Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly			
哈爾濱高登置業有限公司 Gaodeng (Harbin) Property Company Limited	31 March 2016	RMB941,200,000	-	100%	Property development		
三亞哈達農副產品交易有限公司 Sanya Hada Agricultural Products Company Limited	1 April 2016	RMB1,350,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
成都心怡房地產開發有限公司 Xinyi (Chengdu) Real Estate Development Company Limited	3 May 2016	US\$99,500,000	-	100%	Property development		
建滔數碼發展(深圳)有限公司 Jiantao Digital Development (Shenzhen Company Limited	5 July 2016 )	RMB2,067,809,603	_	100%	Property development		
開封國際城一號實業開發有限公司 Guojicheng Yihao (Kaifeng) Industrial Development Company Limited	17 May 2010	RMB788,247,873	_	100%	Property development		
鄭州玖智房地產開發有限公司 Jiuzhi (Zhengzhou) Real Estate Development Company Limited	5 July 2016	RMB400,000,000	_	72%	Property development		
貴陽中渝置地房地產開發有限公司 Zhongyu (Guiyang) Property Real Estate Development Company Limited	26 December 2016	RMB875,218,698	-	100%	Property development		
梅州大百匯品牌產業園有限公司 Big Parkway (Meizhou) Brand Industrial Park Company Limited	8 June 2016	RMB1,122,000,000	_	100%	Property development		
淶水利華房地產開發有限公司 Laishui Lihua Real Estate Development Company Limited	8 July 2016	RMB142,857,000	-	65%	Property development		

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	·		Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly	
濟南源浩置業有限公司 Jinan Yuanhao Property Company Limited	18 July 2016	RMB900,000,000	-	100%	Property development
濟南西業置業有限公司 Jinan Xiye Property Company Limited	16 August 2016	RMB18,000,000	-	100%	Property development
威海華府置業有限公司 Huafu (Weihai) Property Company Limited	6 September 2016	RMB300,000,000	-	100%	Property development
佛山市三水盈盛房地產發展有限公司 Sanshui Yingsheng (Foshan) Real Estate Development Company Limited	8 September 2016	RMB2,412,775,397	_	100%	Property development
成都裕龍壹號房地產開發有限公司 Yulong Yihao (Chengdu) Real Estate Development Company Limited	18 September 2012	RMB604,628,085	_	100%	Property development
海南金萃房地產開發有限公司 Jincui (Hainang) Real Estate Company Limited	25 November 2016	RMB169,380,000	-	100%	Property development
汕頭市恒合置業有限公司 Henghe (Shantou) Property Company Limited	3 December 2015	RMB200,000,000	-	100%	Property development
昆明恒海房地產開發有限公司 Henghai (Kunming) Real Estate Development Company Limited	24 October 2016	RMB180,000,000	-	100%	Property development

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	incorporation/ paid share capital/ of attri		Percentage of attributable equity interest		te of issued and fully Percentage corporation/ paid share capital/ of attributable		Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly			
長沙恒大童世界旅遊開發有限公司 Hengda Tongshijie (Changsha) Real Estate Company Limited	20 October 2016	RMB2,120,000,000	-	91%	Property development		
成都萬浩置業有限公司 Wanhao (Chengdu) Property Company Limited	29 September 2016	RMB19,600,000	-	100%	Property development		
無錫盛建置業有限公司 Wuxi Shengjian Real Estate Company Limited	2 December 2016	RMB1,600,000,000	-	100%	Property development		
太原恒林房地產開發有限公司 Taiyuan Henglin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	14 December 2016	RMB10,000,000	_	100%	Property development		
重慶同景宏航置地有限公司 Tongjing Honghang (Chongqing) Land Limited	22 December 2016	RMB220,000,000	_	100%	Property development		
重慶同景共好置地有限公司 Tongjing Gonghao (Chongqing) Property Company Limited	22 December 2016	RMB610,000,000	_	100%	Property development		
哈爾濱市振業房地產開發有限公司 Zhenye (Haerbin) Real Estate Company Limited	28 September 2016	RMB37,014,025	-	100%	Property development		
瀋陽金道房地產開發有限公司 Shenyang Jindao Real Estate Development Company Limited	13 Janaury 2018	RMB1,749,600,897	-	100%	Property development		
靖江新時代房地產開發有限公司 Jingjiang New Times Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	01 March 2012	RMB66,106,698	-	100%	Property development		

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	incorporation/ paid share capital/ of attri		entage ibutable interest	Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly	
淄博高新正承房地產開發有限公司 Zibo Gaoxin Zhengcheng Real Estate Development Company Limited	31 October 2017	RMB268,044,000	-	60%	Property development
深圳市萬京投資有限公司 Wanjing (Shenzhen) Investment Company Limited	28 March 2017	RMB1,377,814,157	-	100%	Property development
佛山市三水區能潤置地房地產開發有限公司 Sanshui Nengrun (Foshan) Real Estate Development Company Limited	4 April 2007	RMB752,000,000	_	100%	Property development
成都津金江房地產開發有限公司 Chengdu Jinjinjiang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	26 September 2003	RMB714,058,327	-	100%	Property development
南京東潤置業有限公司 Dongrun (Nanjing) Property Company Limited	1 April 2017	RMB640,000,000	-	83%	Property development
無錫恒瑞置業有限公司 Wuxi Hengrui Real Estate Co., Ltd.	06 April 2017	RMB28,226,703	-	100%	Property development
嵊州盛建置業有限公司 Shengzhou Shengjian Real Estate Co., Ltd.	05 April 2017	RMB320,000,000	-	100%	Property development
杭州豐濤置業有限公司 Hangzhou Fengtao Real Estate Co., Ltd.	25 April 2017	RMB1,529,231,200	_	100%	Property development
哈爾濱市駿業房地產開發有限公司 Harbin Junye Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.		RMB257,100,000	-	100%	Property development

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	Percentage of attributable		Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly		
泰州周山河房地產開發有限公司 Taizhou Zhoushanhe Real Estate Development Company Limited	7 June 2017	RMB286,956,276	-	100%	Property development	
鎮江盛耀房地產開發有限公司 Zhenjiang Shengyao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	08 June 2017	RMB12,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
貴安新區恒大華鼎旅遊開發 有限公司 Gui'an New District Hengda Huading Tourism Development Co., Ltd.	21 June 2017	RMB10,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
滄州益聚房地產開發有限公司 Cangzhou Yiju Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	02 June 2017	RMB1,504,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
鄭州恒澤通健康置業有限公司 Zhengzhou Hengzetong Health Properties Co., Ltd.	27 June 2019	RMB1,300,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects	
徐州御嘉置業有限公司 Xuzhou Yujia Real Estate Company Limited	24 October 2017	RMB816,326,500	-	100%	Property development	
溫州國鵬置業有限公司 Guopeng (Wenzhou) Property Company Limited	31 October 2017	RMB1,090,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
許昌裕豐房地產有限公司 Xuchang Yufeng Real Estate Company Limited	26 July 2017	RMB20,000,000	-	75%	Property development	
唐山恒瀚邑房地產開發有限公司 Tangshan Henghanyi Real Estate Development Company Limited	17 November 2017	RMB878,179,300	_	92%	Property development	

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	of attri	entage ibutable interest	Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly		
太原恒大鴻博房地產開發有限公司 Taiyuan Evergrande Hongbo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	20 November 2017	RMB10,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
寧波穗華置業有限公司 Ningbo Suihua Real Estate Company Limited	20 November 2017	RMB1,691,400,000	-	100%	Property development	
大同俊軒房地產開發有限公司 Datong Junxuan Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	20 December 2017	RMB990,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
眉山隆和旅遊開發有限公司 Meishan Longhe Tourism Developmen Company Limited	31 October 2019 t	RMB1,276,609,800	_	100%	Property development	
武漢巴登城投資有限公司 Wuhan Baden City Investment Company Limited	31 October 2019	RMB880,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
深圳市永恒置業有限公司 Shenzhen Yongheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.	16 December 1992	RMB40,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
西安誠銘旅遊開發有限公司 Xi'an Chengming Tourism Development Co., Ltd.	11 January 2018	RMB450,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
南京恒康置業有限公司 Nanjing Hengkang Properties Co., Ltd.	27 December 2017	RMB1,000,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects	
天階雲臺(修武)投資有限公司 Tianjie Yuntai (Xiuwu) Investment Co., Ltd.	21 April 2011	RMB30,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects	

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	of attri	entage ibutable interest	Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly	
貴陽恒大雲景房地產開發有限公司 Guiyang Evergrande Yunjing Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	18 July 2018	RMB80,000,000	-	100%	Property development
公主嶺弘盛房地產開發有限公司 Gongzhuling Hongsheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	23 August 2018	RMB670,000,000	-	100%	Property development
安徽省陽光半島文化發展有限公司 Yangguang Bandao (Anhui) Real Estate Company Limited	31 August 2018	RMB6,685,050,000	-	100%	Property development
恒大智能汽車(廣東)有限公司 Evergrande Smart Automobile (Guangdong) Co., Ltd.	12 February 2018	RMB2,052,000,000	_	100%	Sales and manufacturing of smart mobility
儀徵市恒昇房地產開發有限公司 Yizheng Hengsheng Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	23 January 2019	RMB60,000,000	-	100%	Property development
舟山市新誠瑞豐房地產開發 有限公司 Zhoushan Xincheng Ruifeng Real Estate Development Company Limited	27 June 2019	RMB771,895,351	_	100%	Property development
恒大新能源汽車(廣東)有限公司 Evergrande National Energy New Energy Vehicle (Guangdong) Co., Ltd.	28 January 2019	RMB3,500,000,000	-	100%	Sales and manufacturing of smart mobility
深濤生活服務(廣東)有限公司 Shentao Life Service (Guangdong) Company Co., Ltd.	28 January 2019	RMB2,500,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects

### 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	of attri	Percentage f attributable quity interest Principal acti	
	,		Directly	Indirectly	
恒大恒馳新能源汽車(上海)有限公司 Hengda Hengchi New Energy Vehicle (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.	ភ <u>ិ</u> 18 May 2018	RMB2,500,000,000	-	100%	Sales and manufacturing of smart mobility
恒大新能源汽車(天津)有限公司 National New Energy Vehicle Co., Ltd.	15 January 2019	RMB3,100,000,000	-	100%	Sales and manufacturing of smart mobility
金浩生活服務(江蘇)有限公司 Jinhao Life Service (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd.	13 March 2019	RMB20,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects
金馳生活服務(河南)有限公司 Jinchi Life Service (Henan) Co., Ltd.	12 March 2019	RMB20,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects
咸寧恒陽置業有限公司 Xianning Hengyang Health Property Co., Ltd.	12 April 2019	RMB50,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects
濤永生活服務(安徽)有限公司 Taoyong Life Service (Anhui) Co., Ltd.	5 June 2019	RMB20,000,000	_	100%	Real estate development and operation
瀋陽超豐生活服務有限公司 Shenyang Chaofeng Life Service (Anhui) Co., Ltd.	23 June 2019	RMB8,000,000	_	100%	Real estate development and operation
湖北恒祥旅遊開發有限公司 Hubei Hengxiang Tourism Developmer Co., Ltd.	25 June 2019 nt	RMB21,090,377	-	100%	Property development
杭州桐恒置業有限公司 Hangzhou Tongheng Real Estate Co., Ltd.	15 August 2019	RMB720,000,000	-	100%	Property development

# NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	of attri	entage butable interest	Principal activities
			Directly	Indirectly	
遼鵬生活服務(遼寧)有限公司 Liaopeng Life Service (Liaoning) Co., Ltd.	19 July 2019	RMB50,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects
岳陽恒駿置業有限公司 Yueyang Hengjun Property Co., Ltd.	31 July 2019	RMB20,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects
重慶市恒盈健康產業有限公司 Chonngqing Hengying Health Industry Co., Ltd.	5 August 2019	RMB10,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects
武漢楚水雲山農業開發有限公司 Wuhan Chushui Yunshan Agricultural Development Co., Ltd.	03 August 2018	RMB11,808,970	_	100%	Property development
永鵬生活服務(貴州)有限公司 Yongpeng Life Service (Guizhou) Co., Ltd.	19 August 2019	RMB20,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects
貴州永浩企業管理有限公司 Guizhou Yonghao Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.	19 August 2019	RMB20,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects
雲南御行中天房地產開發有限公司 Yunnan Yuxing Zhongtian Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	17 March 2008	RMB180,000,000	_	70%	Property development
昆明嘉麗澤旅遊文化有限公司 Kunming Jialize Travel Culture Co., Ltd	13 March 2008	RMB2,244,900,000	-	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects
揚州超松置業有限公司 Yangzhou Chaosong Property Co., Ltd	1 November 2019	RMB8,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	of attri	entage butable interest	Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly		
肇東市恒鵬房地產開發有限公司 Zhaodong Hengpeng Health Industry Co., Ltd.	27 December 2019	RMB780,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects	
溫州盛建置業有限公司 Wenzhou Shengjian Real Estate Co., Ltd.	05 January 2018	RMB952,408,317	-	100%	Property development	
湛江市恒揚房地產開發有限公司 Zhanjiang Hengyang Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	18 December 2017	RMB10,000,000	_	93%	Property development	
昆明航匯投資有限公司 Kunming Hanghui Investment Co., Ltd.	13 November 2013	RMB100,000,000	-	100%	Property development	
雲南尚居地產有限公司 Yunnan Shangju Real Estate Company Limited	31 October 2019	RMB575,000,000	_	70%	Property development	
瀋陽航遠置業有限公司 Shenyang Hangyuan Real Estate Company Limited	31 October 2019	RMB50,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
陝西航華投資管理有限公司 Shanxi Hanghua Investment Management Company Limited	31 October 2019	RMB14,700,000	_	51%	Property development	
重慶盛懷房地產開發有限公司 Chongqing Shenghuai Real Estate Development Company Limited	31 October 2019	RMB19,530,500	_	100%	Property development	
重慶航悦置業有限公司 Chongqing Hangyue Real Estate Company Limited	31 October 2019	RMB190,000,000	-	100%	Property development	

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

## 45 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The following is a list of the particulars of principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2021: (Continued)

Name	Date of incorporation/	Nominal value of issued and fully paid share capital/ paid-in capital	Percentage of attributable equity interest		Principal activities	
			Directly	Indirectly		
遼寧恒陽健康置業有限公司 Liaoning Hengyang Health Property Co., Ltd.	15 June 2018	RMB40,820,000	-	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects	
新世界中國地產(海口)有限公司 New WORLD China LAND (Haikou) Limited	24 October 2005	RMB4,870,218,200	_	100%	Property development	
烏魯木齊恒隆置業有限公司 Urumqi Henglong Properties Co., Ltd.	4 February 2020	RMB10,000,000	_	100%	Development and sales of health and living projects	
內蒙古魯橋置業有限公司 Inner Mongolia Luqiao Real Estate Co. Ltd.	11 July 2011 ,	RMB200,000,000	_	100%	Property development	
房車寶集團有限公司 Fangchebao Group Co., Ltd	28 February 2020	RMB3,000,000,000	-	100%	Property agent	
瀋陽恒達房地產開發有限公司 Shenyang Hengda Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.	24 May 2019	RMB841,820,335	_	100%	Property development	
深永生活服務(江蘇)有限公司 Shenyong Life Service (Jiangsu) Co., Ltd.	14 May 2020	RMB20,000,000	-	100%	Development and sales of vehicle and living projects	

The names of certain of the companies referred to in these consolidated financial statements represent management's best effort in translation of the Chinese names of these companies as no English names have been registered or available.

#### **46 COMPARATIVE FIGURES**

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year's presentation.

## FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

## **CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, EQUITY AND LIABILITIES**

(as at 31 December)

	2017 RMB Million	2018 RMB Million	2019 RMB Million	2020 RMB Million	2021 RMB Million
A005T0					
ASSETS					
Non-current assets	238,805	304,277	359,763	396,225	213,275
Current assets	1,522,947	1,575,751	1,846,814	1,904,934	1,893,821
Total assets	1,761,752	1,880,028	2,206,577	2,301,159	2,107,096
Total equity/(deficiency in equity)	242,208	308,626	358,537	350,431	(473,054)
LIABILITIES					
Non-current liabilities	434,689	411,946	498,005	443,475	59,014
Current liabilities	1,084,855	1,159,456	1,350,035	1,507,253	2,521,136
Total liabilities	1,519,544	1,571,402	1,848,040	1,950,728	2,580,150
Total equity and liabilities	1,761,752	1,880,028	2,206,577	2,301,159	2,107,096

## FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

### CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(for the year ended 31 December)

	2017 RMB Million	2018 RMB Million	2019 RMB Million	2020 RMB Million (Restated)	2021 RMB Million
Revenue Cost of sales	311,022 (198,760)	466,196 (297,249)	477,561 (344,624)	507,248 383,744	250,013 (268,461)
Gross profit/(loss) Write-down of properties under development and completed properties	112,262	168,947	132,937	123,504	(18,448)
held for sale Fair value gains/(loss) on investment properties, net	– 8,513	1,343	- 1,516	(899)	(373,681)
Impairment losses on financial assets Other gains/(losses), net Other income Selling and marketing costs Administrative expenses	(70) (6,022) 5,547 (17,210) (12,176)	(137) 2,645 6,694 (18,086) (14,813)	(194) 1,729 6,997 (23,287) (19,811)	(288) (5,051) 10,253 (31,962) (21,064)	(50,376) (45,985) 2,286 (31,945) (16,527)
Impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity method Other operating expenses	_ (5,599)	_ (5,179)	_ (5,037)	— (6,059)	(8,097) (7,489)
Operating profit/(loss) Share of (losses)/gains of investments	85,245	141,414	94,850	69,712	(581,529)
accounted for using equity method Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value	1,402	(874)	2,967	(1,379)	(19,722)
through profit or loss Fair value losses on contingent	(437)	51	(1,863)	(31)	(1,936)
consideration payables Fair value (losses)/gains on derivative	_	_	_	_	(2,555)
financial liabilities Fair value losses on financial guarantee	(820)	797	981	2,183	-
contracts Finance costs, net	(7,917)	(14,623)	(22,763)	(2,240)	(51,530) (41,623)
Profit/(losses) before income tax Income tax (expenses)/credit	77,473 (40,424)	126,765 (60,218)	74,172 (40,630)	68,245 (36,845)	(698,895) 12,676
Profit/(losses) for the year Other comprehensive (loss)/income,	37,049	66,547	33,542	31,400	(686,219)
net of tax	3,861	155	(239)	(365)	(415)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year	40,910	66,702	33,303	31,035	(686,634)
Profit/(loss) attributable to: Shareholders of the Company Non-controlling interests	24,372 12,677	37,390 29,157	17,280 16,262	8,076 23,324	(476,035) (210,184)
Profit/(loss) for the year	37,049	66,547	33,542	31,400	(686,219)



15/F, YF Life Centre 38 Gloucester Road Wanchai Hong Kong

http://www.evergrande.com

